
Thursday, March 10, 2022 AGENDA Page 1 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE 
SPECIAL MEETING 

Thursday, March 10, 2022 
9:00 AM

Committee Members: 
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Kate Harrison and Lori Droste 

Alternate: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani 

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e) and the state declared emergency, this 
meeting of the City Council Budget & Finance Committee will be conducted exclusively through 
teleconference and Zoom videoconference. The COVID-19 state of emergency continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person and presents imminent risks 
to the health of attendees. Therefore, no physical meeting location will be available.   

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or 
Android device: Use URL - https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89216051955. If you do not wish for your 
name to appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename 
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 
892 1605 1955. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press 
*9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Budget & Finance Committee by 
5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the 
Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record.  

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89216051955


Thursday, March 10, 2022 AGENDA Page 2 

AGENDA 

Roll Call 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters 

Minutes for Approval
Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval. 

1. Minutes - February 24, 2022

Committee Action Items
The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. 

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council. 

2. Legislative Update: Governor's FY 22-23 Proposed Budget, Federal
Infrastructure Bill, Introduced Legislation
From: City Manager
Contact: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager, (510) 981-7000

3. Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime and Security Work
for Outside Entities
From: Auditor
Recommendation: We recommend City Council request that the City Manager
report back by September 29, 2022, and every six months thereafter, regarding the
status of our audit recommendations until reported fully implemented by the Berkeley
Police Department (BPD). They have agreed to our findings and recommendations.
Please see our report for their complete response.
Financial Implications: See report.
Contact: Jenny Wong, Auditor, (510) 981-6750

4. Measure P Overview and Fund Forecast
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

5. Five-Year Capital Improvement Program and Proposed Projects
From: City Manager
Contact: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager, (510) 981-7000

2



Unscheduled Items 

Thursday, March 10, 2022 AGENDA Page 3 

These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 

6. Proposal to Allocate Revenues Generated by the Transient Occupancy Tax in
the Waterfront Area to the Marina Fund to Avoid Insolvency, Rebuild its Fund
Balance and to Stabilize its Finances
From: Parks and Waterfront Commission
Referred: November 16, 2021
Due: May 10, 2022
Recommendation: That Council adopt a Resolution adopting a policy that all
Transient Occupancy Taxes (TOT hotel tax) generated at the Berkeley Waterfront be
allocated to the City’s Marina Enterprise Fund. All other property, sales, utility users,
and parking taxes; as well as business license and franchise fees, would continue to
be allocated to the City’s General Fund.
Policy Committee Recommendation: Send the item to Council with a negative
recommendation and additionally request a referral to the Budget & Finance Policy
Committee to discuss and develop alternative revenue streams for the Marina Fund
including a dedicated reserve.
On November 16, 2021, the City Council adopted the Policy Committee
recommendation and the item was referred back to the Budget & Finance
Committee.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Roger Miller, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-6700

3



Unscheduled Items 

Thursday, March 10, 2022 AGENDA Page 4 

7.  Budget Referral: Street Maintenance Funding to Prevent Further Deterioration 
of Pavement Condition to Save Tax Dollars and Our Streets 
From: Councilmember Kesarwani (Author), Councilmember Taplin (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Wengraf (Co-Sponsor), Councilmember Droste (Co-
Sponsor) 
Referred: February 8, 2022 
Due: June 28, 2022 
Recommendation: Refer to the FY 2022-23 budget process to establish a three-
year plan (FY 2022-23 through FY 2024-25) to fully fund an adequate street paving 
budget that prevents further deterioration of the City’s pavement condition. At the 
end of the three-year period, the fiscal plan should allocate a minimum total of $8 
million in additional ongoing annual General Fund—bringing the total street paving 
annual budget to at least $15.1 million—the minimum amount needed to maintain 
pavement condition, as identified by our Public Works Department.   
We recommend that the City slightly exceed the $8 million General Fund need by 
contributing $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 2022-23, an additional $3 million of 
ongoing funds in FY 2023-24, and a final addition of $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 
2024-25. This total of $9 million, in addition to the existing allocation of $7.3 million 
for annual street maintenance , will provide the City with about $1.2 million more than 
the minimum total of $15.1 million to account for inflation. 
A three-year plan is suggested to give the City time to gradually enhance street 
paving resources, and annual inflation adjustments are recommended in out-years in 
order to ensure that maintenance funds remain adequate over time as construction 
costs rise. A dollar of maintenance early in a street’s life-cycle saves $8 later in the 
street’s life-cycle due to avoided rehabilitation and/or reconstruction costs associated 
with failing streets, making this budget request an urgent matter of fiscal oversight.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Rashi Kesarwani, Councilmember, District 1, (510) 981-7110 

 
8.  Discussion and Development of Criteria and Timing for AAO Process 

From: Mayor Arreguin 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100 

 
9.  Review of Council's Fiscal Policies 

From: City Manager 
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000 

Items for Future Agendas 
• Discussion of items to be added to future agendas 

Adjournment

4



 

Thursday, March 10, 2022 AGENDA Page 5 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Written communications addressed to the Budget & Finance Committee and submitted to the City Clerk 
Department will be distributed to the Committee prior to the meeting. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953. 
Members of the City Council who are not members of the standing committee may attend a standing 
committee meeting even if it results in a quorum being present, provided that the non-members only act 
as observers and do not participate in the meeting. If only one member of the Council who is not a 
member of the committee is present for the meeting, the member may participate in the meeting because 
less than a quorum of the full Council is present. Any member of the public may attend this meeting.  
Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 981-6900. 
 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including 
auxiliary aids or services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 
(V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before the meeting date. 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Standing Committee of the Berkeley City Council 
was posted at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on March 3, 2022. 

 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info. 

5

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


6



Thursday, February 24, 2022 ANNOTATED AGENDA Page 1

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Thursday, February 24, 2022
10:00 AM

Committee Members: 
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Kate Harrison and Lori Droste

Alternate: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e) and the state declared emergency, this meeting 
of the City Council Budget & Finance Committee will be conducted exclusively through 
teleconference and Zoom videoconference. The COVID-19 state of emergency continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person and presents imminent risks to 
the health of attendees. Therefore, no physical meeting location will be available.  

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android 
device: Use URL - https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83865327729. If you do not wish for your name to 
appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to 
be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen.

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 838 
6532 7729. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 
and wait to be recognized by the Chair. 

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Budget & Finance Committee by 5:00 
p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the Committee 
in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record. 

Page 1 of 5

7

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83865327729
arichardson
Typewritten Text
01



Thursday, February 24, 2022 ANNOTATED AGENDA Page 2

AGENDA

Roll Call: 10:03 a.m.

Present: Kesarwani (alternate), Harrison, Arreguin

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters – 4 speakers

Minutes for Approval
Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval.

1. Minutes - February 10, 2022

Action: M/S/C (Arreguin/Harrison) to approve the minutes of February 10, 2022.
Vote: All Ayes.

Committee Action Items
The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

2. FY 23 & 24 Biennial Budget Development Calendar
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 3 speakers. Presentation made and discussion held. 

3. Homelessness Funding Priorities Discussion
From: City Manager
Contact: Paul Buddenhagen, City Manager's Office, (510) 981-7000

   Action: 4 speakers. Presentation made and discussion held. 

4. FY 22 Mid-Year and American Rescue Plan Act Update
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 2 speakers. Presentation made and discussion held. 

Page 2 of 5

8



Committee Action Items

Thursday, February 24, 2022 ANNOTATED AGENDA Page 3

5. General Fund Expenditures: Discussion on FY 23 & 24 Budget Assumptions on 
Personnel Costs, Including Salary Savings
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 5 speakers. Presentation made and discussion held. 

Mayor Arreguin absent at 11:50 a.m. 

Unscheduled Items

These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting. The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 

6. Proposal to Allocate Revenues Generated by the Transient Occupancy Tax in 
the Waterfront Area to the Marina Fund to Avoid Insolvency, Rebuild its Fund 
Balance and to Stabilize its Finances
From: Parks and Waterfront Commission
Referred: November 16, 2021
Due: May 10, 2022
Recommendation: That Council adopt a Resolution adopting a policy that all 
Transient Occupancy Taxes (TOT hotel tax) generated at the Berkeley Waterfront be 
allocated to the City’s Marina Enterprise Fund. All other property, sales, utility users, 
and parking taxes; as well as business license and franchise fees, would continue to 
be allocated to the City’s General Fund.
Policy Committee Recommendation: Send the item to Council with a negative 
recommendation and additionally request a referral to the Budget & Finance Policy 
Committee to discuss and develop alternative revenue streams for the Marina Fund 
including a dedicated reserve.
On November 16, 2021, the City Council adopted the Policy Committee 
recommendation and the item was referred back to the Budget & Finance 
Committee. 
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Roger Miller, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-6700

Page 3 of 5

9



Unscheduled Items

Thursday, February 24, 2022 ANNOTATED AGENDA Page 4

7. Budget Referral: Street Maintenance Funding to Prevent Further Deterioration 
of Pavement Condition to Save Tax Dollars and Our Streets
From: Councilmember Kesarwani (Author), Councilmember Taplin (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Wengraf (Co-Sponsor), Councilmember Droste (Co-
Sponsor)
Referred: February 8, 2022
Due: June 28, 2022
Recommendation: Refer to the FY 2022-23 budget process to establish a three-
year plan (FY 2022-23 through FY 2024-25) to fully fund an adequate street paving 
budget that prevents further deterioration of the City’s pavement condition. At the 
end of the three-year period, the fiscal plan should allocate a minimum total of $8 
million in additional ongoing annual General Fund—bringing the total street paving 
annual budget to at least $15.1 million—the minimum amount needed to maintain 
pavement condition, as identified by our Public Works Department.  
We recommend that the City slightly exceed the $8 million General Fund need by 
contributing $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 2022-23, an additional $3 million of 
ongoing funds in FY 2023-24, and a final addition of $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 
2024-25. This total of $9 million, in addition to the existing allocation of $7.3 million 
for annual street maintenance , will provide the City with about $1.2 million more than 
the minimum total of $15.1 million to account for inflation.
A three-year plan is suggested to give the City time to gradually enhance street 
paving resources, and annual inflation adjustments are recommended in out-years in 
order to ensure that maintenance funds remain adequate over time as construction 
costs rise. A dollar of maintenance early in a street’s life-cycle saves $8 later in the 
street’s life-cycle due to avoided rehabilitation and/or reconstruction costs associated 
with failing streets, making this budget request an urgent matter of fiscal oversight. 
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Rashi Kesarwani, Councilmember, District 1, (510) 981-7110

8. Legislative Update: Governor's FY 22-23 Proposed Budget, Federal 
Infrastructure Bill, Introduced Legislation
From: City Manager
Contact: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager, (510) 981-7000

9. Discussion and Development of Criteria and Timing for AAO Process
From: Mayor Arreguin
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

10. Review of Council's Fiscal Policies
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Items for Future Agendas
 Discussion of items to be added to future agendas

Page 4 of 5

10



Thursday, February 24, 2022 ANNOTATED AGENDA Page 5

Adjournment

Action: M/S/C (Kesarwani/Harrison) to adjourn the meeting. 
Vote: Ayes – Kesarwani, Harrison; Noes – None; Abstain – None; Absent – Arreguin. 

Adjourned at 12:12 p.m.

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct record of the Budget & Finance Committee 
meeting held on February 24, 2022. 

____________________________
  April Richardson, Assistant City Clerk

Communications
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info.

Page 5 of 5

11

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


12



No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx

Page 1 of 1

13

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx
arichardson
Typewritten Text
02



14



   

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-6750 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-6760 
E-mail: auditor@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/auditor 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

MARCH 22, 2022            

  

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Jenny Wong, City Auditor      

Subject: Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime and Security Work for 

Outside Entities 

RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend City Council request that the City Manager report back by September 29, 2022, 

and every six months thereafter, regarding the status of our audit recommendations until 

reported fully implemented by the Berkeley Police Department (BPD). They have agreed to our 
findings and recommendations. Please see our report for their complete response.   

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 

Implementing the recommendations will ensure overtime worked by BPD officers is appropriate, 

saving BPD and the City costs related to unnecessary overtime. Implementation will also ensure 

the City is appropriately reimbursed for police services to outside entities.  

 

If BPD and City do not implement recommended measures, overtime expenditures may 

continue to exceed BPD’s budgeted amount in the following years. Without the ability to track 

revenues and expenses of work for outside entities, BPD risks continually underbilling for their 

services and not recovering the full costs of officer overtime. BPD and the City may also 

encounter liability costs if BPD continues to provide services to outside entities without 

contracts that include indemnity agreements.  

 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 

BPD relies on overtime to achieve their sworn staffing levels. In Fiscal Year (FY) 2020, nearly a 

quarter or $1.3 million of BPD’s sworn overtime costs went toward backfilling for officer 

vacancies and absences.  

BPD lacks a process to regularly assess the efficacy of minimum staffing levels, and cannot 

ensure that minimum staffing reflects the current needs of BPD and the community. BPD’s 

minimum staffing levels could cause unnecessary overtime if not regularly updated.  

BPD does not adhere to their overtime controls. In FY 2020, 21 percent of sworn officers 

exceeded BPD’s overtime limit at least once.  Without adequate enforcement and tools to 

manage overtime, BPD cannot mitigate risks of officer fatigue. 

BPD’s overtime security work for outside entities more than tripled in FY 2020. There are no 

procedures or contracts for this work, and it is unclear if BPD charges outside entities 

Page 1 of 54

15

arichardson
Typewritten Text
03



   
Berkeley Police Department: Improvements Needed  MARCH 22, 2022 
to Manage Overtime and Security Work for Outside Entities  

 

appropriately. Without policies and documentation, BPD cannot ensure transparent and 

equitable services. 

BACKGROUND 

BPD’s budget has increased significantly in the past several decades.  BPD surpassed the 

budgeted amount four out of the last five years, with overtime being the primary cause of 

overspending. Though some amount of overtime is required, overreliance on overtime can 

increase fatigue and burnout, decrease productivity, and increase mistakes. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 

Our office manages and stores audit workpapers and other documents electronically to 

significantly reduce our use of paper and ink. Our audit recommendation for BPD to use modern 

staffing software could also reduce the use of paper and ink. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 

Implementing our recommendations will improve BPD’s management of overtime and mitigate 

risks associated with excessive overtime and officer fatigue. The recommendations will also 

ensure BPD’s staffing levels are transparent, appropriate, and responsive to the current needs of 

the community. Additionally, the recommendation ensures BPD’s work for outside entities is 

equitable and transparent, and in full compliance with relevant laws and policies. 

 
CONTACT PERSON 

Jenny Wong, City Auditor, City Auditor’s Office, 510-981-6750 

 

Attachments:  

1: Audit Report: Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime and Security Work 

for Outside Entities  

 

 

Page 2 of 54

16



 

 

 

Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government 

Audit Report 

March 3, 2022 

Berkeley Police: 

Improvements 

Needed to Manage 

Overtime and 

Security Work for 

Outside Entities 

 

Jenny Wong, City Auditor 

Erin Mullin, Senior Auditor 

Alejandra Barrio Gorski, Auditor I 

Page 3 of 54

17



 

 
Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government 

Report Highlights 

For the full report, visit: 

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/auditor 

Findings 

Berkeley Police Department Top 10 Overtime Expenditures, 
FY 2020 

Source: BPD Payroll Data 

March 3, 2022 

Objectives 

 What policing functions does 

BPD’s use of overtime cover? 

 Does BPD regularly assess 

minimum staffing levels to meet 

community needs? 

 Is BPD’s management of overtime 

sufficient to reduce excessive uses 

of overtime?  

 Are BPD’s agreements to provide 

work for outside entities 

transparent and in accordance 

with the law?   

Why This Audit Is Important 

BPD exceeded its General Fund 

budget four out of the last five years. 

In FY 2020, BPD surpassed its $71.0 

million allocation by $4.8 million. 

Overtime is the primary cause of 

BPD’s overspending, and this report 

seeks to understand why BPD’s 

overtime spending has increased in 

recent years. Some overtime is 

required for various reasons. It is 

often more cost-effective than hiring 

staff and allows employees to meet 

fluctuating workloads.  However, 

overreliance on overtime can increase 

fatigue and burnout, decrease 

productivity, and increase mistakes.  

2.  BPD lacks a process to regularly assess the efficacy of minimum 

staffing levels, and cannot ensure that minimum staffing reflects 

the current needs of BPD and the community. BPD’s minimum 

staffing levels could cause unnecessary overtime if not regularly 

updated.  

1.  Berkeley Police Department (BPD) relies on overtime to achieve 

their sworn staffing levels. In Fiscal Year (FY) 2020, nearly a 

quarter or $1.3 million of BPD’s sworn overtime costs went 

toward backfilling for officer vacancies and absences. 

Page 4 of 54

18

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/auditor


 

 
Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government 

Report Highlights 

For the full report, visit: 

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/auditor 

BPD Officers Exceed BPD’s Overtime Limit of 44 Hours in a 
Week in FY 2020 

 
Source: BPD Payroll Data 

3.  BPD does not adhere to their overtime controls. In FY 2020, 21 

percent of sworn officers exceeded BPD’s overtime limit at least 

once.  Without adequate enforcement and tools to manage 

overtime, BPD cannot mitigate risks of officer fatigue.  

Recommendations 

We recommend that BPD publicly 

document minimum staffing levels 

and establish procedures to regularly 

assess their efficacy. BPD should also 

evaluate and update overtime policies, 

and monitor overtime and 

compensatory time using staffing 

software.  

We also recommend that BPD update 

policies and procedures, create 

contracts, and increase transparency 

on work for outside entities. BPD 

should also regularly evaluate their 

billing and explore ways to track 

revenues and expenses. 

This audit does not propose 

recommendations regarding BPD’s 

staffing levels or service delivery 

model.  

Photo source: Berkeley Police 
Department 

4.  BPD’s overtime security work for outside entities more than 

tripled in FY 2020. There are no procedures or contracts for this 

work, and it is unclear if BPD charges outside entities 

appropriately. Without policies and documentation, BPD cannot 

ensure transparent and equitable services. 

Page 5 of 54

19

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/auditor


 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 4  

Table of Contents 

Page 4  Introduction 

Page 5  Background 

Page 11  Overtime is used to maintain minimum patrol staffing set by BPD.  

Page 18  Minimum staffing levels in BPD’s Patrol Unit could cause unnecessary 

  overtime if not regularly updated.   

Page 22  Officers work excessive overtime, increasing health and safety risks.   

Page 28  BPD has no contracts for overtime security with outside entities.   

Page 38  Recommendations and Management Response 

Page 43 Methodology and Statement of Compliance 

Page 45 Appendix I. BPD Funding Streams 

Page 47 Appendix II. Reasons for Overtime: Hours and Expenditures 

Page 49 Appendix III. Extraordinary Duty Form 

Page 51 Appendix IV. Sample BPD Patrol Timesheet 

Introduction 

In our 2021 Audit Plan, we identified the Berkeley Police Department (BPD) budget as an area needing 

objective and independent analysis of how limited City funds are allocated. In April 2020, our office 

produced a special report examining the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Berkeley’s finances. We 

found that the City may need to reduce expenditures to focus on essential activities that prioritize public 

health and safety, as well as community values.1 BPD’s overtime expenditures have increased in recent 

years, and this report seeks to understand why. Some amount of overtime is required due to vacancies, 

emergencies, special events, staffing shortages, workload fluctuations, etc. It is often more cost-effective 

than hiring additional staff and allows employees to meet fluctuating workloads.  However, overreliance on 

overtime can increase fatigue and burnout, decrease productivity, and increase mistakes.  

In December 2020, the City entered into a contract with outside consultants to research, analyze, and make 

recommendations in regards to BPD’s policing model including the size and scope of operations. It is 

important to have a staffing model that aligns with the needs of the community. To avoid duplication of 

work outlined in the City’s reimagining public safety process, this report does not assess the adequacy of 

BPD’s staffing levels or service delivery model. There are ongoing discussions in the City about appropriate 

staffing levels and what functions BPD should undertake. 

1 Navigating the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Berkeley’s Finances: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/
uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Navigating%20Impact%20of%20COVID-19%20Pandemic%20on%
20Berkeley%E2%80%99s%20Finances%20rpt.pdf 

Page 6 of 54

20

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Navigating%20Impact%20of%20COVID-19%20Pandemic%20on%20Berkeley%E2%80%99s%20Finances%20rpt.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Navigating%20Impact%20of%20COVID-19%20Pandemic%20on%20Berkeley%E2%80%99s%20Finances%20rpt.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Navigating%20Impact%20of%20COVID-19%20Pandemic%20on%20Berkeley%E2%80%99s%20Finances%20rpt.pdf


 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 5  

Objectives, Scope, and Methodology 

Our objectives were to determine:  

 What policing functions does BPD’s use of overtime cover? 

 Does BPD regularly assess minimum staffing levels to meet community needs? 

 Is BPD’s management of overtime sufficient to reduce excessive uses of overtime?  

 Are BPD’s agreements to provide work for outside entities transparent and in accordance with 

the law?   

We examined BPD spending on overtime for fiscal years (FY) 2019 and 2020. We focused on this scope 

period due to its timeliness and relevance, bearing in mind that 2020 data may reflect the impacts of the 

COVID-19 pandemic. We assessed historic funding levels going as far back as FY 1970 when data was 

available. We specifically assessed internal controls significant to the audit objectives. This included a 

review of selected policies and procedures, interviews with staff from BPD, and source documents for 

payroll data. In performing our work, we identified concerns about the department’s manual process for 

tracking officer schedules and hours worked to enforce overtime limits and manage staffing.  For more 

information, see p. 43. 

Background 

BPD’s budget is the largest portion of the City’s General Fund. 

BPD receives more General Fund money than any other department in the City. The Fire Department is the 

department with the second highest allocation of General Fund monies.2 In FY 2020, BPD’s allocation of 

General Fund monies accounted for 36 percent ($70.6 million) of the City’s $196.9 million General Fund 

budget.  The percentage of the General Fund allocated to BPD increased from 21 percent in 1970 to 36 

percent in 2020, with one notable dip to 10 percent in 1980. In the context of Berkeley’s total government 

expenditures, police spending has remained at a relatively constant level. BPD accounted for 14 percent of 

government expenditures in FY 2020 which is only a one percent decrease since 1970. Figure 1 only reflects 

the share of General Fund spending on police services and does not show how staffing and police operations 

have changed over time.  

2 City of Berkeley, FY 2020-2021 Biennial Budget: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Manager/Budget/
FY-2020-2021-Adopted-Budget-Book.pdf  

Page 7 of 54

21

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Manager/Budget/FY-2020-2021-Adopted-Budget-Book.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Manager/Budget/FY-2020-2021-Adopted-Budget-Book.pdf


 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 6  

Figure 1. BPD Received 36 Percent of the City’s General Fund Budget in FY 2020  

Source: FY 1970, 1980, 1990, 2000, 2010, and 2020 Adopted City Budgets 

Most of BPD’s budget comes from the City’s General Fund.  

Ninety three percent of BPD’s budget is paid for by the General Fund. Between 2015 and 2020, BPD’s 

funding streams were the General Fund, Parking Fund, Asset Forfeiture Fund, Federal Grants, and State/

County Grants. Appendix I provides further information about each fund.  

Figure 2. The General Fund Makes Up 93 Percent of the BPD Budget, FY 2020 

 
Source: FY 2020 Revised Budget Data 

Page 8 of 54

22



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 7  

BPD’s budget has increased over time.  

Since 1970, the BPD budget has grown significantly each decade, from $21.86 million in 1970 (adjusted to 

2020 purchasing power) to $74.98 million in 2020. Personnel costs have accounted for the most significant 

portion of these budgets. Over the years, personnel costs have increased alongside BPD’s overall budget, but 

the portion of the budget that personnel costs account for has remained consistent at around 89 percent.  

In contrast, since 1970, the number of BPD personnel has increased slightly by five percent, coinciding with 

a five percent increase in the City’s population during this period. Meanwhile, the average cost per employee 

has increased drastically: in 1970, 272 BPD personnel (sworn and non-sworn) cost the city $19.45 million 

(adjusted to 2020 purchasing power) in wages and benefits, and by 2020, 285.2 employees in the same 

department cost the City $67 million. On average, the cost of one BPD employee in 2020 was over three 

times that of one BPD employee in 1970.   

Increases in fringe benefit rates contribute to the spike in personnel costs. We analyzed the overall cost of 

benefits, but did not look at the actual benefits personnel received.  The cost of benefits for sworn police has 

increased significantly over the last five years, and police have the highest fringe benefit rate across the city. 

Between 2016 and 2020, the fringe benefit rate for sworn police increased 15.92 percent due mostly to an 

increase in the employer’s CalPERS rate. Fire had the next highest rate of 88.28 percent in FY 2020 which 

was 17 percent lower than Police. With a fringe benefit rate at 105.6 percent of an officer’s salary, it is always 

cheaper to have an officer work overtime rather than hire a new officer. However, it can be more expensive 

to have a higher ranked sergeant or lieutenant work overtime in place of hiring a new officer.  

Figure 3. Officer Fringe Benefit Rates Exceed 100 Percent of Salary 

Note: These rates are estimates. Non-sworn fringe benefits rates include benefited city employees that are neither a 
sworn officer nor a firefighter. The type of non-sworn work of an individual position (office, field, laborer) determines 
the total benefit rate.  

Source: City of Berkeley compensation matrices 

Page 9 of 54

23



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 8  

Patrol has received the greatest portion of funding.  

BPD has four divisions that report to the Chief of Police: Operations, Professional Standards, Support 

Services, and Investigations. The greatest share of BPD’s funding has historically gone toward the 

Operations Division, which manages the department’s Patrol Unit. Patrol is a core function of BPD, with 

24/7 operations responding to emergency and non-emergency calls for service, conducting criminal 

investigations, and providing additional policing services.   

Figure 4 shows personnel expenditures from BPD’s General Fund, by divisions and subdivisions. In FY 

2020, BPD’s Patrol Unit accounted for $41.1 million, or 60 percent of personnel costs within the 

department’s General Fund budget.    

Figure 4. Patrol Operations Utilized 60 Percent of Personnel Costs from the Department’s  
FY 2020 General Fund Budget, in Millions of Dollars 

Source: FY 2020 Adopted City Budget 
 

BPD has exceeded its General Fund budget four out of the last five years.  

BPD has spent more from the General Fund than budgeted. BPD was half a million dollars over budget in 

FY 2016, and by FY 2020 the overage was nearing five million dollars. In FY 2020, BPD spent $75.8 million 

of General Fund monies or approximately $4.8 million more than the budgeted amount. According to the 

City Budget Office, General Fund savings from other departments are used to cover BPD overages after BPD 

has exhausted savings within their department.  

Page 10 of 54

24



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 9  

Figure 5. BPD Spent More General Funds than Budgeted Four Out of Five Years,  
FY 2016-2020 in Millions of Dollars 

Source: BPD presentation to the Budget and Finance Committee on October 22, 2020 

Overtime is the primary cause of BPD overspending, with increased costs each 

year.  

The Operations Division, which contains the Patrol Unit, is BPD’s largest division and the biggest user of 

overtime. Policing is unpredictable and some overtime work is necessary and unavoidable. Officers may 

need to complete arrests at the end of their shifts, fill in to cover absences, or assist in safely facilitating 

public events. Police work also inevitably generates off-duty court appearances, trainings, and work on 

holidays. Some level of overtime can be viewed as a fixed cost of normal policing and will occur regardless of 

the number of officers employed. Knowing where, when, and why overtime was used is necessary if BPD is 

to anticipate overtime, to justify its payment, and to find ways to reduce the need for overtime expenditures.  

BPD’s spending on overtime has consistently exceeded the $2.25 million that the City has budgeted annually 

over the past ten years.  Although BPD exceeded other budget line items in FY 2020, overtime was the 

biggest reason for the department overages. BPD increased overtime expenditures for public safety power 

shutoffs, COVID-19, protests, and work for outside entities from FY 2019 to 2020, contributing to an overall 

increase in overtime expenditures by nearly $1.2 million (see Appendix II for more detail). According to the 

Budget Office, the City is committed to providing a police overtime budget that aligns with actual overtime 

expenditures going forward.  In FY 2021, the City increased BPD’s overtime budget to $5.3 million with an 

additional $1 million in reserves.  

Page 11 of 54

25



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 10  

The budget and expenditure data do not show the details of how overtime is paid. Some overtime is paid for 

by salary savings associated with department vacancies and other overtime is reimbursed from outside 

entities. However, reimbursements from outside entities are not credited back to the department, and we 

are unable to determine the reimbursed amounts under BPD’s current accounting structure (see page 33).  

Figure 6 offers a simple snapshot of overtime spending, and does not incorporate other ways in which BPD 

and the City recover the costs of overtime.  

Figure 6. The Cost of Overtime Has Increased, While the Budgeted Funding Has Remained 
Insufficient, FY 2016-2020 in Millions of Dollars 

Note: Includes sworn and non-sworn personnel. 

Source: BPD presentation to the Budget and Finance Committee on October 22, 2020 

The majority of overtime activities are paid for using BPD’s General Fund budget. In FY 2020, 81 percent of 

overtime activities were budgeted from BPD’s General Fund. The remaining 19 percent of overtime activities 

were budgeted from Grants and the Parking Meter Funds. 

Page 12 of 54

26



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 11  

Overtime is used to maintain minimum 

patrol staffing set by BPD.  
BPD relies on overtime to achieve the sworn staffing levels set by the 

department for regular duty operations. In FY 2020, overtime costs for 

sworn officers exceeded $5 million or 75 percent of the department’s total 

overtime expenditures.  Overtime has a variety of beneficial uses, but a large 

part of overtime at BPD is simply backfilling officer vacancies and absences. 

While it is generally less expensive to use overtime to fill shift vacancies 

than it is to hire more staff, BPD relies on backfill in patrol often. In FY 

2020, 45 percent of sworn officer’s overtime hours in BPD were used to 

maintain regular duty operations and nearly half of those overtime hours 

were due to staffing vacancies and absences (Figure 8).  Sworn officer 

vacancies contribute to BPD’s reliance on overtime, and more work is 

needed to understand the full impact. Additionally, BPD does not 

adequately monitor compensatory time to ensure it does not increase the 

need for overtime.  

Backfilling for officer vacancies and absences was the 

most common reason for overtime.  

In FY 2020, backfilling for officer vacancies and absences was the most 

common and costly reason for overtime, accounting for 21 percent of sworn 

officer’s overtime hours and costing nearly $1.3 million, or 24 percent of the 

BPD’s total overtime costs (Figure 8). Backfilling is the practice of filling a 

position to maintain staffing levels after a sworn officer goes on a leave of 

absence or vacates the position. Sworn officers are most frequently used to 

backfill to meet minimum staffing levels in the Patrol Unit. 

Minimum staffing levels are the lowest number of sworn officers 

determined by the department that can be deployed while still providing 

satisfactory levels of service and protection to the public. For BPD, patrol 

minimum staffing is based on the number of sworn officers needed to cover 

the City’s 16 beats at any given time of day.  

 

 

 

According to Policy 
1019, BPD overtime 
compensation is 
available to Officers, 

Sergeants, and Lieutenants, 
and overtime work should 
ideally have prior approval by a 
supervisor and be documented 

with an overtime form.  

The overtime form should be 
reviewed and approved by the 
Supervisor and Division Captain 
before going to the Payroll 
Clerk. Actual hours worked 
should be recorded on a 

timesheet.  

Overtime is defined as time 
worked by an employee in 
excess of 40 hours per week. 
All overtime is awarded at time 
and a half unless specifically 
stated otherwise. An employee 
may request compensatory time 
off in lieu of receiving overtime 
payment (see extraordinary 

duty form in Appendix III). 3, 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 Policy 1019: Overtime Compensation Requests, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/
uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/1019%
20Overtime_Compensation_Requests.pdf  

4 See Section 19: Overtime/Shift Extension in Berkeley Police Association MOU: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Human_Resources/Home/
Union_Negotiations/Signed%20BPA%20MOU%20-%20Final%2008262021.pdf  

Page 13 of 54

27

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/1019%20Overtime_Compensation_Requests.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/1019%20Overtime_Compensation_Requests.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/1019%20Overtime_Compensation_Requests.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Human_Resources/Home/Union_Negotiations/Signed%20BPA%20MOU%20-%20Final%2008262021.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Human_Resources/Home/Union_Negotiations/Signed%20BPA%20MOU%20-%20Final%2008262021.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 12  

According to BPD command staff, patrol maintains a minimum of 60 sworn 

officers, broken into seven teams with minimums of eight or nine officers 

based on their beat and shift allocations (Figure 7). Teams are staffed with 

additional officers above the minimum level to absorb absences. It is unclear if 

this staffing level in patrol is appropriate, as we discuss further on page 18.  

Figure 7. BPD Patrol Unit maintains a minimum staffing level of 60 
sworn officers, split into 7 teams to cover 16 beats at all times of the 
day  

 
Note: Each team has a minimum of two supervising sergeants. There are four 
lieutenants, each overseeing two patrol teams. Teams with a minimum of 8 officers 
cover one beat per officer, while teams with minimums of 9 officers cover two beats 
per officer, with an additional swing officer when they are the only working team. 
Swing officers patrol the entire city or fill for absent officers. 

Source: Berkeley Police Department 

When teams lack sufficient staff to meet their minimums, command staff call 

in off-duty sworn officers to work overtime and backfill the absences. 

Persistent backfilling indicates a chronic shortage of personnel in relation to 

the minimum staffing requirements. We did not determine whether BPD has 

appropriate minimum staffing or budgeted staffing levels; we only examined 

the process they use to determine minimum staffing in the next finding 

section.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 14 of 54

28



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 13  

Figure 8. Nearly 25 Percent of All Sworn Officer Overtime Was Used Filling Vacancies and 
Absences, FY 2020          

 

Note: Compensatory time does not have associated personnel costs because the payroll system does not count earned 
compensatory time as a charge to the City. The miscellaneous category includes hours that did not have a project code 
assigned due to the individual being a police recruit, an administrative lag, or human error. See Appendix II for a 
comparison of FY 2019 and FY 2020. 

Source: BPD Payroll Data 

Page 15 of 54

29



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 14  

Vacancies contribute to BPD’s reliance on overtime.  

BPD’s minimum staffing levels are untenable without overtime to backfill 

vacancies and absences. BPD has experienced sustained vacancies in sworn 

staffing positions, fluctuating from only nine at the end of FY 2015 to a high of 

27 at the end of FY 2018 (Figure 9). According to BPD, patrol teams often do 

not meet the minimum staffing on a day-to-day basis without overtime due to 

vacancies and absences related to anticipated leave (e.g., vacation or family 

leave) or unanticipated leave (e.g., injury, training, sick leave). We found that 

in FY 2020, sworn officers applied overtime to backfill absences for 353 days, 

or 97 percent, of the entire year.   

Figure 9. Sworn Officer Positions Across BPD’s Divisions Have 
Continuously Been Underfilled Since 2015 

Note: This chart is based on year end actuals. We did not do an analysis of sworn 
vacancies prior to 2015 to see if this is a normal trend or a 5-year anomaly.  

Source: Employment and vacancy data from the Berkeley Human Resources 
Department 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16 of 54

30



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 15  

According to BPD, the list of full-time patrol officers in the Patrol Unit’s 

timesheets have declined since 2016, when BPD updated current patrol 

minimum staffing levels (see Appendix IV for a sample timesheet). The 

number of patrol officers listed on timesheets has approached the minimum 

of 60 staff; for instance, in the timesheet spanning September 2021 to March 

2022, six out of seven patrol teams had just one officer above the minimum.  

In October 2021, BPD reported that their sworn staffing levels fluctuate at or 

just below 157 filled sworn positions after the City deferred 23 sworn positions 

in BPD as a cost saving measure in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. As of 

this writing, the City continues to hold those sworn positions vacant.  

It is important to note that the number of filled positions is not the same as 

the number of officers available to work. For example, new hires, although 

counted as a filled position, are not available for solo officer duties for nearly a 

year. Of the 157 sworn positions filled, seven of those positions are being held 

by individuals in academy bringing the number of fully-fledged officers down 

to 150. It is also not uncommon to have officers out on leave due to illness, 

injury, family leave, or military leave.   

According to BPD, staffing shortages impact all police operations. In response 

to sustained sworn vacancies in 2020, BPD suspended the Special 

Investigations Bureau and bike patrol assignments, and reduced the number 

of Traffic enforcement officers. Absences impact other divisions, as off-duty 

sworn officers in other BPD divisions conduct overtime patrol when not 

enough off-duty patrol officers are available. Additionally, BPD has instituted 

mandatory overtime during periods in which not enough staff volunteer for 

overtime. All of these factors, among others, contribute to burnout and staff 

turnover, which reinforces BPD’s use of overtime to backfill vacancies.  

Staffing is only slated to decline, as there are 15 current sworn employees 

eligible to retire during the writing of this audit. 

More work can be done to better understand how recruitment and retention 

of sworn officers impact overtime. There are other facets of staffing that 

deserve further attention to understand BPD’s reliance on overtime, including 

the overall budgeted staffing positions, staff workload, the deployment of 

officers, and the use of leaves of absence.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17 of 54

31



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 16  

Compensatory time may decrease policing capacity and 

increase costs 

When BPD officers work overtime, generally they can choose to either be paid 

for the overtime hours or they can earn additional paid time off 

(compensatory time) to be used at a later date. According to BPD, officers 

cannot earn compensatory for overtime that is reimbursable (i.e., work for 

outside entities and grants). In FY 2020, sworn officers accumulated a total of 

8,319 hours of compensatory time, which accounts for approximately 831 10-

hour shifts, or a full year of work (2080 hours) for 4 full time employees. 

When an officer elects to receive compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay, 

that may decrease the policing resources available because every hour worked 

must be repaid by the department at time and a half—time taken away from 

other activities. Compensatory time comes out of existing capacity. In 

addition, earned compensatory time may imply additional costs to staffing 

because it is associated with an officer’s absence in the future that may need to 

be filled with overtime. Because earned compensatory time does not come out 

of existing budgetary allocations, BPD does not monitor its use as 

systematically as they do paid overtime.  

Compensatory time is not costless, and has the potential to cause a chain 

reaction of more backfill and more compensatory time. For example, if a 

patrol officer works 10 hours of overtime, they could choose to earn 15 hours 

of compensatory time for that work, or they could choose to be compensated 

for their overtime work at time-and-a-half pay. When that officer takes those 

15 hours of compensatory leave, another officer must work overtime to fill the 

vacancy.  The officer might backfill in exchange for 22.5 hours of 

compensatory time. That 22.5 hours of leave might then be backfilled for 

33.75 hours, and so on. Additionally, unused compensatory time is paid out 

when an officer leaves the City. BPD does have a policy limiting sworn officers’ 

accumulation of compensatory time to 120 hours, which should limit the 

amount of unfunded liability that comes with accumulated compensatory time 

and the potential chain reaction of backfilling and compensatory time. Our 

audit did not determine whether this policy is being enforced.  

Staffing analytics tools and processes can factor in the costs of compensatory 

time, including projected salary increases and the impacts of compensatory 

time on future staffing. Monitoring compensatory time usage would allow 

supervisors to see if backfill increases over time.  

  
 

 

According to the Berkeley Police 
Association Memorandum of 
Understanding, compensatory 
time off may be earned in lieu of 
overtime pay at the rate of one 
and one-half hours for each 
hour worked beyond 40 hours. 
Officers can accumulate up to a 
maximum of 120 compensatory 
hours. Upon termination of 
employment, the City must pay 
out the full amount of 
compensation for accumulated 
but unused compensatory time. 
Whether compensatory time is 
earned or overtime is paid is up 
to the discretion of the Police 
Chief. (BPA MOU sections 19.4 
and 19.1.1.2) 
 

Page 18 of 54

32



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 17  

Recommendations 

To manage costs associated with compensatory time and the impact of 

vacancies on overtime, we recommend Berkeley Police Department: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.1  Collect and monitor data on how often compensatory time leads to 

additional backfill overtime and develop a plan to monitor it.   

1.2  Fill vacancies deemed necessary and/or reallocate staff pending 

the reimagining process and a determination of appropriate 

staffing levels.  

Page 19 of 54

33



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 18  

Minimum staffing levels in BPD’s Patrol 

Unit could cause unnecessary overtime 

if not regularly updated. 

In 2016, BPD updated minimum staffing levels in the Patrol Unit to meet 

service demands and ensure officer safety; however, it is difficult to know 

whether these levels continue to reflect the City and the department’s needs. 

Additionally, patrol minimum staffing levels are based on what BPD is 

responsible for responding to, which is subject to the reimagining process.  

BPD does not have a process to regularly assess the efficacy of minimum 

staffing levels in their Patrol Unit. Without regularly reassessing minimum 

staffing levels, BPD cannot ensure that staffing reflects the changing nature 

of the department and community needs and expectations.  

It is unclear whether minimum staffing reflects the current 

needs of the City and BPD.  

Minimum staffing levels can be informed by a variety of factors. The Patrol 

Unit’s minimum staffing is informed by a study of police beats by Matrix 

Consulting Group that was commissioned by the City in 2014.5 The study 

considered factors including community and town hall meetings, 

population, geography, officer workload, calls for service, response time 

(including proactive patrol time), and industry standards/best practices. As 

a result of the study, BPD transitioned to the current 16-beat structure in 

2016 and assigned minimum staffing accordingly (Figure 7).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Police Patrol Beat Evaluation Study, City Of Berkeley, Final Report: https://
www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/Berkeley%
20Beat%20Structure%20Final%20Report%208-20-14(1).pdf    

Page 20 of 54

34

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/Berkeley%20Beat%20Structure%20Final%20Report%208-20-14(1).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/Berkeley%20Beat%20Structure%20Final%20Report%208-20-14(1).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Police/Level_3_-_General/Berkeley%20Beat%20Structure%20Final%20Report%208-20-14(1).pdf


 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 19  

In recent years, BPD officers have encountered situations requiring increased 

collaboration across City departments, such as homelessness and mental 

health. BPD has taken measures to adapt to these needs, whether by 

revamping the Bike Unit, collaborating with Berkeley Mental Health, or 

fielding homeless-related inquiries through the Community Services Bureau. 

Following a request from City Council as part of the reimagining process, we 

initiated an audit of calls for service and proposed recommendations on how 

BPD can better track calls for service related to mental health and 

homelessness.6 The City is currently working with the Reimagining Public 

Safety Task Force and consultants to identify areas of police work that can be 

achieved through alternative approaches. 

As of the writing of this report, BPD’s Patrol Unit continues to adhere to the 

same staffing model from 2016, and minimum staffing remains unchanged. 

Currently, it is difficult to know whether the Patrol Unit’s staffing model 

aligns with the evolving needs of the community and the department’s 

adaptation. Without a regular assessment of their staffing levels, BPD cannot 

determine the extent to which operational changes exceed their staffing 

capacity. Given limited capacity and a lack of staffing software in the 

Department, it is difficult for BPD to quantify the extent to which patrol teams 

struggle to meet minimum staffing. More work can be done to quantify how 

often BPD falls below minimum staffing.  

BPD does not regularly assess the efficacy of their 

minimum staffing model. 

While minimum staffing is intended to meet the needs of the community, it 

should not stretch officers too thin nor lead to an excessive number of officers 

on duty. According to a best practice review by San Francisco’s Budget and 

Legislative Analyst Office, effective minimum staffing is grounded in an up-to-

date assessment of community needs and staffing levels which often evolve 

over time.7 It is important that departments regularly assess that their model 

is dynamic, appropriately addresses community needs, and accounts for 

staffing realities.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6  Data Analysis of the City of Berkeley’s Police Response: https://
www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Data%
20Analysis%20of%20the%20City%20of%20Berkeley's%20Police%20Response.pdf 

7  Best Practices Related to Police Staffing and Funding Levels: https://sfbos.org/sites/
default/files/FileCenter/Documents/54867-012616%20Police%20Staffing%
20Methodology.pdf  

Page 21 of 54

35

https://sfbos.org/sites/default/files/FileCenter/Documents/54867-012616%20Police%20Staffing%20Methodology.pdf
https://sfbos.org/sites/default/files/FileCenter/Documents/54867-012616%20Police%20Staffing%20Methodology.pdf
https://sfbos.org/sites/default/files/FileCenter/Documents/54867-012616%20Police%20Staffing%20Methodology.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 20  

According to BPD, command staff routinely assess staff capacity in order to 

meet patrol minimum staffing levels. However, BPD does not regularly assess 

the Patrol Unit’s staffing model in response to changing community needs. 

While minimum staffing is an important determinant of overtime, the patrol 

minimum staffing levels are not documented by BPD. There is no explicit 

reference to minimum staffing in BPD’s list of policies, nor are they stated in 

BPD’s publicly accessible list of patrol beats and officers. While an appendix 

in BPA’s 2017-2020 MOU refers to minimum staffing, the document refers to 

BPD’s outdated 18 beat structure.   

It is unclear whether the Patrol Unit’s minimum staffing is sufficient, and BPD 

does not use a standard to quantify or regularly assess the adequacy of 

staffing. Command staff rely on informal precedent, professional judgement, 

and feedback from officers to determine if staffing levels are adequate. 

According to BPD, command staff especially consider safety and officer 

engagement as factors for considering staffing adequacy.  

In their 2021 annual crime report, BPD reported that low staffing has 

impacted the Patrol Unit’s ability to proactively address and solve problems in 

the community. BPD identifies four main metrics to consider when 

determining patrol staffing and allocation: service levels, staffing levels, 

response time, and patrol time. These metrics are related and when one is 

impacted there are likely impacts to others. According to BPD, when they are 

fully staffed they are able to provide full service, reliable response times, 

proactive preventative patrol presence, and community engagement. 

An effective staffing model includes regular assessments that are built into the 

department’s internal operations. Using staffing software, BPD can draw 

insights from small, regular reports rather than extensive staffing assessments 

conducted by a third party. Codifying this process into a procedure or policy 

helps the department proactively respond to staffing needs and promotes 

transparency. Additionally, internal reports can serve as tools to communicate 

the department’s capacity to decisionmakers and the public, align 

expectations with the community, and promote knowledge transfer between 

command staff and leadership.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22 of 54

36



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 21  

Recommendations 

To ensure staffing levels are transparent, appropriate, and can be adapted to 

the current needs of the community, we recommend Berkeley Police 

Department (BPD): 

To increase transparency to decision makers and the public, we recommend 

Berkeley Police Department:  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.1  Establish a procedure to regularly assess minimum staffing and 

overall staffing needs of the department. This process should 

document and incorporate criteria to assess staffing levels, such as 

calls for service, other workload, community input, and other 

relevant factors. As BPD prepares for the rollout of a new software 

system, BPD should consider how to best align the program’s 

capabilities with this assessment process.  

2.2  Document and define the Patrol Unit’s minimum staffing levels in 

a publicly assessible format.  

2.3  Document the results of staffing assessments along with the 

assessment criteria. Incorporate results into staffing projections 

for budgetary decision making, including establishing a sufficient 

and appropriate overtime budget.  

Page 23 of 54

37



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 22  

Officers work excessive overtime, 

increasing health and safety risks. 
BPD does not adhere to their overtime policies and controls. In FY 2020, 21 

percent of BPD officers exceeded the 44 hour overtime limit at least once. 

Excessive overtime can lead to fatigue-impaired officers, increasing risks to 

officers, the City, and the public. They do not have an effective system to 

enforce their policy and manage overtime. BPD relies on manually prepared 

paper records for scheduling and tracking regular and overtime hours 

worked. Without adequate enforcement of policies and tools to manage 

overtime, BPD cannot fully mitigate risks associated with officer fatigue.  

Officers exceed overtime limits set by BPD. 

On average, BPD officers worked 13.2 hours of overtime per week during FY 

2020, and some worked significantly more. According to BPD, most 

overtime shifts are filled on a voluntary basis. Some amount of overtime 

work in policing is necessary and unavoidable, and will occur regardless of 

the number of officers employed. Officers may need to complete arrests at 

the end of their shifts, fill in to cover absences, or assist in safely facilitating 

public events. Police work also inevitably generates court appearances, 

trainings, and work on holidays (see Figure 8 for details of how BPD used 

overtime in FY 2020).  

BPD has a policy to regulate overtime by placing limits on the total number 

of hours that officers can work within specific periods and requires officers 

have a minimum of eight hours off between shifts. In FY 2020, there were 

62 occurrences of officers exceeding BPD’s weekly limit of 44 hours of 

overtime in a week. Twenty-one percent of BPD officers (36 officers) 

exceeded this limit at least once, however, one officer exceeded the limit 11 

times in FY 2020 (Figure 10). Without enforcement and oversight of these 

limits, BPD’s policies may not be sufficient to manage the burnout and 

fatigue associated with overtime. For instance, an officer who works 44 

hours of overtime in one week with recommended levels of sleep will only 

have 4 daily hours of off-duty time. As officers exceed this limit, they cut 

into their recovery time and increase their risk of burnout. There were two 

times when an officer worked more than 60 hours of overtime in a week, 

which is more than 100 total hours worked in a week.  

 

 

 

 

BPD’s internal Policy 1015 
states that BPD staff should not 

work more than: 

• 16 hours in one day (24 

hour) period or 

• 30 hours in any 2-day (48 

hour) period or 

• 84 hours in any 7-day (168 

hour) period 

Additionally, the policy 
recommends a minimum of 8 
hours between shifts except in 
very limited circumstances. 
These limitations apply to 
overtime. Supervisors should 
consider reasonable rest 
periods and are authorized to 
deny overtime or relieve any 
member who has exceeded the 
above guidelines. Limitations on 
the number of hours worked 
apply to shift changes, shift 
trades, rotation, holdover, 
training, general overtime and 

any other work assignments. 

 

Page 24 of 54

38



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 23  

Figure 10. BPD Officers Exceed BPD’s Overtime Limit of 44 Hours 
in a Week in FY 2020 

Note: The chart represents a total of 168 sworn officers. It does not include Captains, 
the Police Chief, Reserve Officers, and Retired Annuitants as they do not receive 
overtime pay. In addition, it excludes 1 officer who worked only one shift in FY 2020. 

Source: BPD Payroll Data 

Additionally, we found that more officers are working longer stretches without 

days off. In FY 2019, nearly half of sworn officers worked a week or more with 

no days off at least once, and one officer worked 47 consecutive days in a row. 

By FY 2020, 85 percent of officers worked a week or more with no days off at 

least once. BPD does not have a policy limiting the number of consecutive 

days officers can work. The department policy requires officers to take eight 

hours of rest between shifts, except in very limited circumstances, however, 

due to the manual nature of BPD’s staffing and time tracking we were unable 

to confirm that this policy is enforced.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25 of 54

39



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 24  

Long work hours and fatigue can negatively impact officer 

safety, health, and performance.  

While we did not perform specific analysis of the impact of overtime on BPD 

officers, excessive overtime can lead to fatigue-impaired officers, increasing 

risks to officers, the City, and the public. Police are required to be alert and 

use good judgment in order to respond appropriately to emergency calls. They 

must be able to make split second decisions and act on them with limited time 

and information in situations where there may be an element of danger. They 

are not only responsible for the safety of the public but also for other 

responding public safety officials (police, firefighters, paramedics). Overtime, 

when used in excess, can inhibit these essential skills and increase the safety 

risk to the public and other personnel.  

Working more hours can increase fatigue, which has been found to increase 

injuries and accidents. Studies have found that fatigue negatively affects both 

police and the communities they serve.8 Fatigue increases the risk of accidents 

and other safety incidents, such as decreasing officer alertness, impairing 

decision-making ability, and slowing down reaction time. According to 

research, impairment after 20 hours of wakefulness equals that of an 

individual with a blood-alcohol concentration of 0.10. Fatigue also harms 

work performance by weakening memory, lowering frustration tolerance, and 

increasing stress and burnout. Finally, fatigue can have long-term health 

implications for officers, increasing blood pressure, hypertension, metabolic 

syndrome, and obesity.  

We did not do an analysis of these impacts on BPD specifically as that would 

have required more resources than this report covered. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8  Vila et al., 2002: Improving shift schedule and work-hour policies and practices to 
increase police officer performance, health, and safety; and Lindsey, D., 2007: Police 
fatigue: An accident waiting to happen  

Page 26 of 54

40



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 25  

BPD does not effectively track officer hours to enforce 

overtime limits.  

Limits on overtime rely on effective monitoring and enforcement from 

supervisors. BPD’s overtime policy without enforcement does not control for 

excessive overtime. The monitoring and enforcement for these limits lies with 

supervisors, as Policy 1015 states, “Supervisors should give consideration to 

reasonable rest periods and are authorized to deny overtime or relieve to off-

duty status any member who has exceeded the above guidelines.” BPD relies 

on manually prepared paper records for scheduling and tracking hours 

worked. Regular shifts and overtime hours are tracked on separate forms, 

with each overtime shift requiring a new form (Appendix III).  

When tracing a sample of instances where officers exceeded overtime limits to 

paper overtime forms, there was no indication that supervisors were aware 

that these officers exceeded the overtime limits or why they were allowed to 

do so. There are legitimate reasons why supervisors might approve officers to 

exceed these limits, and the policy states that limitation of hours worked 

should be enforced absent emergency operations. We were unable to verify 

that any of these instances of exceeding the overtime limits were to staff for 

emergency operations.  

Additionally, signing up for voluntary patrol overtime shifts are manual and 

first come, first serve. Supervisors post open overtime shifts on a corkboard in 

a central location in the public safety building. Officers manually write their 

badge number on an open shift to claim the overtime. This system does not 

necessarily block or limit officers from signing up for multiple spots. 

According to BPD, officers are not required to seek approval from their 

supervisor, unless officers think it may impact or overlap their regular job 

duties. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27 of 54

41



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 26  

Figure 11. Sign-ups for Patrol Overtime Shifts Are Manual and First 
Come, First Serve  

Source: Berkeley Police Department 

As a result of BPD’s manual processes, supervisors likely do not know how 

many hours an officer has worked leading up to a shift. This means that 

supervisors may select an officer for a new overtime shift who has already 

worked more than the supervisor thinks is safe.  

Tracking all hours of work in one place is important because it can help 

supervisors ensure that officers are working safe amounts of hours, within the 

department’s limits, and that extra-duty overtime does not affect their regular 

duty assignments. One study by the Department of Justice states that 

overtime can be successfully managed through a combination of analysis, 

recordkeeping, management, and supervision.9 Without staffing software and 

digitized timekeeping, BPD policies and management may not be sufficient to 

manage the burnout and fatigue associated with overtime.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 National Institute of Justice, Police Overtime: An Examination of Key Issues: https://

www.ojp.gov/pdffiles/167572.pdf  

Page 28 of 54

42

https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles/167572.pdf
https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles/167572.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 27  

Recommendations 

To mitigate the risks associated with excessive overtime and officer fatigue, we 

recommend Berkeley Police Department: 

To ensure efficient and effective management of staffing and overtime, we 

recommend Berkeley Police Department: 

3.2  Work to implement a staffing software solution that integrates 

overtime management and scheduling software. Develop 

management reports that provide timely, accurate, and complete 

information on overtime usage. Develop a process for filling 

overtime shifts on a voluntary and mandatory basis, including 

supervisor approval. Build in warnings for when an individual is 

approaching overtime limits and an approval process for allowing 

individuals to exceed limits when deemed necessary according to 

the policy.  

3.1  Update the department overtime policy to address the fact that 

there currently is no limit to the number of consecutive days 

worked and determine the appropriate limit for overtime that is 

enforceable with the goal of avoiding officer fatigue. The 

department may examine other jurisdictions’ overtime limits as 

possible criteria.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29 of 54

43



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 28  

BPD has no contracts for overtime 

security with outside entities. 

The hours BPD officers spent conducting extra-duty, overtime security work 

for both public and private entities (work for outside entities) more than 

tripled in FY 2020. Personnel costs for providing security to outside entities 

also tripled from $160,000 in FY 2019 to almost $500,000 in FY 2020, 

amounting to 10 percent of all of BPD’s overtime personnel costs. BPD does 

not have written policies that define and govern this work. In addition, BPD 

does not have contracts with outside entities, which unnecessarily increases 

the City’s risks and liabilities. BPD’s process for tracking costs associated 

with work for outside entities is insufficient and we are unable to determine 

if the City is being reimbursed appropriately. Without documented policies 

and processes for establishing work for outside entity agreements, BPD 

cannot ensure their services are equitable and transparent.   

Officers’ overtime work for outside entities more than 

tripled in FY 2020.   

The overtime hours BPD officers spent working for outside entities more 

than tripled in FY 2020, representing nine percent of all sworn overtime 

hours previously shown in Figure 8. The hours BPD officers work for 

outside entities contribute to the total strain overtime places on the 

department and individual officers. Outside entities are public and private 

organizations such as local businesses, schools, or private event organizers 

that request police services ranging from security, crowd and traffic 

management, to neighborhood patrol. Officers provide security in their 

capacity as BPD sworn officers and BPD pays them at the overtime rate, 

while outside entities submit reimbursements to the City. Officers worked 

with six major employers in FY 2020, and more than half (53 percent) of the 

overtime hours worked were for the Apple store (Figure 12).  During this 

period, the 2,952 hours associated with the Apple store encompassed the 

equivalent of one full-time staff hours for an entire year.  

 

 

 

A range of outside 
entities have 
requested BPD’s 
services, including 

but not limited to:  

Retailers. BPD has provided 
dedicated security services to 
retail stores including the Apple 
Store, Lululemon, and North 
Face. BPD also provides patrol 
and security for a merchant’s 
association representing 

businesses on Fourth Street.  

Schools and universities. 
BPD provides services to local 
educational institutions 
including UC Berkeley and 
Berkeley High School (BHS). 
According to BPD, services to 
UC Berkeley are often for 
football games. BPD’s 
agreement with BHS supports 
the cost for overtime incurred by 
the full time School Resource 
Officer or any other officer that 
works in an overtime capacity 

for BHS.  

One-time events for private 
companies. BPD also provides 
services to companies for one-
time events. For instance, BPD 
has provided security during 
movie filming, security for 
moves between commercial or 
private residences, and crowd 
management for 
demonstrations against 
installations of AT&T private 

equipment.   

Page 30 of 54

44



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 29  

Figure 12. BPD More than Tripled the Hours Spent Working 
Overtime for Outside Entities in FY 2020  

Note: Fourth Street businesses includes holiday patrol.  

Source: BPD Payroll Data 

The employment of public officers for private security work, whether at an 

individual or department level, is not unique to BPD. Both the Davis Police 

Department10 and San Jose Police Department11 have procedures that enable 

sworn officers to provide private security overtime. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10 Davis Police Department, Extra-Duty and Off-Duty Employment Policy: https://
www.cityofdavis.org/home/showpublisheddocument/13243/636951554881270000  

11 San Jose Police Department, Instructions for Secondary Employment: https://
www.sjpd.org/home/showpublisheddocument/350/637469312631370000  

Page 31 of 54

45

https://www.cityofdavis.org/home/showpublisheddocument/13243/636951554881270000
https://www.cityofdavis.org/home/showpublisheddocument/13243/636951554881270000
https://www.sjpd.org/home/showpublisheddocument/350/637469312631370000
https://www.sjpd.org/home/showpublisheddocument/350/637469312631370000


 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 30  

According to an Illinois Law Review study, outside entities are sometimes 

willing to pay the costs of hiring officers due to their capacity as sworn 

officers, including the ability to detain, search, arrest, and use force on 

suspects.12 In August 2019, the San Francisco Chronicle surveyed security 

businesses, retailers, and police officers to explore the growth in San 

Francisco police as private paid security, known as the 10-B program.13  They 

found that outside entities rely on the visibility of a uniformed officer in a 

patrol vehicle to deter unwanted theft. Additionally, outside entities benefit 

from officers’ broader connection and communications to local law 

enforcement agencies. Our audit did not investigate the complex reasons for 

the growth in requests. 

The BPD has no procedures or written agreements for 

working overtime with outside entities.  

BPD does not have policies nor criteria that govern the approval and 

administration of department agreements for work for outside entities. We 

also did not find evidence of contracts or written agreements between BPD 

and outside entities on these overtime arrangements. Without written 

contracts or agreements regarding the role or authority of a private company, 

BPD and the City of Berkeley may bear the cost of potential hazards that 

surface from work for outside entities. Updated policies and procedures are 

essential for the proper transparency and accountability of government 

resources and for achieving efficient and effective program results.   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 Stoughton, Seth W., Moonlighting: The Private Employment of Off-Duty Officers 
(August 26, 2016). 2017 U. Ill. L. Rev. 1848 (2017), Available at SSRN: https://
ssrn.com/abstract=2830652 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2830652  

13 San Francisco Chronicle, Businesses hiring real SF cops on OT to keep crime down, 
employees safe;  https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/philmatier/article/Businesses-
hiring-real-SF-cops-on-OT-to-keep-14365181.php  

Page 32 of 54

46

http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2830652
https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/philmatier/article/Businesses-hiring-real-SF-cops-on-OT-to-keep-14365181.php
https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/philmatier/article/Businesses-hiring-real-SF-cops-on-OT-to-keep-14365181.php


 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 31  

In 2020, sworn officers in every BPD division provided security for outside 

entities, amounting to 50 percent of all sworn staff eligible for overtime on 

BPD’s payroll. Unlike self-employment or employment by others, work for 

outside entities is executed by the department and paid for by 

reimbursements to the City from outside entities. Nevertheless, the City and 

BPD’s policies on outside employment (A.R. 2.10 and Policy 1020, 

respectively) do not define nor address reimbursed work for outside entities 

pursuant to an agreement between the department and those entities. Unlike 

BPD, Davis Police Department has policies guiding their contracted security 

work for outside entities. Davis’ policies in their arrangements with outside 

entities include liability and worker’s compensation, application protocols, 

account management, time of payment, and selection of officers.  

Figure 13. Apple Accounted for the Majority of BPD’s Work for 
Outside Entities 

Source: Berkeley City Auditor 

It is City practice in other areas to enter into contracts and/or execute 

agreements when providing or obtaining services from outside entities. For 

example, the City has an administrative regulation that establishes a 

framework for approvals, contract execution, financial recording, and billing 

of grants and any other agreements such as reimbursement contracts, 

cooperative agreements, Memorandums of Understanding, or other 

participation agreements that provide an award of financial assistance to 

support a City program or project. Adopting similar processes for work for 

outside entities would improve transparency and decrease risk and liability to 

the City.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33 of 54

47



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 32  

A lack of written agreements and policies, together with the increase in BPD’s 

work for outside entities, introduce unnecessary risks and liabilities across a 

variety of areas. We identified the following potential risks, among others:  

Liabilities. Without an indemnity agreement to clarify the role and 

authority of outside entities, BPD and the City of Berkeley may open itself 

up to additional liability. A lack of  agreements also creates ambiguity as to 

the responsibility of an officer working on behalf of an outside entity. 

While working for outside entities, officers are assigned to provide security 

for that entity. They do not respond to calls or perform other general 

police functions, yet they maintain police powers and can exercise those 

powers while working on behalf of the outside entity.  There may also be 

misperception on the part of the public, the officer, or the private entity as 

to the scope of duties and role of the outside entity and relationship with 

the officer.  

Conflict of interest. A lack of priorities or criteria informing BPD’s 

approval of contracts introduces the risk of working arrangements with a 

conflict of interest or divergence from City values. Without criteria, there 

are no formal measures against working for businesses with a history of 

criminal activity, or businesses involved in legal proceedings against the 

City.   

Administrative Gaps. Without formalized procedures, BPD risks 

executing important administrative steps partially and inconsistently, or 

missing some steps altogether. A formal application provides 

opportunities to collect  information about services needed, review and 

approve contracts in a uniform manner, ensure alignment with the 

municipal code and BPD’s stated values, and establish expectations with 

prospective outside entities.  

No limits to hours working for outside entities. It is difficult for 

officers and supervisors to monitor hours spent working for outside 

entities without overarching guidelines or limits regarding officer’s 

assignments. According to BPD, the Patrol Unit prioritizes other forms of 

overtime above work for outside entities.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34 of 54

48



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 33  

Fewer data to manage the workload. Without methods to track the 

number of requests, approvals, and contracts for working with outside 

entities, BPD is unable to understand trends over time and proactively 

manage their workload accordingly. Tracking data on outside entity 

requests, along with project codes in BPD’s payroll data, would provide 

opportunities to inform beats and staff assignments in the future.  

BPD does not effectively track costs of overtime security 

and it is unclear if the City is charging outside entities 

appropriately.   

BPD’s personnel costs of working for outside entities tripled from $160,000 in 

FY 2019 to almost $500,000 in FY 2020, amounting to 10 percent of all of 

BPD’s overtime personnel costs. Under BPD’s current process for tracking 

costs associated with work for outside entities, we cannot determine if the City 

is recovering the full cost for their services to outside entities.  

According to BPD, they charge outside entities only for the payroll costs 

incurred by the officer’s work for outside entities, including benefits that are 

paid for overtime. The City does not recover costs associated with the use of 

City vehicles nor the administration of these agreements including planning, 

staffing, and invoicing.  We also found BPD charges the businesses on Fourth 

street a flat fee of $5,000 during the winter holidays, even if the cost of 

services exceeds this amount. This arrangement pre-dates the current Fiscal 

Management staff, and it is unclear when or why it was established. We 

cannot know the full excess costs of flat fee arrangements as BPD does not 

identify them in their billing documents.  

Without clearly understanding invoices and revenue, BPD cannot reconcile 

costs with their reimbursements. As a result, BPD may continually underbill 

for their services and not recover the full costs of officer overtime. On the 

other hand, BPD may overbill outside entities, which can influence 

perceptions about working with the City. It is difficult to track the 

appropriateness of reimbursements for several reasons:  

BPD cannot separate out revenue. Checks are deposited into a 

general revenue account along with other revenues. As such the City 

cannot separate out specific revenues tied to work for outside entities.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35 of 54

49



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 34  

Manual process subject to error. Data entry errors may surface as 

the payroll clerk manually calculates the hours worked by each 

individual plus the benefitted amount, as well as invoice amounts in 

the system. It is possible that hours do not get added to payroll, or that 

they get added to the wrong project code. 

BPD’s billing can have errors. BPD follows a billing procedure 

that exists outside of the City’s accounts receivable system using 

spreadsheets. The department does not have quality controls to review 

the spreadsheets for accuracy, and the growth in requests for outside 

entities is outgrowing BPD’s capacity to closely monitor a growing 

number of the invoices to outside entities.  

Additionally, revenues from outside party reimbursements are not fully 

credited back to BPD. Reimbursements from outside entities are deposited 

into the City’s General Fund, and BPD’s expenditures for overtime work with 

outside entities can exceed the City’s budgeted amount. According to BPD’s 

Fiscal Services Manager, the budgeted expenditures for work with outside 

entities have remained fixed at $150,000 for over a decade, despite the growth 

of personnel expenditures to $498,685 in FY 2020. Reimbursements for 

overtime work with outside entities do not replenish the overtime fund from 

which BPD officers were paid, and are not guaranteed to be allocated to BPD.   

Without policies and documentation, BPD cannot ensure 

transparent and equitable services.  

BPD leadership should know how to best deploy its officer resources, but work 

for outside entities as it is currently operating may undermine that judgment. 

The breadth and prevalence of work for outside entities in FY 2020 has 

essentially privatized a portion of officer overtime, and without policies to 

manage this growth, BPD may encounter unforeseen impacts related to equity 

and transparency of their services for businesses and residents alike. 

Occasionally, multiple officers will provide services simultaneously for 

companies located in the same beat alongside the regular beat officer; this is 

especially true for security for various companies on Fourth street (Figure 13). 

BPD does not have agreements or written procedures to prevent policing from 

skewing toward one specific contract or type of entity at the expense of other 

businesses or neighborhoods with higher service and crime response. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36 of 54

50



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 35  

Figure 14. Work for Outside Entities in FY 2020 by Police Beats  

Source: BPD Beats Map on the Open Data Portal and Berkeley Police Department 

The lack of documentation surrounding outside entities also raises concerns 

around transparency and equity. As discussed previously, BPD historically 

provided a flat fee of $5,000 to the businesses on Fourth Street, and 

expenditures were higher than this fee. Without procedures, BPD may 

continue to use inconsistent flat fee arrangements leading the City to 

inadvertently charge one company less than another without criteria as to 

why. In addition, certain companies have dedicated contractors that 

coordinate their security. For instance, the firm Security Industry Specialists 

Inc. (SIS) handles Apple’s agreements with BPD, while smaller businesses 

may benefit from BPD security but lack these resources to acquire BPD’s 

services. Larger-income businesses can afford the additional protection 

afforded by sworn officers, while smaller businesses may be unable to benefit 

from City-sponsored security. Further, there is potential for bias or perception 

of bias if police working as private security encounter a dispute between an 

member of the public and the private entity. An officer that is providing 

security for a private entity may not be viewed as objective in resolving a 

conflict between that private entity and a member of the public. This risk is 

heightened by lack of regulation, documentation, and public communication. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37 of 54

51



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 36  

While any community that wants security has a right to pay for it, it raises 

questions of equity of access when that extra security is provided by City-

employed officers. BPD can improve equity if every business is able to access 

information about these services, and they provided a transparent application 

process for community members interested in obtaining these services.  This 

brings up questions and considerations around BPD’s overall scope of work 

for outside entities given BPD’s staffing gaps, high levels of overtime, potential 

perceptions of bias, and the risks detailed above.  

Transparency is especially important in the case of police work. Unlike most 

public officials—who may also be employed by outside entities—police officers 

retain their public authority in their capacity as sworn officers on behalf of 

outside entities. Since work as BPD officers is an extension of work for the 

City, relevant information about their work with private entities should be 

available internally to the City and/or the public.  This practice is worthy of 

public discussion and evaluation. 

Recommendations 

To ensure work with outside entities is in full compliance with relevant laws 

and policies, and to increase transparency and reduce liabilities, we 

recommend Berkeley Police Department (BPD): 

4.1  Update A.R. 2.10 and other department policies to explicitly 

include guidance around department agreements for work for 

outside entities, which is paid for by reimbursements to the City 

from the outside entities. Internal procedures should include 

appropriate criteria to identify and document the benefit to the 

City gained by work for outside entity agreements, and to allocate 

resources in a way that does not negatively impact City operations. 

Additionally, BPD should document their criteria for when officers 

are not available or eligible for work for outside entities.   

4.2  In consultation with the City Attorney, create contracts with 

outside entities in compliance with City policies and applicable 

laws.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38 of 54

52



 

 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime 

 37  

To ensure the City is being appropriately reimbursed for policing services 

contracted out to outside entities or any other agreements (i.e., special 

events), we recommend Berkeley Police Department: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.3 Develop an application for BPD’s services that is publicly available 

and accessible online to any interested party. Set pay uniformly 

according to rank and hourly rate and include a reasonable fee that 

covers the expenses of administering work for outside entities 

including workers compensation, fuel, use of equipment, and any 

other actual or potential costs to the City.  

4.4  Reconcile invoices with the amounts received for work with outside 

entities at regular intervals. BPD should also implement 

procedures to check invoices for errors prior to billing outside 

entities. 

4.5  Explore ways to clearly account for different funds to track 

revenues and expenses. 

Page 39 of 54

53



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 38  

Recommendations and Management Response 

1.1  

Collect and monitor data on how often compensatory time leads to additional backfill overtime and 

develop a plan to monitor it.   

 Management Response: Agree. 

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD is currently working to implement an electronic 

 staffing solution.  The Department will assess the ability to monitor and track this 

 information in electronic staffing in order to understand the expense and impacts of 

 compensatory time.  BPD will explore the possibility of developing a report through existing 

 payroll and finance programs to understand the impact of compensatory time usage and 

 practices.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 18 months from date of 

 audit response.  

1.2 
Fill vacancies deemed necessary and/or reallocate staff pending the reimagining process and a 

determination of appropriate staffing levels.  

 Management  Response: Agree. 

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD understands the impact that reduced staffing has 

on overtime costs and always strives to fill vacancies and operate within our budget.   

Challenges in retention of existing officers, difficulty hiring new officers and many imminent 

retirements make it difficult to apply a timeline on implementation of this recommendation.  

Recruitment efforts, prioritization of hiring and related processes and budget authority to 

hire will be instrumental to the department’s success.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Ongoing. 

We provided a draft of this report to City Management and BPD for review and comment. City Management 

agreed to our findings, conclusions, and recommendations. Below is the BPD’s initial corrective action plan 

and proposed implementation date. We find their plan to address our audit recommendations reasonable. As 

part of the follow-up process, the Berkeley City Auditor will be actively engaged with the Police Department 

every six months to assess the progress they are making towards complete implementation. The department 

will submit a council item every 6 months with an update on the progress of their recommendations. 

Page 40 of 54

54



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 39  

2.1 
Establish a procedure to regularly assess minimum staffing and overall staffing needs of the 

department. This process should document and incorporate criteria to assess staffing levels, such as 

calls for service, other workload, community input, and other relevant factors. As BPD prepares for 

the rollout of a new software system, BPD should consider how to best align the program’s 

capabilities with this assessment process.  

Management Response: BPD agrees with this recommendation in that regular 

assessments assist the department with the best allocation and deployment of resources. Our 

staffing needs may fluctuate as priorities change, but our responsibility to meet public safety 

demands is always paramount.     

 Proposed Implementation Plan: Internal evaluations will be completed annually to 

address constantly changing conditions, call volume, crime data and other external factors.  

The reimagining public safety efforts may also necessitate changing focus and deployment 

strategies.  BPD will explore engaging outside consultants every ten years to evaluate patrol 

staffing levels so as to have a useful body of data for evaluation (for example; tying staffing 

evaluations to census reports).  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 18-24 months from date 

of audit response.  

2.2  

Document and define the Patrol Unit’s minimum staffing levels in a publicly assessible format.  

 Management Response: Agree. 

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD will update the department webpage to include 

information on beat structure, teams, and deployment.  This will also include current beat 

officer assignment.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 6 months from date of 

audit response.  

2.3 
Document the results of staffing assessments along with the assessment criteria. Incorporate results 

into staffing projections for budgetary decision making, including establishing a sufficient and 

appropriate overtime budget.   

Management  Response: Agree. Our staffing needs may fluctuate as priorities change, 

but our responsibility to meet public safety demands is always paramount. 

 Proposed Implementation Plan: Internal evaluations will be completed annually to 

address constantly changing conditions, call volume, crime data and other external factors.    

BPD will explore engaging outside consultants every ten years to also evaluate this item.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 18-24 months from date 

of audit response though this is subject to change as it is part of the overall budget process.  

Page 41 of 54

55



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 40  

3.1 
Update the department overtime policy to address the fact that there currently is no limit to the 

number of consecutive days worked and determine the appropriate limit for overtime that is 

enforceable with the goal of avoiding officer fatigue. The department may examine other 

jurisdictions’ overtime limits as possible criteria.  

 Management Response: Agree.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD will review existing policy and ensure that any 

policy updates or clarification are completed.   BPD will conduct research to review fatigue 

mitigation programs and contact other agencies to learn what they are using successfully. A 

byproduct of reduced staffing can be increased or excessive overtime where minimum 

staffing levels or public safety needs necessitate police response.  The Department will 

explore options to develop data collection and monitoring within the electronic staffing 

solution to be able to regularly assess if there is an issue.   

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 24 months from date of 

audit response.  

3.2 
Work to implement a staffing software solution that integrates overtime management and 

scheduling software. Develop management reports that provide timely, accurate, and complete 

information on overtime usage. Develop a process for filling overtime shifts on a voluntary and 

mandatory basis, including supervisor approval. Build in warnings for when an individual is 

approaching overtime limits and an approval process for allowing individuals to exceed limits when 

deemed necessary according to the policy.  

 Management Response: BPD agrees that a staffing software solution could assist with 

overtime management and scheduling needs.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD is already heavily engaged in seeking a software 

solution.  The RFP process is completed, and the vetting process is nearing completion to 

select the vendor.  Following completion of a contract, the steps towards implementation 

will begin.  The Department will have to rely on Information Technology for 

implementation, consequently timing will depend how this project fits the PD/IT workplan.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 24 months from date of 

audit response.  

Page 42 of 54

56



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 41  

4.1 
Update A.R. 2.10 and other department policies to explicitly include guidance around department 

agreements for work for outside entities, which is paid for by reimbursements to the City from the 

outside entities. Internal procedures should include appropriate criteria to identify and document 

the benefit to the City gained by work for outside entity agreements, and to allocate resources in a 

way that does not negatively impact City operations. Additionally, BPD should document their 

criteria for when officers are not available or eligible for work for outside entities.   

 Management Response: Agree.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD will work with the City Manager’s Office to 

identify necessary adjustments to the CoB A.R.2.10, current BPD practices engaging in 

reimbursable service contract, and the overall administration of departmental agreements 

for work with outside entities.   

The Department will create a webpage on the Department’s website with information 

explaining the process for requesting services.  This would include a point of contact to 

discuss criteria and evaluation of service requests, including staffing impacts.  Also included 

will be clear language explaining that public safety response will be the highest priority.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 12 months from date of 

audit response.  

4.2 
In consultation with the City Attorney, create contracts with outside entities in compliance with City 

policies and applicable laws.  

 Management Response: Agree.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD will work with the City Manager’s Office, and in 

consultation with the City Attorney, to determine appropriate contract(s) for reimbursable 

service contracts.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 24 months from date of 

audit response.  

Page 43 of 54

57



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 42  

4.3 
Develop an application for BPD’s services that is publicly available and accessible online to any 

interested party. Set pay uniformly according to rank and hourly rate and include a reasonable fee 

that covers the expenses of administering work for outside entities including workers 

compensation, fuel, use of equipment, and any other actual or potential costs to the City.  

 Management Response: Agree.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: We intend to create a webpage on the Department’s 

website with information explaining the process for requesting services.  This would include 

a point of contact to discuss criteria and evaluation of service requests, including staffing 

impacts.  Also included will be clear language explaining that public safety response will be 

the highest priority.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated completion within 12-18 months from date 

of audit response.  

4.4 
BPD should reconcile invoices with the amounts received for work with outside entities at regular 

intervals. BPD should also implement procedures to check invoices for errors prior to billing outside 

entities.  

 Management Response: Agree.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD will discuss possible solutions with other city 

stakeholders, including the Finance Department.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated 12 months from date of audit completion.  

4.5 
Explore ways to clearly account for different funds to track revenues and expenses. 

 Management Response: Agree.  

 Proposed Implementation Plan: BPD will discuss possible solutions with other city 

stakeholders, including other city departments.  

 Proposed Implementation Date: Estimated 12 months from date of audit completion.  

Page 44 of 54

58



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 43  

Methodology 

We audited the Berkeley Police Department’s (BPD) budget and operations for fiscal years (FY) 2015 through 

2020. We assessed historic funding levels going as far back as FY 1970 when data was available. We 

performed a risk assessment of BPD’s practices and procedures to identify potential internal control 

weaknesses, including fraud risks, within the context of our audit objectives. This included a review of 

selected policies and procedures, as well as interviews with subject matter experts and BPD staff.  

To gain an understanding of BPD’s operations and internal controls and to achieve our audit objectives, we 

reviewed the following: 

• Biennial budget reports, financial reports, and census data summarizing historic trends in BPD’s 

budget and staffing. 

• State and federal laws governing police overtime, staffing, and work with outside entities. 

• Previous audit recommendations, staffing assessments, and BPD’s organization chart informing 

BPD’s departmental structure and practices.  

• General orders and protocols detailing BPD’s limits on overtime and minimum staffing. 

• Existing agreements for BPD’s police services including grants, mutual aid, special events, and 

outside entities.  

• Written procedures and common forms used by BPD supervisors to monitor and approve 

overtime. 

• National media on police budgeting and reimagining policing. 

• Professional literature on effective management of overtime and staffing in police operations.  

• Other audits and police practices in comparison cities related to police budgeting, staffing and 

overtime.  

We also conducted interviews with:  

• BPD police officers in the Operations and Support Services departments spanning the ranks of 

police officer, sergeant, lieutenant, captain, and chief. 

• Berkeley Police Association President and Vice President.  

• BPD administrative staff including the Administrative and Fiscal Services Manager and the 

Department’s payroll clerks.  

• City leadership including the Manager of the Budget Office, the Berkeley City Attorney, and City 

Councilmembers.  

• Peer auditors in the City of San Jose that conducted an audit on police staffing.  

 

Methodology and Statement of Compliance 

Page 45 of 54

59



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 44  

We analyzed:  

• The City’s financial system payroll data for BPD from FY 2019 to FY 2020. 

• BPD budget and expenditures for each year from FY 2015 to FY 2021; BPD budgets for FY 1960, 

1970, 1980, 1990, 2000, and 2010.  

• BPD’s record of invoices for work with outside entities. 

Data Reliability   

We assessed the reliability of payroll data by reviewing it for completeness, appropriateness, and consistency. 

We determined it is sufficient and reliable for the purposes of our work.  The data captures that date of the 

hours, the staff member, authorized and actual position title, and hour code. We noted a limitation in the data 

in that the position title associated with individuals is their current title and does not necessarily reflect the 

title at the time the hours were earned. Additionally, the data does not capture adjustments made to correct 

labor distributions and project charges. These limitations do not significantly impact our use of the data. 

Independence 

Payroll Audit is a Division of the City Auditor’s Office. Payroll Audit Division performs citywide payroll 

functions and is a module leader for the payroll/personnel module used to record payroll costs. BPD is solely 

responsible for identifying the payroll codes applicable to their staff’s time reported on timesheets and 

overtime forms and for providing sufficient documentation to support those hours for payroll processing. 

Payroll Audit is not responsible for verifying the employee’s time or the use of budget codes by the 

department. Payroll limits its review to ensuring that BPD payroll clerks provide the appropriate and 

sufficient documentation for the reported time.  

To reduce the threat to our independence, we limited our work to exclude areas overseen by our office.  We 

also selected data from closed payroll periods that was in read only status and we traced select data back to 

source documents to verify that the data is reliable.  

We consulted with representatives from the Government Accountability Office to discuss the engagement and 

the safeguards we put in place. They determined that with the safeguards mentioned above we had reduced 

the identified threats to our independence to an acceptable level to proceed with the audit. 

Statement of Compliance 

We conducted this performance audit in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing 

Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate 

evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We 

believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our 

audit objectives.  

 

Page 46 of 54

60



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 45  

City Funding  

General Fund. The General Fund is the chief operating fund in the City. It accounts for all financial 

resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Parking Meter Fund. The Parking Meter Fund is one of the City’s major enterprise funds. It accounts for 

the collection of coins from the City’s parking meters and for the purchasing, leasing, installing, repairing, 

maintaining, operating, removing, and policing of the meters.  

State Funding  

State funding to BPD derives from a combination of grant funding and revenue from state ballot measures.  

Alcohol and Beverage Control (ABC) Grant. This program focuses on reducing the number of alcohol 

related calls for service to BFD and reducing the availability of alcohol to underage persons. It includes a 

partnership with UC Berkeley to work with student groups in organized events involving alcohol, including 

“operation trapdoor” to identify students using fake IDs, and conducting patrol on house parties. 

State Public Safety Sales Tax Proposition 172. Ballot measure approved in 1993, imposed a state sales 

tax to be used for local public safety activities. As of FY20-21, it formed 0.25 percent of the total sales tax rate 

in Alameda County. The state distributes Proposition 172 revenues to each county based on its proportionate 

share of statewide taxable sales.   

Citizens’ Option for Public Safety (COPS). The State Controller’s Office allocates the Citizens' Option for 

Public Safety funds to law enforcement agencies according to the relative population for each county and city. 

In FY 2021, Berkeley was projected to be allocated $186,209 COPS funding. The allocations may be slightly 

different from the projections made by the State Controller's Office due to rounding. 

Asset Forfeiture Fund. Asset forfeiture is the process by which legal ownership of an asset is transferred to 

BPD. According to the Health and Safety Code Section 11495, the funds received by the law enforcement 

agencies are deposited into an account maintained by the controller, county auditor, or city treasurer. From 

there, they are distributed to law enforcement agencies at their request. Sixty-five percent of State asset 

forfeiture proceeds are distributed to state and/or local law enforcement agencies that participated in the 

seizure of the assets. Fifteen percent of those funds must be deposited in a special fund maintained by a 

council made up of local government entities. These funds are restricted to be used for the sole purpose of 

funding programs designed to combat drug abuse and divert gang activity (Health and Safety Code 11489). In 

FY 2019, Berkeley PD received $127,629.88 in state asset forfeiture funds from Alameda, Contra Costa, and 

Solano County. There were no reported state asset forfeiture funds received by Berkeley PD in FY 2020. 

Appendix I. BPD Funding Streams 

Page 47 of 54

61



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 46  

Mutual Aid from State Agencies. Mutual aid costs are paid for by the state for instances when the state 

becomes involved. Otherwise, the cost of mutual aid is the responsibility of each agency participating. Five 

state agencies have specific responsibilities to support local law enforcement during emergency situations: 

California Highway Patrol, State Military Department, Department of Justice, Department of Corrections, and 

the Officer of the California State Police.  

Federal Funding  

Federal funding for BPD derives exclusively from grants. BPD has received funding from the following grants:  

Alameda County Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Grant. JAG-funded projects address crime by 

improving the effectiveness and efficiency of criminal justice systems, processes, and procedures. BPD 

receives funding from the JAG as a member of a consortium with the Alameda County Sheriff’s office and 

other cities of Alameda County. As part of the JAG Consortium, BPD used funds to supplement overtime and 

benefits for sworn and non-sworn personnel engaged in targeted crime suppression activities. 

Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) Selective Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP). The goal of the 

STEP program is to reduce the number of persons killed and injured in traffic crashes using “best practice” 

strategies. The grant funds strategies related to traffic enforcement including but not limited to: DUI 

checkpoints, DUI saturation patrols, warrant service operations, stakeout operations, educational 

presentations, court stings. There is also a media element to enhance deterrence.  

Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) Avoid the 21 Campaign. The grant activities target those who drink too 

much and get behind the wheel. DUI/Driver’s License Checkpoints are a key component of the grant, being 

highly visible, highly publicized events. Officers staff DUI/Driver License Checkpoints, multi-agency DUI 

Task Force deployments, and local DUI saturation patrols for each partnering agency. 

 

 

Page 48 of 54

62



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 47  

Appendix II. Reasons for Overtime: Hours and Expenditures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: BPD Payroll Data 

Page 49 of 54

63



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 48  

Source: BPD Payroll Data 

Page 50 of 54

64



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 49  

 

Appendix III. Extraordinary Duty Form 

Page 51 of 54

65



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 50  

Source: Berkeley Police Department 

Page 52 of 54

66



 

 

 

 

Berkeley Police: Improvements Needed to Manage Overtime  

 51  

Source: Berkeley Police Department  

Appendix IV. Sample BPD Patrol Timesheet 

Page 53 of 54

67



 

 

Mission Statement 

Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government. 

 

 

Audit Team 

Erin Mullin, Senior Auditor 
Alejandra Barrio Gorski, Auditor I 
 
 
City Auditor 
Jenny Wong 
 
Office of the City Auditor 
Phone: (510) 981-6750 
Email: auditor@cityofberkeley.info 
Website: www.cityofberkeley.info/auditor 
 
 
Copies of our audit reports are available at  
www.cityofberkeley.info/Auditor/Home/Audit_Reports.aspx 

Page 54 of 54

68



No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx

Page 1 of 1

69

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx
arichardson
Typewritten Text
04



70



No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx

Page 1 of 1

71

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx
arichardson
Typewritten Text
05



72



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Parks and Waterfront Commission

     

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Parks and Waterfront Commission

Submitted by: Gordon Wozniak, Chairperson

ACTION CALENDAR
November 16, 2021

Subject: Proposal to allocate revenues generated by the Transient Occupancy Tax in 
the Waterfront Area to the Marina Fund to avoid insolvency, rebuild its fund 
balance and to stabilize its finances

RECOMMENDATION
That Council adopt a Resolution adopting a policy that all Transient Occupancy Taxes 
(TOT hotel tax) generated at the Berkeley Waterfront be allocated to the City’s Marina 
Enterprise Fund. All other property, sales, utility users, and parking taxes, as well as 
business license and franchise fees, would continue to be allocated to the City’s 
General Fund.

POLICY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
On September 23, 2021, the Budget & Finance Policy Committee took the following action:  
M/S/C (Harrison/Arreguin) to send the item to Council with a negative recommendation.  
Additionally, the committee would like to request a referral to the Budget & Finance Policy 
Committee to discuss and develop alternative revenue streams for the Marina Fund 
including a dedicated reserve.
Vote: All Ayes.
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Allocating funding from the Transient Occupancy Tax annually, generated at the 
Waterfront, will create a healthy Marina Fund that is able to operate, maintain, and keep 
safe the existing assets. The sizeable past and ongoing contributions from Waterfront- 
generated revenues to the City’s General Fund should be taken into consideration when 
assessing the financial implications.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The area now comprising the Berkeley Waterfront was granted to the City by the State 
of California in 1913, as a grant of state tidelands. In 1962, the City obtained a state 
loan to develop the current marina with 1,000 slips, parking lots, launch ramps, 
restrooms, parks, and several commercial plots for lease.

 By 1966, 15 boat dock systems were constructed.

Page 1 of 5

73

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
arichardson
Typewritten Text
06



Allocate Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) generated at the Waterfront               ACTION CALENDAR
back to the Marina Fund November 16, 2021

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

 By 1970, two restaurants, a hotel, and an office building were developed.
 By 1980, the two sailing clubs and sailing docks, the boat yard, and a third 

restaurant were developed.
 By 1991, the City landfill at the marina was capped and graded to become North 

Waterfront Park. In 1996, it was renamed Cesar Chavez Park.

The total area under City management includes the entrance to the Marina (University 
Avenue and the Bay Trail, from Frontage Road to Marina Blvd) and all the infrastructure 
and Marina waters west of Marina Blvd. In all, there are:

 100 acres of open space and parks,
 over 1,000 berths in the Berkeley Marina,
 a large hotel, 4 restaurants,
 the Adventure Playground,
 Shorebird Nature Center,
 the Berkeley Marine Center boat yard,
 a two-story office building,
 a 4-lane public launch ramp,
 9 restroom buildings, and
 11 parking lots.

The Waterfront requires the daily administration of what essentially is a “small city”.

Marina Fund
A requirement of the State Tidelands Grant is that revenue generated at the
Waterfront be spent at the Waterfront. The Marina Enterprise Fund was set up to 
comply with this requirement for managing revenue and expenditures at the Berkeley 
Waterfront. Marina Revenues come primarily from boat slip rental fees and business 
leases, and a number of smaller sources. Community users of the open space and 
amenities at the Berkeley Waterfront such as independent fishermen, windsurfers, small 
boat users, tourists, walkers, runners, dogwalkers, and other park users do not provide 
direct income to the Marina Fund.

By FY2019, one-third of the total revenue generated annually at the Waterfront was 
being transferred to the General fund as follows:

 $10.9 Million in Total Waterfront Revenue
 $6.9 Million allocated to the Marina Fund
 $4 Million allocated to the General Fund

In addition, $0.59 Million was being transferred annually from the Marina Fund to the 
City’s internal service funds.

In FY2020, the Covid Pandemic decimated the hospitality industry and the lease portion 
of the Marina revenue. While revenues have plummeted during the pandemic, 
community use of recreation and open space at the Waterfront has soared.

Page 2 of 5

74

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Allocate Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) generated at the Waterfront               ACTION CALENDAR
back to the Marina Fund November 16, 2021

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Marina Fund Financial Sustainability
From FY18-20, the Marina Fund contributed ~$11 Million to the General Fund. Now, the 
Marina Fund needs help from the General Fund to survive this pandemic-induced fiscal 
crisis.

To immediately avoid the eminent insolvency of the Marina Fund, the TOT tax 
generated in the Waterfront should be allocated to the Marina Fund.

Waterfront Capital Fund
The estimated $87.5 M - $131 M in future infrastructure costs are too large to be solved 
by stabilizing the Marina operations budget. To fund such large capital costs, a Reserve 
Fund needs to be created with new revenues developed as a result of the BMASP 
process that is underway.

Commission
At a regular meeting on March 10, 2021, the Parks and Waterfront Commission M/S/C to 
send this action to Council for consideration:  (McGrath/Kamen/U).  Ayes: Cox; Diehm; 
Kamen; Kawczynska; Landoni; McGrath; Skjerping; Srioudom; Wozniak; Noes: None;   
Absent: None;  Leave of Absence: None.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
No environmental impacts or opportunities were identified as a result of this 
recommendation.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
See body of report

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None

CITY MANAGER
The City Manager recommends referring the contents of this commission report to the 
budget process because this action will potentially impact revenue available to the 
General Fund. The Marina Fund revenue losses associated with Covid-19 are projected 
to exceed $3.6M from FY20-23 in comparison to FY 19 and a potential funding source to 
offset actual and projected revenue losses is the American Rescue Plan. Additionally, 
City Council may want to explore other long-term revenue sources to stabilize the Marina 
Fund, as discussed during February 16, 2021 work session presentation on the Berkeley 
Marina Area Specific Plan.

CONTACT PERSON
Roger Miller, Secretary, Parks and Waterfront Commission, (510) 981-6704 
Gordon Wozniak, Chairperson, (510) 654-4103

Page 3 of 5

75

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Allocate Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) generated at the Waterfront               ACTION CALENDAR
back to the Marina Fund November 16, 2021

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Attachments 
1: Resolution

Page 4 of 5

76

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

ALLOCATE REVENUES GENERATED BY THE TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY TAX IN 
THE WATERFRONT AREA TO THE MARINA FUND TO AVOID INSOLVENCY, 

REBUILD ITS FUND BALANCE, AND STABILIZE ITS FINANCES

WHEREAS, the Parks and Waterfront Commission reviews the policies, projects, 
programs, planning efforts, activities, funding and the physical condition of parks, pools, 
camps, recreation centers, the Marina, and public greenery, and advises the City 
Council on these matters; and

WHEREAS, a requirement of the State Tidelands Grant is that revenue generated in the 
Waterfront be spent at the Waterfront; and

WHEREAS, in FY2019, one-third of the total revenue ($10.9 million) generated annually 
at the Waterfront was transferred to the General Fund (GF) and an additional $0.58 
million was transferred to the City’s Internal Service Funds; and

WHEREAS, in FY2020, Waterfront revenues have plummeted due the shutdown of the 
hospitality industry by the Covid Pandemic; and

WHEREAS, the Marina Fund is projected to be insolvent in FY2022 and beyond; and

WHEREAS, over the last three years, the revenues generated in the Waterfront Area 
contributed ~$11 million to the City’s General Fund; and

WHEREAS, Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) was generated annually at the Waterfront 
during pre-pandemic times; and

WHEREAS, by allocating the TOT revenue generated at the Waterfront to the Marina 
fund, it could be made solvent; and

WHEREAS the Marina Fund is facing an unprecedented financial crisis, with more than
$100M of unfunded capital need and an annual structural deficit of $1 million.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the City of Berkeley hereby 
adopts a policy that all Transient Occupancy Taxes (TOT hotel tax) generated at the 
Berkeley Waterfront be allocated to the City’s Marina Enterprise Fund. All other 
property, sales, utility users, and parking taxes, as well as business license and 
franchise fees, would continue to be allocated to the City’s General Fund.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all other property, sales, utility 
users, and parking taxes, as well as business license and franchise fees, would 
continue to be allocated to the General Fund.

Page 5 of 5

77



78



Rashi Kesarwani
Councilmember, District 1
                                                                                                                     CONSENT CALENDAR
                                                                                                  FEBRUARY 22, 2022

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

FROM: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani (Author) and Councilmembers 
Lori Droste, Terry Taplin and Susan Wengraf (Co-Sponsors)

SUBJECT: Budget Referral: Street Maintenance Funding to Prevent 
Further Deterioration of Pavement Condition to Save Tax Dollars 
and Our Streets

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the FY 2022-23 budget process to establish a three-year plan (FY 2022-23 
through FY 2024-25) to fully fund an adequate street paving budget that prevents 
further deterioration of the City’s pavement condition. At the end of the three-year 
period, the fiscal plan should allocate a minimum total of $8 million in additional 
ongoing annual General Fund—bringing the total street paving annual budget to at 
least $15.1 million—the minimum amount needed to maintain pavement condition, as 
identified by our Public Works Department.1 

We recommend that the City slightly exceed the $8 million General Fund need by 
contributing $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 2022-23, an additional $3 million of 
ongoing funds in FY 2023-24, and a final addition of $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 
2024-25. This total of $9 million, in addition to the existing allocation of $7.3 million 
for annual street maintenance2, will provide the City with about $1.2 million more than 
the minimum total of $15.1 million to account for inflation.

A three-year plan is suggested to give the City time to gradually enhance street 
paving resources, and annual inflation adjustments are recommended in out-years in 
order to ensure that maintenance funds remain adequate over time as construction 

1 Garland, Liam, Turning Vision 2050 into Reality: Public Works Capital Improvement Plan for Fiscal 
Year 2022 (p. 6), March 16, 2021 Worksession Item 3b, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-
_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx and Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 
Pavement Management System Update, p.6, Jan. 2021
2 Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan p. 1, City 
Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa

Page 1 of 49

79

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
arichardson
Typewritten Text
07



2

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

costs rise. A dollar of maintenance early in a street’s life-cycle saves $8 later in the 
street’s life-cycle due to avoided rehabilitation and/or reconstruction costs associated 
with failing streets, making this budget request an urgent matter of fiscal oversight.3  
    

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Berkeley’s Streets Are Rated Among the Worst in the Bay Area, Costing 
Motorists an Extra $1,049 Annually for Vehicle Repair. Compared to other 
jurisdictions in the Bay Area, Berkeley has the 15th worst Pavement Condition Index 
(PCI) rating out of 101 cities in the nine-county jurisdiction covered by the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission, the federally designated transportation 
planning organization for the Bay Area.4 The general condition of streets is measured 
by PCI, a numerical rating from 0 to 100, as shown in Exhibit 1. Berkeley’s streets 
were rated in 2021 at an average of 56 out of 100, meaning they are “at risk”—
defined as deteriorated pavement that requires immediate attention, including 
rehabilitative work. At this rating, ride quality is significantly inferior compared to 
better pavement ratings, impacting all roadway users including pedestrians, 
bicyclists, and motorists. At-risk conditions cost drivers $1,049 annually, according to 
TRIP, a national transportation research group, due to vehicle repair costs, 
accelerated vehicle deterioration and depreciation, increased maintenance costs, 
and additional fuel consumption.5 This pavement condition disproportionately harms 
lower-income residents for whom extra vehicle costs consume a greater share of 
income. In Attachment 1, we include a list of all City streets and their respective PCI 
rating in 2020, provided by the Public Works Department. 

3 L. Galehouse, J. S. Moulthrop, and R. G. Hicks, “Principles of pavement preservation: definitions, 
benefits, issues, and barriers,” TR News, pp. 4–15, 2003 as cited in City Manager, Discuss Vision 
2050, Infrastructure Priorities, Stakeholder and Community Engagement, and City’s Bonding Capacity; 
and Seek Direction on November 2022 Revenue Measure(s) Presentation slide 4, City Council 
Worksession Item 1, Jan. 20, 2022
4  Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 2, 
Nov. 19, 2020
5 Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 3, 
Nov. 19, 2020

Page 2 of 49

80

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf


3

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 1: Pavement Condition Index (PCI) is a Numerical Rating for the General 
Condition of Streets

Source: Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 
5, Nov. 19, 2020

With Current Street Maintenance Budget, Berkeley’s Streets Will Continue to 
Deteriorate. In recent fiscal years, the total annual amount that the City of Berkeley 
has budgeted for street maintenance has fluctuated from $4.9 million in FY 2018-19 

Page 3 of 49

81

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf


4

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

to as much as $11.3 million in FY 2015-16, as shown in Exhibit 2.6 The City has 
added one-time bond funding to enhance the annual street paving budget through 
Measures M and T1 in recent fiscal years. However, the General Fund contribution to 
street maintenance has remained flat at $1.9 million, shown as Capital Improvement 
Fund in Exhibit 2.  

Exhibit 2: General Fund Contribution to Street Maintenance Has Remained Flat 
at $1.9 Million Since FY 2013-14 (Dollars in Millions)

Funding Source FY 
2013-14

FY 
2014-15

FY 
2015-16

FY 
2016-17

FY 
2017-18

FY 
2018-19

FY 
2019-20 Total

Non-Recurring Funding $2.5 $6.0 $6.1 $6.0 $4.4 $2.8 $27.8
  Measure M $2.5 $6.0 $6.0 $6.0 $4.4 $24.9
  Measure T1 $2.6 $2.6
  Measure T1 - AAO #1 $0.3 $0.3
  Successor Agency - WBIP $0.1 $0.1
Recurring Funding $3.5 $4.0 $5.2 $5.2 $4.3 $4.9 $7.0 $34.1
  State Transportation Tax
  Fund $0.8 $0.8 $0.8 $0.8 $0.5 $0.5 $0.5 $4.7

  State Transportation Tax
  Fund - SB1 $1.5 $1.5

  Measure B $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $5.0
  Measure BB $1.6 $1.6 $1.1 $1.6 $2.2 $8.1
  Measure F $0.1 $0.6 $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $1.3
  Capital Improvement Fund1 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $13.5
Total $6.0 $10.0 $11.3 $11.2 $8.7 $4.9 $9.8 $61.9

1Capital Improvement Fund is from the City’s General Fund.
Source: Berkeley City Auditor 

Significantly, the total annual street paving budget has never approached the full 
$15.1 million needed to maintain the existing PCI of 56 and prevent further 
deterioration.7 At the funding level proposed for FY 2022-23 through FY 2026-27 of 
$7.3 million annually8, the City’s pavement condition will continue to fall: 

● The City’s PCI will deteriorate to 51 by the year 2025, as shown in Exhibit 3 for 
the Current Budget Scenario9; and 

● The City’s PCI will deteriorate to 30 by the year 2050.10

6 Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 6, 
Nov. 19, 2020. 
7 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p.6, 
Jan. 2021
8 Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan p. 1, City 
Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa
9 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 6, 
Jan. 2021
10 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 9, 
Jan. 2021

Page 4 of 49

82

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


5

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 3: With Current Street Maintenance Budget, City’s Pavement Condition 
Index is Projected to Continue to Decline 

 
Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 6, Jan. 2021

City Council Approved Paving Plan for Next Three Fiscal Years (FY 2022-23 
through FY 2024-25) Prioritizes Residential and Collector Streets at Expense of 
Arterials Due to Insufficient Maintenance Funds. Because of the inadequate 
street paving budget, the City makes difficult choices about which streets to pave and 
which to allow to deteriorate further. Over the next three fiscal years, residential 
streets (roads that run through neighborhoods and carry few buses or trucks11, other 
than refuse vehicles) and collector streets (which serve to “collect” traffic from 
residential streets and deposit them onto arterials) will receive 97 percent of paving 
resources, as shown in Exhibit 4. Arterial streets, which carry the most car, truck, and 
bus traffic, and typically provide an outlet on to state highways and freeways, will 
receive 3 percent of paving resources over the next three fiscal years. This action 
was taken because residential streets have historically been underfunded to the point 
that they now have a lower average PCI (55) than arterial streets (PCI of 63) and 
collector streets (PCI of 61).12 

11 Anecdotally, some residential streets are heavily impacted by trucks shortcutting arterial streets. 
This is especially true of Addison West, and other streets along major commercial roads in Central 
and South Berkeley.
12 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 
14, Jan. 2021

Page 5 of 49

83

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


6

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 4: Arterial Streets Will Only Receive 3 Percent of Paving Funds Over 
Next Three Fiscal Years (FY 2022-23 through FY 2024-25)

Mileage Estimated Cost % Cost
Arterial 0.31 $784,871 3%
Collector 3.4 $10,963,742 42%
Residential 6.82 $14,258,806 55%
Total 10.53 $26,007,419 100%

Source: Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan pgs. 
9-11, City Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa

Deferring Street Maintenance Makes Street Paving and Repair Eight Times 
More Expensive Later. The City’s inability to adequately maintain a street early in its 
life-cycle leads to escalating costs that are eight times higher later in a street’s life-
cycle, as shown in Exhibit 5.13 In the case of arterial streets that will not be 
maintained over the next three fiscal years, a predictable outcome is that they will 
deteriorate precipitously due to lack of investment and costs to repair them will rise 
exponentially, absent additional resources for street maintenance. 

Exhibit 5: Conducting Street Paving and Repair Later in a Street’s Life Cycle is 
Eight Times More Expensive

Source: L. Galehouse, J. S. Moulthrop, and R. G. Hicks, “Principles of pavement preservation: 
definitions, benefits, issues, and barriers,” TR News, pp. 4–15, 2003 as cited in City Manager, Discuss 
Vision 2050, Infrastructure Priorities, Stakeholder and Community Engagement, and City’s Bonding 
Capacity; and Seek Direction on November 2022 Revenue Measure(s) Presentation slide 4, City 
Council Worksession Item 1, Jan. 20, 2022 

13 : L. Galehouse, J. S. Moulthrop, and R. G. Hicks, “Principles of pavement preservation: definitions, 
benefits, issues, and barriers,” TR News, pp. 4–15, 2003 as cited in City Manager, Discuss Vision 
2050, Infrastructure Priorities, Stakeholder and Community Engagement, and City’s Bonding 
Capacity; and Seek Direction on November 2022 Revenue Measure(s) Presentation slide 4, City 
Council Worksession Item 1, Jan. 20, 2022 

Page 6 of 49

84

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf


7

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Inadequate Street Paving Budget Has Led to an Estimated $268 Million in 
Deferred Maintenance and Growing. Because the City’s street paving budget has 
historically been underfunded for the last 15 years, a significant backlog of deferred 
street maintenance has accumulated that is now estimated at about $268 million.14 
This amount is as large as the City’s entire revised General Fund budget for FY 
2021-22 of $269 million.15 Deferred street maintenance has grown exponentially over 
the last decade. In a 2011 audit Failing Streets: Time to Change Direction to Achieve 
Sustainability, the City Auditor found that Berkeley needed an estimated total of $54 
million to address the backlog of street maintenance and improve the average PCI 
from 58 to 75.16 Over the past 11 years, that amount has grown five times to a $268 
million unfunded liability in 2022 and will continue to grow precipitously in the future:  

● In five years in 2027, deferred street maintenance is estimated to total $396 
million.

● In 10 years in 2032, deferred street maintenance is estimated to total $503 
million.

● By 2050, deferred street maintenance is estimated to total $1.1 billion, as 
shown in Exhibit 6.

14 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 
10, Jan. 2021. We note that the estimate of $268 million in deferred street maintenance only accounts 
for paving, not other “Complete Streets” infrastructure. Public Works staff are currently revising this 
deferred maintenance estimate to reflect the recently adopted Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation 
Policy target of citywide average PCI in the good condition, 70-79.  
15 City Manager, Amendment: FY 2022 Annual Appropriations Ordinance, City Council Meeting Dec. 
14, 2021, Item 45, Revised Material (Supp 3), 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/City_Council__12-14-2021_-
_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx 
16 Hogan, Anne-Marie, Failing Streets: Time to Change Direction to Achieve Sustainability, Nov. 15, 
2011

Page 7 of 49

85

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Streets%20Audit%20Report_Final(2).pdf


8

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 6: With Current Street Paving Budget, Deferred Maintenance Grows to 
More than $1 Billion by 2050

Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 10, Jan. 2021

Regardless of Any Future Possible Infrastructure Revenue Measure, City Must 
Demonstrate Fiscal Commitment to Adequate Street Maintenance. The City is 
considering a revenue ballot measure for the November 2022 election to fund 
infrastructure liabilities. While the amount has yet to be determined, if successful, the 
measure would effectively increase residents’ taxes as a way to reduce the backlog 
of deferred street maintenance and increase the average PCI. However, without an 
adequate annual street maintenance budget of at least $15.1 million, even a large 
revenue measure would only have a temporary effect on the City’s average 
pavement condition. In Exhibit 7, a 30-year projection for various funding scenarios 
shows that the scenario of a $325 million general obligation bond with no increase to 
the City’s annual street maintenance budget would lead to a PCI of 58 by the year 
2050—the green line; this would essentially return the City to its current street 
pavement condition. 

Page 8 of 49

86

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


9

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 7: A Large Revenue Measure Without Adequate Maintenance Funds 
Only Temporarily Stalls PCI Decline

Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 10, Jan. 2021

BACKGROUND
Lessons Learned from 2012 Measure M for Streets. Measure M raised $30 million 
in general obligation bond funds for street maintenance, falling short of the $54 
million of identified deferred maintenance.17 Because Aa Complete Streets approach 
was also applied, which—at the time—funded sidewalk repair, green infrastructure, 
as well as bike and pedestrian improvements.  only This approach meant that about 
75 to 85 percent of the $30 million went toward street paving, with the remaining 
funds paying for Complete Streets improvements. Because the funding was 
inadequate to fully clear the backlog of deferred street pavingmaintenance, and 
additional annual maintenance funding was not added to the budget, Measure M only 
succeeded in temporarily stalling the decline in the City’s pavement condition. Today, 
sidewalk improvements are budgeted separately from street paving, and the City has 
a clear understanding of the cost of funding Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan upgrades; 
however, the cost of green infrastructure improvements are harder to predict. The 
City should be aware of the additional costs associated with green infrastructure as 

17 City Auditor Report, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 13, 
Nov. 19, 2020 

Page 9 of 49

87

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf


10

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

well as the Bicycle Plan and Pedestrian Plan when planning and budgeting for 
deferred street maintenance.  

FISCAL IMPACT
City Needs a Minimum of $15.1 Million Annually to Avoid Further Pavement 
Deterioration. Regardless of the outcome of a possible infrastructure revenue 
measure on the November 2022 ballot, it is recommended that the City begin to 
address the shortfall of street maintenance funds to avoid further deterioration of the 
pavement condition. At a minimum, we recommend that the City slightly exceed the 
$8 million additional need by contributing $3 million of ongoing funds in FY 2022-23, 
an additional $3 million of ongoing funds in FY 2023-24, and a final addition of $3 
million in ongoing funds in FY 2024-25, as displayed in Exhibit 8 below. This total of 
$9 million, in addition to the existing allocation of $7.3 million for annual street 
maintenance18, will provide the City with about $1.2 million more than the minimum 
total of $15.1 million to account for inflation.19

Exhibit 8: Minimum Recommendation for Fiscal Plan to Adequately Fund Street 
Maintenance (Dollars in Millions)

Ongoing Amount
FY 2022-23 $3
FY 2023-24 $3
FY 2024-25 $3
Subtotal $9
Existing Budget $7.3
Total $16.31

1Includes more than $15.1 million to account for inflation.

$15.1 Million Annually Maintains Current Pavement Condition, But Deferred 
Maintenance Grows By 23 Percent. To maintain a PCI of 57, it is projected by 
Pavement Engineering Inc. that an average funding level of $15.1 million annually is 
needed, as shown in Exhibit 9. At this funding level, the backlog of deferred street 
maintenance grows from $250 million in 2021 to $307 million in 2025, an increase of 
23 percent.

18 Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan p. 1, City 
Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa
19 Garland, Liam, Turning Vision 2050 into Reality: Public Works Capital Improvement Plan for Fiscal 
Year 2022 (p. 6), March 16, 2021 Worksession Item 3b, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-
_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx and Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 
Pavement Management System Update, p.6, Jan. 2021

Page 10 of 49

88

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


11

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 9: $15.1 Million Annually Maintains PCI of 57 

Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 8, Jan. 2021

$24 Million Annually Gradually Increases Pavement Condition, With Deferred 
Maintenance Growing at a Slower Rate of 7 Percent. To increase the PCI by 5 
points from 57 to 62, it is projected by Pavement Engineering Inc. that an average 
funding level of $24 million annually would be needed.20 At this funding level, the 
backlog of deferred street maintenance grows from $244 million in 2021 to $260 
million in 2025, an increase of 7 percent.

Street Paving and Maintenance is a Core Service that Aligns with our Strategic 
Plan. Providing state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and 
facilities is one of the priorities articulated in our Strategic Plan, adopted in January 
2018. This plan sets forth the long-term goals that Berkeley City government will 
achieve on behalf of its residents and acts as a conceptual guide to help ensure 
these goals are met.21 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS
Good street conditions will improve safety for pedestrians, cyclists, users of micro- 
mobility devices, and public transit users. Using alternatives to driving cars will 
decrease our greenhouse gas emissions, which aligns with another of the City’s 

20 Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 8, Jan. 2021
21 See City of Berkeley 2018-2019 Strategic Plan presented to Berkeley City Council on January 16, 
2018.

Page 11 of 49

89

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/City_Manager/Level_3_-_General/berkeley-2018-strategic-plan.pdf


12

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Strategic Plan priorities to be a global leader in addressing climate change, 
protecting the environment, and advancing environmental justice. 

CONTACT
Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani, District 1                                          (510) 981-7110

Attachment:
Attachment 1 - City of Berkeley Roads (by PCI as of 2020) from Pavement 
Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, 
pgs. 39-78, Jan. 2021

  

                                                                                                           

Page 12 of 49

90

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


Rashi Kesarwani
Councilmember, District 1
                                                                                                                     CONSENT CALENDAR
                                                                                                  FEBRUARY 22, 2022

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

FROM: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani (Author) and Councilmembers 
Terry Taplin and Susan Wengraf (Co-Sponsors)

SUBJECT: Budget Referral: Street Maintenance Funding to Prevent 
Further Deterioration of Pavement Condition to Save Tax Dollars 
and Our Streets

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the FY 2022-23 budget process to establish a three-year plan (FY 2022-23 
through FY 2024-25) to fully fund an adequate street paving budget that prevents 
further deterioration of the City’s pavement condition. At the end of the three-year 
period, the fiscal plan should allocate a minimum total of $8 million in additional 
ongoing annual General Fund—bringing the total street paving annual budget to at 
least $15.1 million—the minimum amount needed to maintain pavement condition, as 
identified by our Public Works Department.1 

We recommend that the City slightly exceed the $8 million General Fund need by 
contributing $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 2022-23, an additional $3 million of 
ongoing funds in FY 2023-24, and a final addition of $3 million in ongoing funds in FY 
2024-25. This total of $9 million, in addition to the existing allocation of $7.3 million 
for annual street maintenance2, will provide the City with about $1.2 million more than 
the minimum total of $15.1 million to account for inflation.

A three-year plan is suggested to give the City time to gradually enhance street 
paving resources, and annual inflation adjustments are recommended in out-years in 
order to ensure that maintenance funds remain adequate over time as construction 

1 Garland, Liam, Turning Vision 2050 into Reality: Public Works Capital Improvement Plan for Fiscal 
Year 2022 (p. 6), March 16, 2021 Worksession Item 3b, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-
_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx and Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 
Pavement Management System Update, p.6, Jan. 2021
2 Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan p. 1, City 
Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa

Page 13 of 49

91

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf


2

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

costs rise. A dollar of maintenance early in a street’s life-cycle saves $8 later in the 
street’s life-cycle due to avoided rehabilitation and/or reconstruction costs associated 
with failing streets, making this budget request an urgent matter of fiscal oversight.3  
    

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Berkeley’s Streets Are Rated Among the Worst in the Bay Area, Costing 
Motorists an Extra $1,049 Annually for Vehicle Repair. Compared to other 
jurisdictions in the Bay Area, Berkeley has the 15th worst Pavement Condition Index 
(PCI) rating out of 101 cities in the nine-county jurisdiction covered by the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission, the federally designated transportation 
planning organization for the Bay Area.4 The general condition of streets is measured 
by PCI, a numerical rating from 0 to 100, as shown in Exhibit 1. Berkeley’s streets 
were rated in 2021 at an average of 56 out of 100, meaning they are “at risk”—
defined as deteriorated pavement that requires immediate attention, including 
rehabilitative work. At this rating, ride quality is significantly inferior compared to 
better pavement ratings, impacting all roadway users including pedestrians, 
bicyclists, and motorists. At-risk conditions cost drivers $1,049 annually, according to 
TRIP, a national transportation research group, due to vehicle repair costs, 
accelerated vehicle deterioration and depreciation, increased maintenance costs, 
and additional fuel consumption.5 This pavement condition disproportionately harms 
lower-income residents for whom extra vehicle costs consume a greater share of 
income. In Attachment 1, we include a list of all City streets and their respective PCI 
rating in 2020, provided by the Public Works Department. 

3 L. Galehouse, J. S. Moulthrop, and R. G. Hicks, “Principles of pavement preservation: definitions, 
benefits, issues, and barriers,” TR News, pp. 4–15, 2003 as cited in City Manager, Discuss Vision 
2050, Infrastructure Priorities, Stakeholder and Community Engagement, and City’s Bonding Capacity; 
and Seek Direction on November 2022 Revenue Measure(s) Presentation slide 4, City Council 
Worksession Item 1, Jan. 20, 2022
4  Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 2, 
Nov. 19, 2020
5 Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 3, 
Nov. 19, 2020

Page 14 of 49

92

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf


3

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 1: Pavement Condition Index (PCI) is a Numerical Rating for the General 
Condition of Streets

Source: Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 
5, Nov. 19, 2020

With Current Street Maintenance Budget, Berkeley’s Streets Will Continue to 
Deteriorate. In recent fiscal years, the total annual amount that the City of Berkeley 
has budgeted for street maintenance has fluctuated from $4.9 million in FY 2018-19 

Page 15 of 49

93

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf


4

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

to as much as $11.3 million in FY 2015-16, as shown in Exhibit 2.6 The City has 
added one-time bond funding to enhance the annual street paving budget through 
Measures M and T1 in recent fiscal years. However, the General Fund contribution to 
street maintenance has remained flat at $1.9 million, shown as Capital Improvement 
Fund in Exhibit 2.  

Exhibit 2: General Fund Contribution to Street Maintenance Has Remained Flat 
at $1.9 Million Since FY 2013-14 (Dollars in Millions)

Funding Source FY 
2013-14

FY 
2014-15

FY 
2015-16

FY 
2016-17

FY 
2017-18

FY 
2018-19

FY 
2019-20 Total

Non-Recurring Funding $2.5 $6.0 $6.1 $6.0 $4.4 $2.8 $27.8
  Measure M $2.5 $6.0 $6.0 $6.0 $4.4 $24.9
  Measure T1 $2.6 $2.6
  Measure T1 - AAO #1 $0.3 $0.3
  Successor Agency - WBIP $0.1 $0.1
Recurring Funding $3.5 $4.0 $5.2 $5.2 $4.3 $4.9 $7.0 $34.1
  State Transportation Tax
  Fund $0.8 $0.8 $0.8 $0.8 $0.5 $0.5 $0.5 $4.7

  State Transportation Tax
  Fund - SB1 $1.5 $1.5

  Measure B $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $0.7 $5.0
  Measure BB $1.6 $1.6 $1.1 $1.6 $2.2 $8.1
  Measure F $0.1 $0.6 $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $1.3
  Capital Improvement Fund1 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $13.5
Total $6.0 $10.0 $11.3 $11.2 $8.7 $4.9 $9.8 $61.9

1Capital Improvement Fund is from the City’s General Fund.
Source: Berkeley City Auditor 

Significantly, the total annual street paving budget has never approached the full 
$15.1 million needed to maintain the existing PCI of 56 and prevent further 
deterioration.7 At the funding level proposed for FY 2022-23 through FY 2026-27 of 
$7.3 million annually8, the City’s pavement condition will continue to fall: 

● The City’s PCI will deteriorate to 51 by the year 2025, as shown in Exhibit 3 for 
the Current Budget Scenario9; and 

● The City’s PCI will deteriorate to 30 by the year 2050.10

6 Berkeley City Auditor, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 6, 
Nov. 19, 2020. 
7 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p.6, 
Jan. 2021
8 Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan p. 1, City 
Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa
9 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 6, 
Jan. 2021
10 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 9, 
Jan. 2021

Page 16 of 49

94

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


5

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 3: With Current Street Maintenance Budget, City’s Pavement Condition 
Index is Projected to Continue to Decline 

 
Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 6, Jan. 2021

City Council Approved Paving Plan for Next Three Fiscal Years (FY 2022-23 
through FY 2024-25) Prioritizes Residential and Collector Streets at Expense of 
Arterials Due to Insufficient Maintenance Funds. Because of the inadequate 
street paving budget, the City makes difficult choices about which streets to pave and 
which to allow to deteriorate further. Over the next three fiscal years, residential 
streets (roads that run through neighborhoods and carry few buses or trucks11, other 
than refuse vehicles) and collector streets (which serve to “collect” traffic from 
residential streets and deposit them onto arterials) will receive 97 percent of paving 
resources, as shown in Exhibit 4. Arterial streets, which carry the most car, truck, and 
bus traffic, and typically provide an outlet on to state highways and freeways, will 
receive 3 percent of paving resources over the next three fiscal years. This action 
was taken because residential streets have historically been underfunded to the point 
that they now have a lower average PCI (55) than arterial streets (PCI of 63) and 
collector streets (PCI of 61).12 

11 Anecdotally, some residential streets are heavily impacted by trucks shortcutting arterial streets. 
This is especially true of Addison West, and other streets along major commercial roads in Central 
and South Berkeley.
12 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 
14, Jan. 2021

Page 17 of 49

95

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


6

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 4: Arterial Streets Will Only Receive 3 Percent of Paving Funds Over 
Next Three Fiscal Years (FY 2022-23 through FY 2024-25)

Mileage Estimated Cost % Cost
Arterial 0.31 $784,871 3%
Collector 3.4 $10,963,742 42%
Residential 6.82 $14,258,806 55%
Total 10.53 $26,007,419 100%

Source: Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan pgs. 
9-11, City Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa

Deferring Street Maintenance Makes Street Paving and Repair Eight Times 
More Expensive Later. The City’s inability to adequately maintain a street early in its 
life-cycle leads to escalating costs that are eight times higher later in a street’s life-
cycle, as shown in Exhibit 5.13 In the case of arterial streets that will not be 
maintained over the next three fiscal years, a predictable outcome is that they will 
deteriorate precipitously due to lack of investment and costs to repair them will rise 
exponentially, absent additional resources for street maintenance. 

Exhibit 5: Conducting Street Paving and Repair Later in a Street’s Life Cycle is 
Eight Times More Expensive

Source: L. Galehouse, J. S. Moulthrop, and R. G. Hicks, “Principles of pavement preservation: 
definitions, benefits, issues, and barriers,” TR News, pp. 4–15, 2003 as cited in City Manager, Discuss 
Vision 2050, Infrastructure Priorities, Stakeholder and Community Engagement, and City’s Bonding 
Capacity; and Seek Direction on November 2022 Revenue Measure(s) Presentation slide 4, City 
Council Worksession Item 1, Jan. 20, 2022 

13 : L. Galehouse, J. S. Moulthrop, and R. G. Hicks, “Principles of pavement preservation: definitions, 
benefits, issues, and barriers,” TR News, pp. 4–15, 2003 as cited in City Manager, Discuss Vision 
2050, Infrastructure Priorities, Stakeholder and Community Engagement, and City’s Bonding 
Capacity; and Seek Direction on November 2022 Revenue Measure(s) Presentation slide 4, City 
Council Worksession Item 1, Jan. 20, 2022 

Page 18 of 49

96

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/Work%20Session%20Presentation.pdf


7

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Inadequate Street Paving Budget Has Led to an Estimated $268 Million in 
Deferred Maintenance and Growing. Because the City’s street paving budget has 
historically been underfunded for the last 15 years, a significant backlog of deferred 
street maintenance has accumulated that is now estimated at about $268 million.14 
This amount is as large as the City’s entire revised General Fund budget for FY 
2021-22 of $269 million.15 Deferred street maintenance has grown exponentially over 
the last decade. In a 2011 audit Failing Streets: Time to Change Direction to Achieve 
Sustainability, the City Auditor found that Berkeley needed an estimated total of $54 
million to address the backlog of street maintenance and improve the average PCI 
from 58 to 75.16 Over the past 11 years, that amount has grown five times to a $268 
million unfunded liability in 2022 and will continue to grow precipitously in the future:  

● In five years in 2027, deferred street maintenance is estimated to total $396 
million.

● In 10 years in 2032, deferred street maintenance is estimated to total $503 
million.

● By 2050, deferred street maintenance is estimated to total $1.1 billion, as 
shown in Exhibit 6.

14 Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, p. 
10, Jan. 2021
15 City Manager, Amendment: FY 2022 Annual Appropriations Ordinance, City Council Meeting Dec. 
14, 2021, Item 45, Revised Material (Supp 3), 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/City_Council__12-14-2021_-
_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx 
16 Hogan, Anne-Marie, Failing Streets: Time to Change Direction to Achieve Sustainability, Nov. 15, 
2011

Page 19 of 49

97

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Streets%20Audit%20Report_Final(2).pdf


8

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 6: With Current Street Paving Budget, Deferred Maintenance Grows to 
More than $1 Billion by 2050

Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 10, Jan. 2021

Regardless of Any Future Possible Infrastructure Revenue Measure, City Must 
Demonstrate Fiscal Commitment to Adequate Street Maintenance. The City is 
considering a revenue ballot measure for the November 2022 election to fund 
infrastructure liabilities. While the amount has yet to be determined, if successful, the 
measure would effectively increase residents’ taxes as a way to reduce the backlog 
of deferred street maintenance and increase the average PCI. However, without an 
adequate annual street maintenance budget of at least $15.1 million, even a large 
revenue measure would only have a temporary effect on the City’s average 
pavement condition. In Exhibit 7, a 30-year projection for various funding scenarios 
shows that the scenario of a $325 million general obligation bond with no increase to 
the City’s annual street maintenance budget would lead to a PCI of 58 by the year 
2050—the green line; this would essentially return the City to its current street 
pavement condition. 

Page 20 of 49

98

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


9

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Exhibit 7: A Large Revenue Measure Without Adequate Maintenance Funds 
Only Temporarily Stalls PCI Decline

Source: Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System 
Update, p. 10, Jan. 2021

BACKGROUND
Lessons Learned from 2012 Measure M for Streets. Measure M raised $30 million 
in general obligation bond funds for street maintenance, falling short of the $54 
million of identified deferred maintenance.17 Because a Complete Streets approach 
was also applied, only about 75 to 85 percent of the $30 million went toward street 
paving. Because the funding was inadequate to fully clear the backlog of deferred 
street maintenance, and additional annual maintenance funding was not added to the 
budget, Measure M only succeeded in temporarily stalling the decline in the City’s 
pavement condition. 

FISCAL IMPACT
City Needs a Minimum of $15.1 Million Annually to Avoid Further Pavement 
Deterioration. Regardless of the outcome of a possible infrastructure revenue 
measure on the November 2022 ballot, it is recommended that the City begin to 
address the shortfall of street maintenance funds to avoid further deterioration of the 

17 City Auditor Report, Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded, p. 13, 
Nov. 19, 2020 

Page 21 of 49

99

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Auditor/Level_3_-_General/Rocky%20Road-Berkeley%20Streets%20at%20Risk%20and%20Significantly%20Underfunded.pdf


10

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

pavement condition. At a minimum, we recommend that the City slightly exceed the 
$8 million additional need by contributing $3 million of ongoing funds in FY 2022-23, 
an additional $3 million of ongoing funds in FY 2023-24, and a final addition of $3 
million in ongoing funds in FY 2024-25, as displayed in Exhibit 8 below. This total of 
$9 million, in addition to the existing allocation of $7.3 million for annual street 
maintenance18, will provide the City with about $1.2 million more than the minimum 
total of $15.1 million to account for inflation.19

Exhibit 8: Minimum Recommendation for Fiscal Plan to Adequately Fund Street 
Maintenance (Dollars in Millions)

Ongoing Amount
FY 2022-23 $3
FY 2023-24 $3
FY 2024-25 $3
Subtotal $9
Existing Budget $7.3
Total $16.31

1Includes more than $15.1 million to account for inflation.

Street Paving and Maintenance is a Core Service that Aligns with our Strategic 
Plan. Providing state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and 
facilities is one of the priorities articulated in our Strategic Plan, adopted in January 
2018. This plan sets forth the long-term goals that Berkeley City government will 
achieve on behalf of its residents and acts as a conceptual guide to help ensure 
these goals are met.20 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Good street conditions will improve safety for pedestrians, cyclists, users of micro- 
mobility devices, and public transit users. Using alternatives to driving cars will 
decrease our greenhouse gas emissions, which aligns with another of the City’s 
Strategic Plan priorities to be a global leader in addressing climate change, 
protecting the environment, and advancing environmental justice. 

CONTACT
Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani, District 1                                          (510) 981-7110

18 Garland, Liam, Street Maintenance and Rehabilitation Policy and Five-Year Paving Plan p. 1, City 
Council Meeting Jan. 20, 2022, Item Aa
19 Garland, Liam, Turning Vision 2050 into Reality: Public Works Capital Improvement Plan for Fiscal 
Year 2022 (p. 6), March 16, 2021 Worksession Item 3b, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-
_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx and Pavement Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 
Pavement Management System Update, p.6, Jan. 2021
20 See City of Berkeley 2018-2019 Strategic Plan presented to Berkeley City Council on January 16, 
2018.

Page 22 of 49

100

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/City_Council/2022/01_Jan/Documents/2022-01-25%20Item%20Aa%20Street%20Maintenance%20and%20Rehabilitation.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/City_Council__03-16-2021_-_Special_(WS)_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/City_Manager/Level_3_-_General/berkeley-2018-strategic-plan.pdf


11

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Attachment:
Attachment 1 - City of Berkeley Roads (by PCI as of 2020) from Pavement 
Engineering Inc., City of Berkeley 2020/21 Pavement Management System Update, 
pgs. 39-78, Jan. 2021

  

                                                                                                           

Page 23 of 49

101

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Sidewalks,_Streets_-_Utility/Berkeley_PTAP21_Final%20Report_011521.pdf


1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 1 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

10TH ST 047 DELAWARE ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 950 36 R 15

10TH ST 045 VIRGINIA ST DELAWARE ST 2 675 36 R 16

10TH ST 060 DWIGHT WAY HEINZ AVE 2 2520 36 R 19

10TH ST 044 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 675 36 R 51

10TH ST 042 CAMELIA ST CEDAR ST 2 1320 36 R 68

10TH ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 3005 36 R 94

10TH ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HARRISON ST 2 450 36 R 95

10TH ST 033 HARRISON ST CAMELIA ST 2 1270 36 R 95

2ND ST 043 PAGE ST CEDAR ST 2 820 40 R 8

2ND ST 044 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 740 40 R 9

2ND ST 047 DELAWARE ST HEARST AVE 2 475 42 R 12

2ND ST 040 CAMELIA ST PAGE ST 2 450 40 R 28

2ND ST 048 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 2 490 40 R 33

2ND ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 2 450 35 R 34

2ND ST 035 GILMAN ST CAMELIA ST 2 655 40 R 41

2ND ST 045 VIRGINIA ST HEARST AVE 2 1115 42 R 46

2ND ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 1305 63 R 50

4TH ST 054 ADDISON ST CHANNING WAY 2 1810 36 C 33

4TH ST 056 CHANNING WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 615 36 C 66

4TH ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 2 450 35 R 70

4TH ST 044 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 665 36 R 73

4TH ST 040 CAMELIA ST CEDAR ST 2 1330 36 R 79

4TH ST 030 HARRISON ST CAMELIA ST 2 1375 36 R 82

4TH ST 048 DELAWARE ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 950 28 R 89

4TH ST 046 VIRGINIA ST DELAWARE ST 2 665 36 R 90

4TH ST 060 DWIGHT WAY PARKER ST 2 600 21 NCR 96

5TH ST 040 CAMELIA ST CEDAR ST 2 1320 48 R 27

5TH ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 2990 34 R 29

5TH ST 065 END NORTH OF ANTHONY ST POTTER ST 2 390 36 R 35

5TH ST 044 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 675 44 R 71

5TH ST 045 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1650 44 R 76

5TH ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HARRISON ST 2 400 41 R 82

5TH ST 033 HARRISON ST CAMELIA ST 2 1305 48 R 86

62ND ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY CITY LIMIT (DOVER ST) 2 525 36 R 30

62ND ST 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (CALIFORNIA) ADELINE ST 2 985 36 R 36

63RD ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY CITY LIMIT (DOVER ST) 2 400 36 R 28

63RD ST 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (CALIFORNIA) ADELINE ST 2 1220 36 R 40

65TH ST 060 ADELINE ST 680' E/O ADELINE ST 2 680 36 R 32

65TH ST 045 WEST CITY LIMIT (IDAHO) IDAHO ST 2 191 33 R 47

66TH ST 045 WEST CITY LIMIT (MABEL) SACRAMENTO ST 2 1418 36 R 54

67TH ST 045 WEST CITY LIMIT (MABEL) SACRAMENTO ST 2 1465 30 R 85

6TH ST 044 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 4 675 59 C 54

6TH ST 045 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 4 1625 59 C 63

6TH ST 040 CAMELIA ST CEDAR ST 2 1320 48 C 75

6TH ST 035 GILMAN ST CAMELIA ST 2 640 48 C 84

6TH ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 1140 42 R 85
Page 1 of 26

Page 24 of 49

102



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 2 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

6TH ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ALLSTON WAY 2 1000 48 C 93

6TH ST 055 ALLSTON WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1955 48 C 97

7TH ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE BANCROFT WAY 2 1670 36 R 31

7TH ST 055 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1330 36 R 32

7TH ST 045 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1625 36 R 36

7TH ST 030 HARRISON ST CAMELIA ST 2 1350 34 R 37

7TH ST 070 ASHBY AVE FOLGER AVE 2 364 34 C 38

7TH ST 040 CAMELIA ST VIRGINIA ST 2 1995 36 R 41

7TH ST 060 DWIGHT WAY GRAYSON ST 2 1844 41 C 74

7TH ST 065 GRAYSON ST HEINZ AVE 2 690 41 C 80

7TH ST 067 HEINZ AVE ASHBY AVE 2 1010 46 C 84

8TH ST 042 PAGE ST JONES ST 2 460 35 R 16

8TH ST 045 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1625 37 R 18

8TH ST 044 JONES ST VIRGINIA ST 2 1095 35 R 19

8TH ST 055 COLUMBUS SCHOOL DWIGHT WAY 2 1705 36 R 20

8TH ST 063 CARLETON ST PARDEE ST 2 304 34 R 25

8TH ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ALLSTON WAY 2 1010 36 R 29

8TH ST 034 GILMAN ST CAMELIA ST 2 625 35 R 35

8TH ST 040 CAMELIA ST PAGE ST 2 440 34 R 42

8TH ST 065 PARDEE ST HEINZ AVE 2 962 36 R 75

8TH ST 061 DWIGHT WAY PARKER ST 2 660 36 R 78

8TH ST 062 PARKER ST CARLETON ST 2 545 33 R 80

8TH ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 1185 36 R 84

9TH ST 063 PARDEE ST HEINZ AVE 2 1000 48 R 24

9TH ST 048 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 2 480 48 R 65

9TH ST 046 DELAWARE ST HEARST AVE 2 480 48 R 68

9TH ST 043 CEDAR ST DELAWARE ST 2 1330 48 R 70

9TH ST 069 ASHBY ST MURRAY ST 2 150 36 R 79

9TH ST 052 UNIVERSITY AVE BANCROFT WAY 2 1635 48 R 80

9TH ST 056 CHANNING WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 665 48 R 85

9TH ST 040 CAMELIA ST CEDAR ST 2 1330 47 R 86

9TH ST 060 DWIGHT WAY PARDEE ST 2 1444 43 R 86

9TH ST 066 HEINZ AVE JOG JUST NORTH OF 
ANTHONY 2 410 36 R 87

9TH ST 054 BANCROFT WAY CHANNING WAY 2 705 48 R 87

9TH ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT CAMELIA ST 2 1720 46 R 89

9TH ST 068 JOG JUST NORTH OF ANTHONY ASHBY ST 2 340 38 R 95

ACACIA AVE 070 CRAGMONT AVE EUCLID AVE 2 500 22 R 16

ACROFT CT 040 ACTON ST DEAD END (ACTON ST) 2 270 20 R 63

ACTON CIRCLE 050 DEAD END (ACTON CRESCENT) ACTON CRESCENT 2 120 21 R 29

ACTON CRESCENT 040 ACTON ST EAST DEAD END (ACTON ST) 2 470 21 R 30

ACTON ST 063 PARKER ST WARD ST 2 895 36 R 15

ACTON ST 061 BLAKE ST PARKER ST 2 325 36 R 17

ACTON ST 065 WARD ST RUSSELL ST 2 1154 36 R 19

ACTON ST 055 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1330 36 R 20

ACTON ST 035 HOPKINS ST ROSE ST 2 640 28 R 22

ACTON ST 038 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 635 34 R 23
Page 2 of 26

Page 25 of 49

103



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 3 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

ACTON ST 052 ADDISON ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 340 30 R 42

ACTON ST 060 DWIGHT WAY BLAKE ST 2 320 36 R 42

ACTON ST 050 ADDISON ST BANCROFT WAY 2 1350 26 R 43

ACTON ST 040 CEDAR ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 2260 34 R 44

ACTON ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HOPKINS ST 2 1085 36 R 65

ACTON ST 069 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 491 36 R 79

ACTON ST 070 ASHBY ST 66TH ST 2 1234 36 R 86

ADA ST 045 ORDWAY ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1350 30 R 25

ADA ST 055 CALIFORNIA ST MC GEE ST 2 360 36 R 71

ADA ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST CALIFORNIA ST 2 500 36 R 79

ADDISON ST 030 6TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1642 36 R 16

ADDISON ST 025 4TH ST 6TH ST 2 680 36 R 19

ADDISON ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE CURTIS ST 2 730 36 R 23

ADDISON ST 062 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 700 31 R 35

ADDISON ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2620 36 R 40

ADDISON ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 670 37 R 52

ADDISON ST 044 BROWNING ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1900 36 R 55

ADDISON ST 010 AQUATIC PARK RRX 2 466 36 R 75

ADDISON ST 015 RRX 4TH ST 2 322 36 R 83

ADDISON ST 066 SHATTUCK AVE OXFORD ST 2 490 37 R 90

ADDISON ST 064 SHATTUCK AVE SHATTUCK AVE 2 180 39 R 100

ADELINE (NB) 076 ALCATRAZ AVE MLK/ ADELINE ST 2 890 37 A 75

ADELINE ST 070 ASHBY AVE MLK/ ADELINE ST 4 1420 85 A 73

ADELINE ST 078 ALCATRAZ AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT (KING ST) 5 1045 70 A 75

ADELINE ST 060 DERBY ST STUART ST 4 750 85 A 100

ADELINE ST 064 STUART ST ASHBY AVE 4 1480 84 A 100

ADELINE ST (SB) 074 ADELINE ST/ MARTIN LUTHER 
KING J ALCATRAZ AVE 2 945 36 A 69

AJAX PL 080 AJAX LANE SUMMIT RD 2 305 20 R 13

ALAMO AVE 010 SPRUCE ST HALKIN LANE 2 840 20 R 20

ALBINA AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HOPKINS ST 2 730 32 R 82

ALCATRAZ AVE 080 CITY LIMIT (COLLEGE AVE) CLAREMONT AVE 2 670 36 C 56

ALCATRAZ AVE 050 SACRAMENTO ST ADELINE ST 2 1840 38 C 65

ALCATRAZ AVE 045 WEST CITY LIMIT (IDAHO) SACRAMENTO ST 2 1225 38 C 90

ALCATRAZ AVE 060 ADELINE ST CITY LIMIT (DOVER ST) 2 910 48 C 95

ALLSTON WAY 020 DEAD END 6TH ST 2 930 36 R 20

ALLSTON WAY 030 6TH ST 9TH ST 2 985 36 R 21

ALLSTON WAY 035 9TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 657 36 R 24

ALLSTON WAY 040 SAN PABLO AVE STRAWBERRY CK PARK 2 1430 36 R 33

ALLSTON WAY 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 715 36 R 45

ALLSTON WAY 045 STRAWBERRY CK PARK ACTON ST 2 530 36 R 69

ALLSTON WAY 047 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 640 36 R 69

ALLSTON WAY 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2660 36 R 90

ALLSTON WAY 065 SHATTUCK AVE OXFORD ST 2 590 32 R 100

ALLSTON WAY 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 660 42 R 100

ALTA RD 070 SPRUCE ST CRAGMONT AVE 2 390 22 R 20

ALVARADO RD 094 BRIDGE RD NORTH CITY LIMIT AB WILLOW 
W 2 1890 24 R 44

Page 3 of 26

Page 26 of 49

104



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 4 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

ALVARADO RD 092 NORTH CITY LIMIT BRIDGE RD 2 450 24 R 93

ALVARADO RD 090 TUNNEL RD NORTH CITY LIMIT 2 770 24 R 95

AMADOR AVE 060 SUTTER ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 920 32 R 57

ANTHONY ST 030 5TH ST 7TH ST 2 650 36 R 19

ANTHONY ST 040 7TH ST 9TH ST 2 564 36 R 37

ARCADE AVE 030 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD FAIRLAWN DR 2 310 23 R 100

ARCH ST 030 GLEN AVE CEDAR ST 2 1995 36 R 11

ARCH ST 020 SPRUCE ST EUNICE ST 2 1175 35 R 16

ARCH ST 040 CEDAR ST HEARST AVE 2 1735 31 R 79

ARDEN RD 050 MOSSWOOD RD PANORAMIC WAY 2 610 15 R 97

ARLINGTON AVE 010 NORTH CITY LIMIT (BOYNTON) THOUSAND OAKS BLVD 2 2695 44 C 69

ARLINGTON AVE 015 THOUSAND OAKS BLVD THE CIRCLE 2 2940 49 C 69

ASHBY PL 080 ASHBY AVE & ELMWOOD AVE ASHBY AVE & PIEDMONT AVE 2 600 34 R 90

ATHERTON ST 050 CHANNING WAY HASTE ST 2 325 35 R 20

ATLAS PL 080 HILL RD SUMMIT RD 2 200 20 R 10

AVALON AVE 083 OAK KNOLL TERR CLAREMONT BLVD 2 525 36 R 28

AVALON AVE 082 AVALON WALK OAK KNOLL TERR 2 630 20 R 30

AVALON AVE 084 CLAREMONT BLVD CLAREMONT AVE 2 300 25 R 37

AVENIDA DR 080 QUEENS RD GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 1315 24 R 38

AVENIDA DR 034 CAMPUS DR QUEENS RD 2 445 24 R 81

AVIS RD 060 SAN ANTONIO AVE SAN LUIS RD 2 440 20 R 80

BAKER ST 075 66TH ST SOUTH CITY LIMIT (ALCATRAZ) 2 1019 36 R 62

BANCROFT WAY 080 PIEDMONT AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 670 36 C 26

BANCROFT WAY 082 PIEDMONT AVE WARRING ST 2 350 36 R 28

BANCROFT WAY 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2640 36 R 33

BANCROFT WAY 065 FULTON ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 500 40 C 41

BANCROFT WAY 060 MILVIA WAY SHATTUCK AVE 2 710 40 C 46

BANCROFT WAY 076 BOWDITCH ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 670 40 C 48

BANCROFT WAY 030 6TH ST 7TH ST 2 660 36 R 52

BANCROFT WAY 078 COLLEGE AVE BOWDITCH ST 2 670 40 C 54

BANCROFT WAY 035 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1000 36 R 55

BANCROFT WAY 040 SAN PABLO AVE WEST ST 2 1524 36 R 56

BANCROFT WAY 022 AQUATIC PARK 3RD ST (RR TRACKS) 2 300 36 R 75

BANCROFT WAY 045 WEST ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1121 36 R 75

BANCROFT WAY 024 3RD ST (RR TRACKS) 6TH ST 2 1000 36 R 78

BANCROFT WAY 072 TELEGRAPH AVE DANA ST 2 1200 48 C 90

BANCROFT WAY 074 DANA ST FULTON ST 2 1305 48 C 90

BANCROFT WAY 086 PROSPECT ST PANORAMIC WAY 2 135 30 R 97

BATAAN AVE 030 7TH ST 8TH ST 2 330 22 R 16

BATEMAN ST 070 WEBSTER ST 108 N/O PRINCE ST. 2 475 18 R 85

BATEMAN ST 080 108 N/O PRINCE ST. WOOLSEY 2 323 20 R 88

BAY ST 010 ASHYBY AVE OVERPASS POTTER ST 2 560 26 A 95

BAY VIEW PL 070 SCENIC AVE EUCLID AVE 2 800 30 R 74

BELROSE AVE 060 DERBY ST CLAREMONT BLVD/ GARBER 
ST 2 650 40 C 97

BELVEDERE AVE 035 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 350 30 R 47

BELVEDERE AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 30 R 68
Page 4 of 26

Page 27 of 49

105



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 5 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

BENVENUE AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY RUSSELL ST 2 2660 36 R 34

BENVENUE AVE 065 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 530 36 R 42

BENVENUE AVE 070 ASHBY AVE CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 1165 36 R 47

BERKELEY WAY 046 WEST ST PATHWAY SACRAMENTO ST 2 1320 30 R 23

BERKELEY WAY 050 SACRAMENTO ST GRANT ST 2 1920 32 R 41

BERKELEY WAY 045 CHESTNUT ST WEST ST PATHWAY 2 435 24 R 48

BERKELEY WAY 058 GRANT ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 670 36 R 48

BERKELEY WAY 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA WAY 2 700 34 R 65

BERKELEY WAY 063 MILVIA WAY SHATTUCK AVE 2 645 40 R 70

BERKELEY WAY 065 SHATTUCK AVE OXFORD ST 2 740 47 R 76

BERRYMAN ST 063 MILVIA ST HENRY ST 2 303 36 R 57

BERRYMAN ST 064 HENRY ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 367 36 R 76

BERRYMAN ST 055 WEST END MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 495 36 R 80

BERRYMAN ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 640 36 R 82

BEVERLY PL 050 WEST CITY LIMIT COP W/O 
MONTER HOPKINS ST 2 1830 36 R 68

BLAKE ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 688 48 R 19

BLAKE ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 48 R 19

BLAKE ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE SACRAMENTO ST 2 2442 36 R 19

BLAKE ST 070 FULTON ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 1910 36 R 20

BLAKE ST 055 MC GEE ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 1280 36 R 20

BLAKE ST 065 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 575 36 R 34

BLAKE ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MC GEE ST 2 1270 36 R 76

BOISE ST 075 66TH ST HARMON ST 2 505 36 R 65

BONAR ST 051 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 2 314 36 R 97

BONAR ST 053 ADDISON ST ALLSTON WAY 2 670 36 R 97

BONAR ST 055 ALLSTON WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1982 36 R 97

BONITA AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 670 36 R 19

BONITA AVE 034 ROSE ST VINE ST 2 660 36 R 26

BONITA AVE 036 VINE ST CEDAR ST 2 655 36 R 78

BONITA AVE 032 BERRYMAN ST ROSE ST 2 665 36 R 79

BONITA AVE 030 YOLO AVE BERRYMAN ST 2 745 30 R 82

BONITA AVE 045 UNIVERSITY AVE NORTH END 2 210 36 R 87

BONITA AVE 055 DELAWARE ST SOUTH END 2 180 36 R 92

BONITA AVE 050 BERKLEY WAY NORTH OF HEARST 2 475 36 R 93

BONNIE LANE 010 HILLDALE AVE MARIN AVE 2 750 21 R 61

BOWDITCH ST 050 BANCROFT WAY DURANT AVE 2 330 36 R 20

BOWDITCH ST 052 DURANT AVE HASTE ST 2 660 36 R 23

BOWDITCH ST 056 HASTE ST DWIGHT WAY 2 330 36 R 40

BOYNTON AVE 015 COLORADO AVE FLORIDA AVE 2 280 26 R 59

BOYNTON AVE (NB) 010 ARLINGTON AVE COLORADO AVE 2 1540 16 R 42

BOYNTON AVE (SB) 011 COLORADO AVE ARLINGTON AVE 2 1540 16 R 44

BRET HARTE RD 070 KEITH AVE CREGMONT AVE 2 300 21 R 65

BRET HARTE RD 075 CRAGMONT AVE KEELER RD 2 750 22 R 79

BRIDGE RD 070 ALVARADO RD TUNNEL RD 2 450 24 R 95

BROOKSIDE AVE 080 CLAREMONT AVE DEAD END (CLAREMONT AVE) 2 425 26 R 95

BROOKSIDE CT 070 DEAD END NR BROOKSIDE DR BROOKSIDE DR 2 110 24 R 95
Page 5 of 26

Page 28 of 49

106



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 6 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

BROOKSIDE DR 070 CLAREMONT AVE CLAREMONT AVE 2 535 24 R 95

BROWNING ST 050 ADDISON ST DWIGHT WAY 2 2650 36 R 33

BUENA AVE 055 MCGEE AVE CYPRESS ST 2 400 25 R 27

BUENA AVE 050 WEST DEAD END (HOLLY ST) MCGEE AVE 2 904 37 R 95

BUENA VISTA WAY 078 260' NORTH OF PRIVATE PROP PRIVATE PROPERTY 2 260 14 R 8

BUENA VISTA WAY 074 DELMAR AVE 260' NORTH OF PRIVATE PROP 2 470 22 R 10

BUENA VISTA WAY 070 EUCLID AVE DEL MAR AVE 2 3775 30 R 21

BURNETT ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE MABEL ST 2 874 36 R 22

BURNETT ST 042 MABEL ST ACTON ST 2 704 36 R 76

BYRON ST 055 CHANNING WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 660 30 R 17

BYRON ST 050 ADDISON ST BANCROFT WAY 2 1320 36 R 85

CALIFORNIA ST 066 OREGON ST ASHBY AVE 2 950 42 R 35

CALIFORNIA ST 045 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 2 600 42 R 37

CALIFORNIA ST 040 CEDAR ST OHLONE PARK 2 1455 42 R 58

CALIFORNIA ST 030 ADA ST CEDAR ST 2 1405 45 R 71

CALIFORNIA ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 3015 48 R 71

CALIFORNIA ST 072 ASHBY AVE ALCATRAZ AVE 2 2000 42 R 77

CALIFORNIA ST 076 ALCATRAZ AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 840 42 R 77

CALIFORNIA ST 020 HOPKINS ST ADA ST 2 345 40 R 83

CALIFORNIA ST 060 DWIGHT WAY OREGON ST 2 2270 42 R 83

CAMELIA ST 024 3RD ST (RR TRACKS) 4TH ST 2 330 36 R 18

CAMELIA ST 020 2ND ST 3RD ST (RR TRACKS) 2 345 35 R 19

CAMELIA ST 034 8TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1030 36 R 19

CAMELIA ST 030 6TH ST 8TH ST 2 620 36 R 27

CAMELIA ST 026 4TH ST 6TH ST 2 637 36 R 48

CAMELIA ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE SANTA FE AVE 2 1050 36 R 89

CAMPUS DR 030 SHASTA RD QUAIL AVE 2 370 22 R 42

CAMPUS DR 032 QUAIL AVE GLENDALE AVE 2 450 24 R 46

CAMPUS DR 033 GLENDALE AVE DELMAR AVE 2 1090 24 R 79

CAMPUS DR 035 DELMAR AVE AVENIDA DRIVE 2 525 22 R 85

CAMPUS DR 036 AVENIDA DR PARNASSUS RD 2 540 22 R 93

CAMPUS DR 037 PARNASSUS RD DEAD END, U C PLOT 82 2 760 19 R 93

CANYON RD 080 PANORAMIC WAY RIM ROAD (UC CAMPUS) 2 275 30 R 97

CANYON RD 085 RIM ROAD (UC CAMPUS) DEAD END 2 583 15 R 97

CAPISTRANO AVE 050 PERALTA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 2645 26 R 38

CAPISTRANO AVE 060 THE ALAMEDA CONTRA COSTA AVE 2 340 19 R 74

CARLETON ST 070 FULTON ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 1720 36 R 16

CARLETON ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 42 R 24

CARLETON ST 042 MATHEWS ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1912 36 R 28

CARLETON ST 078 TELEGRAPH AVE DEAD END ABOVE TELEGRAPH 
A 2 160 27 R 29

CARLETON ST 050 7TH ST SAN PABLO 2 1330 36 R 33

CARLETON ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2540 36 R 35

CARLETON ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 675 42 R 57

CARLETON ST 065 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 622 36 R 60

CARLETON ST 040 5TH ST 7TH ST 2 615 36 R 77

CARLETON ST 030 3RD ST 5TH ST 2 630 36 NCR 80
Page 6 of 26

Page 29 of 49

107



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 7 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

CARLETON ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE MATHEWS ST 2 500 36 R 82

CARLOTTA AVE 020 POSEN AVE HOPKINS ST 2 865 36 R 71

CARLOTTA AVE 030 HOPKINS ST ROSE ST 2 880 30 R 73

CARRISON ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE ACTON ST 2 1528 36 R 73

CATALINA AVE 050 COLUSA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 980 27 R 97

CATHERINE DR 030 KEONCREST DR (N) KEONCREST DR (S) 2 410 25 R 20

CEDAR ST 078 END W/O LA VEREDA LA VEREDA 2 105 12 R 19

CEDAR ST 020 EAST FRONTAGE RD (STATE P/L) 4TH ST 2 925 36 A 23

CEDAR ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2600 40 C 24

CEDAR ST 025 4TH ST 6TH ST 2 670 43 A 42

CEDAR ST 070 SPRUCE ST EUCLID AVE 2 1380 35 C 70

CEDAR ST 075 EUCLID AVE LA LOMA AVE 2 920 34 C 74

CEDAR ST 065 OXFORD ST SPRUCE ST 2 335 36 C 86

CEDAR ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 660 36 C 90

CEDAR ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 36 C 91

CEDAR ST 045 CHESTNUT ST ACTON ST 2 1140 37 C 93

CEDAR ST 064 SHATTUCK AVE OXFORD ST 2 635 38 C 93

CEDAR ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE CHESTNUT ST 2 1485 37 C 95

CEDAR ST 049 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 665 34 C 95

CEDAR ST 030 6TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1650 37 C 100

CEDARWOOD LANE 030 HARRISON ST PARK WAY 2 330 36 R 0

CENTER ST 064 SHATTUCK AVE OXFORD ST 2 620 47 R 64

CENTER ST 062 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 730 47 R 100

CENTER ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 670 53 R 100

CHABOLYN TERRACE 080 SOUTH CITY LIMIT SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 420 26 R 90

CHANNING WAY 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 670 36 R 17

CHANNING WAY 057 ROOSEVELT AVE MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 1000 36 R 18

CHANNING WAY 084 PIEDMONT AVE PROSPECT ST 2 630 36 R 30

CHANNING WAY 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 710 36 R 30

CHANNING WAY 050 SACRAMENTO ST ROOSEVELT AVE 2 1620 36 R 34

CHANNING WAY 040 SAN PABLO AVE SACRAMENTO ST 2 2775 36 R 50

CHANNING WAY 038 10TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 330 36 R 56

CHANNING WAY 030 6TH ST 10TH ST 2 1397 36 R 69

CHANNING WAY 078 BOWDITCH ST COLLEGE AVE 2 670 37 R 76

CHANNING WAY 080 COLLEGE AVE PIEDMONT AVE 2 630 36 R 78

CHANNING WAY 075 DANA ST BOWDITCH ST 2 1340 40 R 78

CHANNING WAY 020 3RD ST 6TH ST 2 935 36 R 87

CHANNING WAY 070 FULTON ST DANA ST 2 1340 36 R 93

CHANNING WAY 066 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 560 36 R 93

CHAUCER ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE CURTIS ST 2 550 30 R 21

CHERRY ST 065 STUART ST RUSSELL ST 2 500 36 R 85

CHESTNUT ST 035 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 350 34 R 20

CHESTNUT ST 044 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1620 36 R 24

CHESTNUT ST 042 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 650 36 R 39

CHILTON WAY 060 BLAKE ST PARKER ST 2 335 30 R 27

CLAREMONT AVE 065 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 425 56 C 24
Page 7 of 26

Page 30 of 49

108



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 8 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

CLAREMONT AVE 060 EAST CITY LIMIT NR GARBER RD RUSSELL AVE 2 600 38 C 27

CLAREMONT AVE 070 ASHBY AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT (ALCATRAZ) 4 2985 56 C 54

CLAREMONT BLVD 060 DERBY ST CUL-DE-SAC 2 560 40 R 32

CLAREMONT BLVD 065 BELROSE AVE CLAREMONT AVE 2 875 37 C 94
CLAREMONT 
CRESCEN 070 CLAREMONT AVE ASHBY AVE 2 410 24 R 90

CODORNICES RD 030 DEAD END (EUCLID AVE) EUCLID AVE 2 600 15 R 72

COLBY ST 070 ASHBY AVE WEBSTER ST. 2 299 36 R 52

COLBY ST 080 WEBSTER ST. END 2 385 32 R 80

COLLEGE AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY DERBY ST (S) 2 1430 36 A 40

COLLEGE AVE 070 ASHBY AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT (ALCATRAZ) 2 2155 36 A 42

COLLEGE AVE 065 DERBY ST (S) ASHBY AVE 2 1785 36 A 45

COLLEGE AVE 050 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1340 36 C 89

COLORADO AVE 065 VERMONT AVE MICHIGAN AVE 2 260 24 R 55

COLORADO AVE 060 BOYNTON AVE VERMONT AVE 2 250 24 R 58

COLUMBIA CIRCLE 080 COLUMBIA PATH FAIRLAWN DR 2 230 21 R 91

COLUSA AVE 025 MONTEREY AVE POSEN AVE 2 1233 36 C 23

COLUSA AVE 026 POSEN AVE HOPKINS ST 2 520 36 C 25

COLUSA AVE 010 NORTH CITY LIMIT (VISALIA) SOLANO AVE 2 3565 36 C 37

COLUSA AVE 022 MARIN AVE MONTEREY AVE 2 870 46 C 56

COLUSA AVE 020 SOLANO AVE MARIN AVE 2 670 46 C 73

COMSTOCK CT 035 JAYNES ST CEDAR ST 2 300 24 R 80

CONTRA COSTA AVE 010 YOSEMITE RD SOLANO AVE 2 2375 20 R 89

CONTRA COSTA AVE 018 SOLANO AVE LOS ANGELES AVE 2 185 25 R 95

CORNELL AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 765 30 R 46

CORNELL AVE 036 PAGE ST HOPKINS ST 2 695 30 R 72

CORNELL AVE 035 GILMAN ST PAGE ST 2 1000 30 R 74

CORNELL AVE 039 HOPKINS ST CEDAR ST 2 345 29 R 98

CORNELL AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 30 R 98

CORONA CT 070 ARCH ST DEAD END (ARCH ST) 2 320 24 R 50

COWPER ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE BYRON ST 2 370 30 R 91

CRAGMONT AVE 010 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD MARIN AVE 2 4100 22 C 38

CRAGMONT AVE 027 BRET HARTE RD SHASTA RD 2 1625 21 R 85

CRAGMONT AVE 021 MARIN AVE SANTA BARBARA RD 2 1110 23 R 87

CRAGMONT AVE 023 SANTA BARBARA RD EUCLID AVE 2 830 22 R 87

CRAGMONT AVE 025 EUCLID AVE BRET HARTE RD 2 1420 20 R 88

CRESTON RD 020 SUNSET LANE GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD (S) 2 2699 22 R 57

CRESTON RD 010 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD (N) SUNSET LANE 2 1910 22 R 61

CRYSTAL WAY 020 EUCLID AVE (WEST) EUCLID AVE (EAST) 1 80 24 R 37

CURTIS ST 038 HOPKINS ST CEDAR ST 2 370 30 R 11

CURTIS ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 2990 36 R 14

CURTIS ST 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 30 R 16

CURTIS ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HOPKINS ST 2 2400 29 R 28

CURTIS ST 045 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1615 36 R 66

CYPRESS ST 031 ROSE ST BUENA AVE 2 325 26 R 81

DANA ST 050 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1320 36 R 47

DANA ST 060 DWIGHT WAY BLAKE ST 2 330 36 R 56
Page 8 of 26

Page 31 of 49

109



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 9 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

DANA ST 065 BLAKE ST WARD ST 2 1320 36 R 61

DANA ST 070 WEBSTER ST CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 765 32 R 70

DEAKIN ST 075 PRINCE ST CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 385 36 R 79

DEAKIN ST 070 ASHBY AVE PRINCE ST 2 820 36 R 89

DEAKIN ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 525 36 R 100

DEL MAR AVE 085 GLENDALE AVE CAMPUS DR 2 480 24 R 12

DEL MAR AVE 083 BUENA VISTA WAY GLENDALE AVE 2 795 21 R 22

DEL NORTE CT 020 DEL NORTE ST DEAD END (DEL NORTE ST) 2 110 12 R 74

DEL NORTE ST 020 THE CIRCLE SUTTER ST 2 690 28 C 91

DELAWARE ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE ACTON ST 2 2435 48 C 28

DELAWARE ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 34 R 38

DELAWARE ST 063 MILVIA ST WALNUT ST 2 975 34 R 40

DELAWARE ST 048 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 665 48 C 57

DELAWARE ST 030 6TH ST 9TH ST 2 955 48 C 76

DELAWARE ST 035 9TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 670 48 C 76

DELAWARE ST 052 DEAD END WEST OF CALIFORNIA CALIFORNIA ST 2 375 36 R 93

DELAWARE ST 055 CALIFORNIA ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2000 36 R 97

DERBY ST 070 FULTON ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 1630 36 R 15

DERBY ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 633 42 R 16

DERBY ST 075 TELEGRAPH AVE HILLEGASS AVE (S) 2 860 38 R 19

DERBY ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2510 36 R 20

DERBY ST 065 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 675 36 R 22

DERBY ST 078 HILLEGASS AVE (S) COLLEGE AVE 2 760 36 R 23

DERBY ST 082 PIEDMONT AVE WARRING ST 2 322 37 R 27

DERBY ST 080 COLLEGE AVE PIEDMONT AVE 2 653 37 R 31

DERBY ST 045 MABEL ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1311 36 R 32

DERBY ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 42 R 86

DERBY ST 085 WARRING ST BELROSE AVE & 
TANGLEWOOD R 2 1205 36 A 95

DERBY ST 042 SAN PABLO AVE MATHEWS ST 2 455 36 R 97

DERBY ST 044 MATHEWS ST MABEL ST 2 608 36 R 97

DOHR ST 065 WARD ST RUSSELL ST 2 1170 36 R 19

DOHR ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 489 22 R 21

DOHR ST 070 ASHBY AVE PRINCE ST 2 764 26 R 100

DOMINGO AVE 068 CITY LIMIT NR RUSSELL ST TUNNEL RD 2 220 40 R 39

DOMINGO AVE 070 TUNNEL RD THE PLAZA DR 2 1130 40 R 73

DOVER ST 075 ALCATRAZ AVE CITY LIMIT (63RD ST) 2 130 32 R 21

DOWLING PL 070 TELEGRAPH AVE DANA ST 2 385 36 R 84

DURANT AVE 060 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 710 47 C 15

DURANT AVE 064 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 530 48 C 29

DURANT AVE 070 FULTON ST BOWDITCH ST 2 2650 48 C 52

DURANT AVE 078 BOWDITCH ST COLLEGE AVE 2 670 48 C 64

DURANT AVE 080 COLLEGE AVE PIEDMONT AVE 2 640 33 C 67

DWIGHT CRESCENT 055 6TH ST 7TH ST 2 420 45 C 98

DWIGHT WAY 020 4TH ST 6TH ST 2 650 36 C 12

DWIGHT WAY 083 PIEDMONT AVE HILLSIDE AVE 2 765 36 R 14

DWIGHT WAY 085 HILLSIDE AVE DEAD END ABOVE HILLSIDE 
AVE 2 590 36 R 18

Page 9 of 26

Page 32 of 49

110



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 10 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

DWIGHT WAY 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2615 39 A 23

DWIGHT WAY 030 6TH ST 7TH ST 2 310 36 C 30

DWIGHT WAY 032 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1350 36 A 43

DWIGHT WAY 064 MILVIA WAY SHATTUCK AVE 2 710 38 A 57

DWIGHT WAY 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 36 A 59

DWIGHT WAY 073 DANA ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 670 40 A 79

DWIGHT WAY 070 FULTON ST DANA ST 2 1325 40 A 85

DWIGHT WAY 075 TELEGRAPH AVE BOWDITCH ST 2 660 36 A 86

DWIGHT WAY 066 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 600 40 A 91

DWIGHT WAY 080 COLLEGE AVE PIEDMONT AVE 2 775 36 A 93

DWIGHT WAY 078 BOWDITCH ST COLLEGE AVE 2 660 36 A 93

DWIGHT WAY 040 SAN PABLO AVE SACRAMENTO ST 2 2430 36 A 95

DWIGHT WAY 090 PANORAMIC WAY EAST CITY LIMIT 2 100 28 R 97

EAST BOLIVAR DR 050 ADDISON ST DEAD END NR CHANNING 2 1800 24 R 29

EAST FRONTAGE RD 040 GILMAN ST HEARST AVE 2 3696 34 C 30

EAST FRONTAGE RD 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 1350 32 C 43

EAST PARNASSUS CT 080 PARNASSUS RD DEAD END (PARNASSUS RD) 2 210 22 R 93

EDITH ST 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 638 30 R 55

EDITH ST 030 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 1295 32 R 71

EDWARDS ST 055 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1330 36 R 56

EL CAMINO REAL 070 DOMINGO AVE THE UPLANDS 2 1840 24 R 86

EL CAMINO REAL 075 THE UPLANDS DEAD END ABOVE THE 
UPLANDS 2 485 24 R 87

EL DORADO AVE 060 THE ALAMEDA SUTTER ST 2 1290 33 R 25

EL PORTAL CT 030 DEAD END (LA LOMA AVE) LA LOMA AVE 2 250 18 R 10

ELLIS ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 650 37 R 47

ELLIS ST 070 ASHBY AVE ALCATRAZ AVE 2 2005 37 R 78

ELLSWORTH ST 050 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1320 36 R 22

ELLSWORTH ST 062 CARLETON ST WARD ST 2 620 42 R 87

ELLSWORTH ST 060 DWIGHT WAY CARLETON ST 2 1000 36 R 90

ELLSWORTH ST 065 WARD ST ASHBY AVE 2 1520 42 R 92

ELMWOOD AVE 080 ASHBY AVE & ASHBY PL PIEDMONT AVE 2 570 34 R 20

ELMWOOD CT 070 ASHBY AVE DEAD END (ASHBY AVE) 2 270 32 R 76

EMERSON ST 065 SHATTUCK AVE WHEELER ST 2 575 36 R 24

EMERSON ST 060 ADELINE ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 805 36 R 55

ENCINA PL 070 THE PLAZA DR THE UPLANDS 2 350 40 R 93

ENSENADA AVE 020 SOLANO AVE MARIN AVE 2 545 36 R 27

ENSENADA AVE 010 PERALTA AVE SOLANO AVE 2 2255 27 R 62

EOLA ST 040 VIRGINIA ST FRANCISCO ST 2 325 22 R 28

ESSEX ST 064 SHATTUCK AVE WHEELER ST 2 585 36 R 26

ESSEX ST 062 TREMONT ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 580 36 R 61

ESSEX ST 060 ADELINE ST TREMONT ST 2 340 36 R 68

ETNA ST 062 DWIGHT WAY PARKER ST 2 665 36 R 29

ETNA ST 064 PARKER ST DERBY ST 2 665 36 R 31

ETON AVE 070 WOOLSEY ST CLAREMONT AVE 2 750 36 R 86

ETON CT 070 CLAREMONT AVE DEAD END (CLAREMONT AVE) 2 150 25 R 25

EUCALYPTUS RD 070 HILLCREST RD SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 440 25 R 56
Page 10 of 26

Page 33 of 49

111



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 11 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

EUCLID AVE 032 BAYVIEW PL CEDAR ST 2 1890 34 C 28

EUCLID AVE 040 CEDAR ST HEARST AVE 2 1625 35 C 41

EUCLID AVE 015 MARIN AVE REGAL RD 2 600 32 R 73

EUCLID AVE 020 REGAL RD CRAGMONT AVE 2 1475 40 C 74

EUCLID AVE 010 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD MARIN AVE 2 3054 32 C 77

EUCLID AVE 024 CRAGMONT AVE BEG OF DIVIDED ROAD 2 650 41 R 77

EUCLID AVE 028 END OF DIVIDED ROAD EUNICE ST 2 900 42 R 83

EUCLID AVE 030 EUNICE ST BAYVIEW PL 2 870 36 C 100

EUCLID AVE (NB) 026 BEG OF DIVIDED ROAD END OF DIVIDED ROAD 2 850 18 R 82

EUCLID AVE (SB) 027 BEG OF DIVIDED ROAD END OF DIVIDED ROAD 2 845 31 R 81

EUNICE ST 070 SPRUCE ST EUCLID AVE 2 1235 35 R 26

EUNICE ST 064 HENRY ST SPRUCE ST 2 1370 34 R 39

EUNICE ST 060 MILVIA ST CUL-DE-SAC 2 225 36 R 93

EVELYN AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT SANTA FE AVE 2 980 30 R 90

FAIRLAWN DR 038 AVENIDA DR OLYMPUS DR 2 615 23 R 46

FAIRLAWN DR 030 QUEENS RD AVENIDA DR 2 2575 21 R 93

FAIRVIEW ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST ADELINE ST 2 2145 36 R 23

FAIRVIEW ST 060 ADELINE ST CITY LIMIT (DOVER ST) 2 530 36 R 27

FAIRVIEW ST 047 BAKER ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 630 36 R 73

FLORANCE ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 530 36 R 30

FLORIDA AVE 060 SANTA BARBARA RD DEAD END (FLORIDA WALK) 2 400 26 R 82

FOLGER AVE 024 HOLLIS ST 7TH ST 2 365 42 C 86

FOLGER AVE 025 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1325 42 C 87

FOLGER AVE 020 WEST END HOLLIS ST 2 365 42 R 97

FOREST AVE 080 COLLEGE AVE CLAREMONT BLVD 2 1875 36 R 39

FORREST LANE 073 GRIZZY PARK CRESTON RD 2 337 22 R 18

FORREST LANE 072 KEELER AVE GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 615 22 R 22

FORREST LANE 070 HILLDALE AVE KEELER AVE 2 520 19 R 38

FRANCISCO ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE CHESTNUT ST 2 1370 30 R 19

FRANCISCO ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2610 36 R 21

FRANCISCO ST 045 CHESTNUT ST DEAD END 2 1130 30 R 25

FRANCISCO ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 670 36 R 27

FRANCISCO ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 670 36 R 28

FRANKLIN ST 042 CEDAR ST FRANCISCO ST 2 1025 38 R 80

FRANKLIN ST 044 FRANCISCO ST HEARST AVE 2 745 38 R 87

FRESNO AVE 022 MARIN AVE SONOMA AVE 2 1310 36 R 33

FRESNO AVE 020 SOLANO AVE MARIN AVE 2 900 36 R 45

FULTON ST 060 DWIGHT WAY BLAKE ST 2 312 36 R 54

FULTON ST 063 PARKER ST STUART ST 2 1318 36 R 54

FULTON ST 061 BLAKE ST PARKER ST 2 348 36 R 63

FULTON ST 070 ASHBY ST PRINCE ST 2 810 36 R 75

FULTON ST 048 KITTREDGE ST BANCROFT WAY 4 315 67 A 83

FULTON ST 065 STUART ST ASHBY AVE 2 1166 36 R 85

FULTON ST 050 BANCROFT WAY DURANT AVE 2 330 54 A 90

FULTON ST 052 DURANT AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 990 36 A 90

GARBER ST 085 WEST END OAK KNOLL TERRACE 2 550 22 R 32
Page 11 of 26

Page 34 of 49

112



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 12 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

GARBER ST 080 COLLEGE AVE EAST END 2 1010 36 R 33

GARBER ST 088 BELROSE AVE EAST CITY LIMIT 
(TANGLEWOOD) 2 450 24 R 36

GILMAN ST 035 8TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 995 48 A 38

GILMAN ST 045 SANTA FE AVE HOPKINS ST 2 1595 36 A 43

GILMAN ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE SANTA FE AVE 2 1445 38 A 48

GILMAN ST 015 ENTRANCE OF FWY 2ND ST 2 700 62 R 59

GILMAN ST 024 3RD ST (RR TRACKS) 6TH ST 2 1000 48 A 59

GILMAN ST 020 2ND ST 3RD ST (RR TRACKS) 2 485 48 A 70

GILMAN ST 030 6TH ST 8TH ST 2 655 48 A 74

GLEN AVE 033 CORNER BETWEEN 
SUMMER/ARCH SPRUCE ST 2 380 23 R 12

GLEN AVE 030 EUNICE ST CORNER BETWEEN 
SUMMER/ARC 2 620 22 R 14

GLEN AVE 020 OAK ST EUNICE ST 2 510 28 R 90

GLENDALE AVE 034 LA LOMA AVE DEL MAR AVE 2 675 22 R 31

GLENDALE AVE 030 CAMPUS DR LA LOMA AVE 2 640 32 C 88

GRANT ST 042 VIRGINIA ST FRANCISCO ST 2 318 36 R 25

GRANT ST 060 DWIGHT WAY OREGON ST 2 2266 36 R 33

GRANT ST 053 ADDISON ST ALLSTON WAY 2 665 42 R 43

GRANT ST 061 N. END RUSSELL ST 2 196 36 R 43

GRANT ST 057 BANCROFT WAY CHANNING WAY 2 670 42 R 45

GRANT ST 041 LINCOLN ST VIRGINIA ST 2 320 36 R 48

GRANT ST 030 NORTH END ROSE ST 2 310 36 R 54

GRANT ST 040 CEDAR ST LINCOLN ST 2 318 36 R 56

GRANT ST 032 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 1325 36 R 65

GRANT ST 048 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 2 600 36 R 78

GRANT ST 059 CHANNING WAY DWIGHT 2 665 42 R 83

GRANT ST 055 ALLSTON WAY BANCROFT WAY 2 670 42 R 90

GRANT ST 051 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 2 335 42 R 93

GRANT ST 044 FRANCISCO ST OHLONE PARK 2 525 36 R 97

GRAYSON ST 020 3RD ST (WEST END) SAN PABLO AVE 2 2568 36 R 70
GREENWOOD 
TERRACE 030 ROSE ST BUENA VISTA WAY 2 850 17 R 21

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 015 EUCLID AVE KEELER AVE 2 1250 30 C 19

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 017 KEELER AVE MARIN AVE 2 1400 33 C 19

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 010 NORTH CITY LIMIT (SPRUCE ST) EUCLID AVE 2 1050 35 C 24

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 035 HILL RD EAST CITY LIMIT 2 2515 32 C 51

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 029 SHASTA RD (S) ARCADE AVE 2 1065 32 C 76

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 020 MARIN AVE SHASTA RD (S) 2 4065 34 C 88

GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 032 ARCADE AVE (EXTENTION OF EUNICE) HILL 
RD 2 785 32 C 94

HALCYON CT 070 WEBSTER ST PRINCE ST 2 460 57 R 89

HALKIN LANE 070 SPRUCE ST CRAGMONT AVE 2 515 22 R 52

HARDING CIRCLE 030 OLYMPUS AVE END 2 65 38 R 48

HARMON ST 045 IDAHO ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1025 36 R 15

HARMON ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST ADELINE ST 2 1985 36 R 67

HAROLD WAY 050 ALLSTON WAY KITTREDGE ST 2 325 36 R 53

HARPER ST 070 ASHBY AVE WOOLSEY ST 2 935 36 R 64

HARPER ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 665 36 R 70

HARPER ST 072 WOOLSEY ST FAIRVIEW ST 2 306 36 R 78
Page 12 of 26

Page 35 of 49

113



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 13 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

HARRISON ST 020 EASTSHORE HWY 2ND ST 2 270 49 R 48

HARRISON ST 022 3RD ST 6TH ST 2 935 34 R 73

HARRISON ST 030 6TH ST 8TH ST 2 645 35 R 78

HARRISON ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE STANNAGE AVE 2 495 36 R 83

HARRISON ST 034 8TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 990 35 R 84

HARVARD CIRCLE 030 FAIRLAWN DR & SENIOR AVE FAIRLAWN DR 2 100 30 R 38

HASKELL ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE ACTON ST 2 1505 36 R 77

HASTE ST 060 FULTON ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 580 36 A 29

HASTE ST 070 BOWDITCH ST FULTON ST 2 2680 40 A 35

HASTE ST 078 COLLEGE AVE BODWITCH ST 2 670 39 A 41

HASTE ST 080 PIEDMONT AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 650 36 A 43

HASTE ST 065 MILVIA ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 670 36 A 76

HASTE ST 063 SHATTUCK AVE MILVIA ST 2 705 36 A 83
HAWTHORNE 
TERRACE 030 LE ROY AVE EUCLID AVE 2 365 24 R 62
HAWTHORNE 
TERRACE 035 EUCLID AVE CEDAR ST 2 1465 24 R 87

HAZEL RD 090 CLAREMONT AVE DOMINGO AVE 2 830 30 R 85

HEARST AVE 030 6TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1650 36 C 25

HEARST AVE 045 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 676 36 R 26

HEARST AVE 040 SAN PABLO AVE ACTON ST 2 2350 36 R 29

HEARST AVE 020 EAST FRONTAGE RD (STATE P/L) 6TH ST 2 1515 48 C 33

HEARST AVE 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 670 34 A 47

HEARST AVE 052 SACRAMENTO ST CALIFORNIA ST 2 600 36 C 67

HEARST AVE 055 MC GEE AVE MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 1355 36 C 68

HEARST AVE 054 CALIFORNIA ST MC GEE AVE 2 660 36 C 71

HEARST AVE 078 HIGHLAND PL DEAD END (COP @ CL) 2 140 23 R 82

HEARST AVE 077 LA LOMA AVE HIGHLAND PL 2 340 35 A 83

HEARST AVE 064 HENRY ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 330 55 A 93

HEARST AVE 065 SHATTUCK AVE WALNUT ST 2 325 57 A 93

HEARST AVE 067 WALNUT ST OXFORD ST 2 355 57 A 93

HEARST AVE 068 OXFORD ST SPRUCE ST 2 250 58 A 93

HEARST AVE 070 SPRUCE ST ARCH ST 2 425 56 A 93

HEARST AVE 075 EUCLID AVE LA LOMA AVE 2 975 39 A 93

HEARST AVE 062 MILVIA ST HENRY ST 2 335 46 A 100

HEARST AVE (EB) 072 ARCH ST EUCLID AVE 2 1160 20 A 95

HEARST AVE (WB) 073 EUCLID AVE ARCH ST 2 1160 23 A 95

HEINZ AVE 040 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1368 36 R 22

HEINZ AVE 030 3RD ST (WEST END) 7TH ST 2 1197 36 R 83

HENRY ST 030 EUNICE ST ROSE ST 2 1375 62 A 36

HENRY ST 045 HEARST AVE BERKELEY WAY 2 335 34 R 73

HENRY ST 034 ROSE ST VINE ST 2 660 36 R 97

HENRY ST 035 VINE ST CEDAR ST 2 655 36 R 97

HIGH COURT 020 DEAD END OAK ST 2 645 24 R 26

HIGHLAND PL 040 NORTH END RIDGE RD 2 215 15 R 5

HIGHLAND PL 042 RIDGE RD HEARST AVE 2 345 36 R 97

HILGARD AVE 070 ARCH ST SCENIC AVE 2 440 36 R 61

HILGARD AVE 072 SCENIC AVE EUCLID AVE 2 595 36 R 81
Page 13 of 26

Page 36 of 49

114



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 14 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

HILGARD AVE 074 EUCLID AVE LA LOMA AVE 2 1050 35 R 88

HILGARD AVE 078 LA LOMA AVE LA VEREDA 2 490 17 R 93

HILGARD AVE 080 LA VEREDA DEAD END 2 220 24 R 97

HILL CT 070 EUCLID AVE DEAD END (EUCLID AVE) 2 310 15 R 100

HILL RD 025 SHASTA RD DEAD END 2 575 18 R 9

HILL RD 030 DEAD END NR AJAX LANE GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD (SOUTH) 2 945 20 R 22

HILLCREST CT 070 THE FOOTWAY HILLCREST RD 2 190 20 R 47

HILLCREST RD 088 ROANOK RD DEAD END ABOVE ROANOK RD 2 390 24 R 30

HILLCREST RD 080 CLAREMONT AVE ROANOK RD 2 3150 25 R 45

HILLDALE AVE 020 MARIN AVE REGAL RD 2 1265 20 R 17

HILLDALE AVE 010 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD MARIN AVE 2 1870 21 R 20

HILLEGASS AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY ASHBY AVE 2 3200 36 R 67

HILLEGASS AVE 070 ASHBY AVE CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 855 36 R 75

HILLSIDE AVE 050 PROSPECT ST DWIGHT WAY 2 760 30 R 90

HILLSIDE CT 050 DEAD END (HILLSIDE AVE) HILLSIDE AVE 2 290 16 R 95

HILLVIEW RD 020 WOODSIDE RD PARK HILLS RD 2 1265 22 R 88

HOLLIS ST 070 FOLGER AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 175 43 C 74

HOLLY ST 030 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 910 36 R 7

HOPKINS CT 020 ALBINA AVE HOPKINS ST 2 570 25 R 87

HOPKINS ST 047 GILMAN ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 530 36 R 29

HOPKINS ST 060 THE ALAMEDA SUTTER ST 2 1375 60 C 30

HOPKINS ST 050 HOPKINS CT MONTEREY AVE 2 250 36 C 41

HOPKINS ST 055 CARLOTTA AVE JOSEPHINE ST 2 1525 45 C 41

HOPKINS ST 049 SACRAMENTO ST HOPKINS CT 2 200 36 A 45

HOPKINS ST 053 MC GEE AVE CARLOTTA AVE 2 320 45 C 45

HOPKINS ST 052 MONTEREY AVE MC GEE AVE 2 250 40 C 46

HOPKINS ST 059 JOSEPHINE ST THE ALAMEDA 2 335 60 C 49

HOPKINS ST 046 PERALTA AVE GILMAN ST 2 1442 36 R 51

HOPKINS ST 042 STANNAGE AVE NORTHSIDE AVE 2 915 40 R 69

HOPKINS ST 045 NORTHSIDE AVE PERALTA AVE 2 545 35 R 72

HOPKINS ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE STANNAGE AVE 2 500 40 R 74

HOWE ST 070 ELLSWORTH ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 545 36 R 23

IDAHO ST 072 66TH ST ALCATRAZ AVE 2 823 36 R 18

IDAHO ST 076 ALCATRAZ AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 135 36 R 85

INDIAN ROCK AVE 064 SAN LUIS RD SANTA BARBARA RD 2 565 30 R 20

INDIAN ROCK AVE 062 ARLINGTON AVE SAN LUIS RD 2 1600 30 R 51

JAYNES ST 050 CALIFORNIA ST EDITH ST 2 990 36 R 91

JEFFERSON AVE 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 2 335 24 R 35

JEFFERSON AVE 052 ALLSTON WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 2000 39 R 35

JONES ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE STANNAGE AVE 2 505 36 R 66

JONES ST 030 6TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1650 36 R 68

JONES ST 020 EASTSHORE HWY 2ND ST 2 280 37 R 97

JONES ST 025 4TH ST 6TH ST 2 685 36 R 97

JOSEPHINE ST 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 36 R 30

JOSEPHINE ST 036 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 1320 36 R 67

JOSEPHINE ST 032 HOPKINS ST ROSE ST 2 1290 36 R 82
Page 14 of 26

Page 37 of 49

115



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 15 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

JOSEPHINE ST 020 THE ALAMEDA HOPKINS ST 2 575 36 R 97

JUANITA WAY 035 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 595 25 R 29

JULIA ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST KING ST 2 1415 36 R 80

KAINS AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 30 R 72

KAINS AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HOPKINS ST 2 2730 30 R 86

KALA BAGAI WAY 052 ADDISON ST CENTER ST 2 330 48 A 100

KALA BAGAI WAY 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 3 356 50 A 100

KEELER AVE 020 MARIN AVE MILLER AVE 2 1025 19 R 14

KEELER AVE 023 MILLER AVE POPPY LANE 2 600 18 R 18

KEELER AVE 025 STERLING AVE BRET HARTE RD 2 400 20 R 46

KEELER AVE 027 BRET HARTE RD SHASTA RD 2 1760 25 R 55

KEELER AVE 010 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD MARIN AVE 2 1350 20 R 89

KEITH AVE 020 SPRUCE ST EUCLID AVE 2 1472 22 C 75

KEITH AVE 025 EUCLID AVE SHASTA RD 2 2570 25 C 80

KELSEY ST 060 STUART ST RUSSELL ST 2 500 36 R 80

KENTUCKY AVE 010 VASSAR AVE MARYLAND AVE 2 475 26 R 55

KENTUCKY AVE (NB) 015 MARYLAND AVE MICHIGAN AVE 2 840 15 R 48

KENTUCKY AVE (SB) 020 MICHIGAN AVE MARYLAND AVE 2 840 15 R 50

KEONCREST DR 040 ROSE ST ACTON ST 2 950 25 R 24

KING ST 075 FAIRVIEW ST SOUTH CITY LIMIT (62ND ST) 2 1500 37 R 75

KING ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 635 37 R 77

KING ST 070 ASHBY AVE FAIRVIEW ST 2 1325 37 R 78

KITTREDGE ST 066 SHATTUCK AVE FUTON ST 2 440 32 R 17

KITTREDGE ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 705 36 R 27

LA LOMA AVE 036 END PCC BUENA VISTA WAY 2 630 28 C 30

LA LOMA AVE 038 BUENA VISTA WAY CEDAR ST 2 765 32 C 34

LA LOMA AVE 045 VIRGINIA ST LA CONTE 2 273 25 C 40

LA LOMA AVE 050 LA CONTE HEARST AVE 2 729 36 C 52

LA LOMA AVE 030 GLENDALE AVE EL PORTAL CT 2 250 36 C 71

LA LOMA AVE 032 EL PORTAL CT QUARRY RD 2 155 35 C 77

LA LOMA AVE 034 START PCC END PCC 2 575 27 C 79

LA LOMA AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 34 C 84

LA VEREDA RD 030 LA LOMA AVE CEDAR ST 2 550 18 R 80

LA VEREDA RD 040 CEDAR ST DEAD END ABOVE VIRGINIA ST 2 820 18 R 93

LASSEN ST 020 MARIN AVE EL DORADO AVE 2 370 32 R 44

LATHAM LANE 080 MILLER AVE GRIZZLY PEAK 2 485 21 R 45

LATHAM LANE 083 CRESTON RD OVERLOOK RD 2 275 23 R 70

LAUREL LN 010 CAPISTRANO AVE SAN PEDRO AVE 2 500 20 R 32

LAUREL ST 020 OAK ST EUNICE ST 2 510 32 R 37

LE CONTE AVE 074 SCENIC AVE EAST END 2 2147 36 R 80

LE CONTE AVE 072 ARCH ST & HEARST AVE SCENIC AVE 2 746 32 R 90

LE ROY AVE 044 CUL-DE-SAC RIDGE RD 2 805 35 R 26

LE ROY AVE 032 ROSE ST HAWTHORNE TERRACE 2 390 30 R 51

LE ROY AVE 040 CEDAR ST HILGARD AVE 2 375 34 R 84

LE ROY AVE 034 HAWTHORNE TERRACE CEDAR ST 2 1235 30 R 92

LE ROY AVE 048 RIDGE RD HEARST AVE 2 350 37 R 93
Page 15 of 26

Page 38 of 49

116



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 16 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

LEWISTON AVE 070 WOOLSEY ST ALCATRAZ AVE 2 880 36 R 87

LINCOLN ST 045 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 750 24 R 46

LINCOLN ST 040 CHESTNUT ST DEAD END 2 440 36 R 47

LINCOLN ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST GRANT ST 2 1935 36 R 87

LINCOLN ST 060 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 665 32 R 93

LINDEN AVE 070 ASHBY AVE WEBSTER ST 2 660 27 R 31

LORINA ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 550 30 R 55

LOS ANGELES AVE 060 THE ALAMEDA CONTRA COSTA AVE 2 420 48 R 39

LOS ANGELES AVE 065 THE CIRCLE SPRUCE ST 2 1755 30 C 74

LOS ANGELES AVE 065 CONTRA COSTA AVE THE CIRCLE 2 845 24 R 76

MABEL ST 062 PARKER ST DERBY ST 2 650 36 R 21

MABEL ST 060 DWIGHT WAY PARKER ST 2 645 36 R 31

MABEL ST 065 WARD ST RUSSELL ST 2 1197 36 R 31

MABEL ST 064 DERBY ST WARD ST 2 295 36 R 33

MABEL ST 067 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 523 36 R 33

MABEL ST 070 ASHBY ST 66TH ST 2 1248 36 R 74

MADERA ST 050 TULARE AVE COLUSA AVE 2 827 32 R 75

MAGNOLIA ST 070 ASHBY AVE WEBSTER ST 2 660 24 R 40

MARIN AVE 078 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD CRESTON RD 2 330 28 R 19

MARIN AVE 079 CRESTON RD DEAD END (PACIFIC 
LUTHERAN) 2 450 30 R 42

MARIN AVE 074 EUCLID AVE GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 1078 23 C 45

MARIN AVE 065 THE CIRCLE SPRUCE ST 2 1646 23 C 58

MARIN AVE 070 SPRUCE ST EUCLID AVE 2 1050 23 C 65

MARIN AVE 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (TULARE AVE) THE ALAMEDA 2 1655 60 A 86

MARIN AVE 060 THE ALAMEDA THE CIRCLE 2 1150 60 A 87

MARINA BLVD 010 SPINNAKER WAY UNIVERSITY AVE 2 2250 27 C 39

MARIPOSA AVE 020 LOS ANGELES AVE AMADOR AVE 2 1070 36 R 84
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 075 63RD ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 520 24 R 35
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 050 UNIVERSITY AVE ALLSTON WAY 4 1000 60 A 41
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 030 YOLO AVE CEDAR ST 2 2610 40 A 54
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 060 DWIGHT WAY ASHBY AVE 4 3383 56 A 54
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 055 ALLSTON WAY DWIGHT WAY 4 1980 56 A 56
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 040 CEDAR ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 2955 56 A 64
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 070 ASHBY AVE WOOLSEY ST & ADELINE ST 2 985 65 A 67
MARTIN LUTHER KING 
J 078 ADELINE ST SOUTH CITY LIMIT 3 335 72 A 71

MARYLAND AVE 060 VERMONT AVE KENTUCKY AVE 2 635 26 R 50

MASONIC AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT SANTA FE AVE 2 480 30 R 88

MATHEWS ST 060 DWIGHT WAY PARKER ST 2 645 36 R 17

MATHEWS ST 063 PARKER ST WARD ST 2 954 36 R 20

MATHEWS ST 066 WARD ST RUSSELL ST 2 1208 36 R 29

MC GEE AVE 035 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 1105 36 R 14

MC GEE AVE 050 UNIVERSITY AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 3005 42 R 32

MC GEE AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 645 36 R 42

MC GEE AVE 043 VIRGINIA ST OHLONE PARK 2 848 36 R 43

MC GEE AVE 065 DERBY ST RUSSELL ST 2 1343 36 R 49

MC GEE AVE 030 HOPKINS ST ROSE ST 2 807 36 R 60
Page 16 of 26

Page 39 of 49

117



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 17 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

MC GEE AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY DERBY ST 2 1350 36 R 60

MC GEE AVE 047 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 2 600 36 R 63

MC KINLEY AVE 050 ADDISON ST DWIGHT WAY 2 2670 42 R 41

MENDOCINO AVE 015 ARLINGTON AVE LOS ANGELES AVE 2 1650 24 R 23

MENDOCINO PL 017 MENDOCINO AVE LOS ANGELES AVE 2 110 26 R 25

MENLO PL 050 THOUSAND OAKS BLVD SANTA ROSA AVE 2 490 24 R 93

MENLO PL 055 SANTA ROSA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 450 24 R 93

MERCED ST 020 MADERA ST SONOMA AVE 2 965 32 R 24

MICHIGAN AVE 010 MARYLAND AVE SPRUCE ST 2 1480 24 R 100

MIDDLEFIELD RD 022 THE CROSSWAYS THE SHORTCUT 2 360 21 R 60

MIDDLEFIELD RD 025 THE SHORTCUT PARK HILLS RD 2 545 21 R 82

MIDDLEFIELD RD 020 DEAD END THE CROSSWAYS 2 415 18 R 86

MILLER AVE 070 POPPY LN SHASTA RD 2 3510 21 R 45

MILVIA ST 034 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 1325 36 R 24

MILVIA ST 040 CEDAR ST HEARST AVE 2 1665 36 C 31

MILVIA ST 025 YOLO AVE EUNICE ST 2 217 32 R 53

MILVIA ST 047 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 2 615 40 C 69

MILVIA ST 058 CHANNING WAY BLAKE ST 2 990 36 C 85

MILVIA ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE CENTER ST 2 660 40 C 86

MILVIA ST 052 CENTER ST CHANNING WAY 2 1655 51 C 88

MILVIA ST 030 EUNICE ST BERRYMAN ST 2 670 26 R 90

MILVIA ST 032 BERRYMAN ST ROSE ST 2 665 36 R 90

MILVIA ST 020 HOPKINS ST YOLO AVE 2 435 32 R 91

MILVIA ST 060 BLAKE ST RUSSELL ST 2 2340 36 R 100

MIRAMAR AVE 010 SAN LORENZO AVE CAPISTRANO AVE 2 380 26 R 40

MIRAMONTE CT 030 ADA ST SOUTH DEAD END (ADA ST) 2 180 21 R 71

MODOC ST 020 SOLANO AVE MARIN AVE 2 560 36 R 97

MONTEREY AVE 020 MARIN AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 500 61 C 93

MONTEREY AVE 022 THE ALAMEDA HOPKINS ST 2 3035 48 C 100

MONTROSE RD 060 SAN LUIS RD SANTA BARBARA RD 2 375 23 R 45

MONTROSE RD 065 SANTA BARBARA RD SPRUCE ST 2 640 24 R 51

MOSSWOOD RD 070 PANORAMIC WAY DEAD END ABOVE ARDEN RD 2 800 15 R 97

MUIR WAY 080 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD PARK HILLS RD 2 385 25 R 63

MURRAY ST 030 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1322 29 R 97

MYSTIC ST 080 ROCKWELL ST DEAD END NR ETON CT 2 110 26 R 78

NAPA AVE 060 HOPKINS ST BLOCKADE @ THE ALAMEDA 2 970 32 R 42

NEILSON ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT BARTD 2 890 26 R 14

NEILSON ST 035 BARTD HOPKINS ST 2 1200 26 R 24

NEILSON ST 010 VISALIA AVE SOLANO AVE 2 2635 26 R 71

NEWBURY ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 550 30 R 55

NOGALES ST 070 THE PLAZA DR PARKSIDE DR 2 285 40 R 77

NORTH ST 035 NORTH DEAD END (JAYNES ST) JAYNES ST 2 155 24 R 94

NORTH VALLEY ST 050 NORTH DEAD END (ALLSTON) ALLSTON WAY 2 375 23 R 73

NORTHAMPTON AVE 060 SANTA BARBARA RD SPRUCE ST 2 1150 23 R 27

NORTHBRAE TUNNEL 065 CONTRA COSTA AVE DEL NORTE ST 2 1410 24 C 95

NORTHGATE AVE 080 DEAD END (NORTHGATE PATH) SHASTA RD 2 880 21 R 93
Page 17 of 26

Page 40 of 49

118



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 18 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

NORTHSIDE AVE 035 BARTD HOPKINS ST 2 880 30 R 27

NORTHSIDE AVE 030 GILMAN ST BARTD 2 430 30 R 29

OAK KNOLL TERRACE 060 GARBER ST AVALON AVE 2 475 36 R 21

OAK RIDGE RD 070 TUNNEL RD DEAD END (OAK RIDGE STEPS) 2 1200 17 R 81

OAK ST 075 WEST END HIGH CT 2 141 24 R 8

OAK ST 070 ARCH ST GLEN ANE 2 313 24 R 11

OAKVALE AVE 090 CLAREMONT AVE DOMINGO AVE 2 1190 30 R 87

OLYMPUS AVE 035 FAIRLAWN DR DEAD END (U C PLOT 82) 2 760 21 R 20

OLYMPUS AVE 030 AVENIDA DR FAIRLAWN DR 2 825 25 R 31

ORDWAY ST 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HOPKINS ST 2 1390 36 R 24

ORDWAY ST 035 HOPKINS ST ROSE ST 2 490 26 R 67

OREGON ST 052 CALIFORNIA ST GRANT ST 2 1319 36 R 13

OREGON ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE MABEL ST 2 790 36 R 18

OREGON ST 045 PARK ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 977 36 R 24

OREGON ST 055 GRANT ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 450 36 R 36

OREGON ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 675 42 R 39

OREGON ST 066 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 850 36 R 40

OREGON ST 063 MILVIA ST ADELINE ST 2 560 42 R 60

OREGON ST 064 ADELINE ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 262 42 R 76

OREGON ST 070 FULTON ST REGENT ST 2 2050 36 R 79

OREGON ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST CALIFORNIA ST 2 620 36 R 86

OTIS ST 065 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 700 36 R 40

OVERLOOK RD 020 END NORTH OF THE 
CROSSWAYS PARK HILLS RD 2 1715 22 R 60

OXFORD ST 010 INDIAN ROCK AVE MARIN AVE 2 975 23 R 46

OXFORD ST 041 CEDAR ST 161' N/O HEARST AVE 2 1326 43 A 48

OXFORD ST 030 EUNICE ST ROSE ST 2 1350 36 R 50

OXFORD ST 035 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 2 1318 33 A 63

OXFORD ST 048 BERKELEY WAY UNIVERSITY AVE 4 315 69 A 72

OXFORD ST 020 MARIN AVE LOS ANGELES AVE 2 1400 23 R 76

OXFORD ST 025 LOS ANGELES AVE EUNICE ST 2 1170 30 R 79

OXFORD ST 052 UNIVERSITY AVE ADDISON ST 4 350 64 A 80

OXFORD ST 054 ADDISON ST KITTREDGE ST 4 1015 62 A 82

OXFORD ST 045 HEARST AVE BERKELEY WAY 4 290 68 A 83

OXFORD ST 042 161' N/O HEARST AVE HEARST AVE 2 161 43 A 100

PAGE ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE CORNELL AVE 2 765 36 R 43

PAGE ST 035 10TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 335 36 R 54

PAGE ST 030 6TH ST 10TH ST 2 1335 30 R 69

PAGE ST 028 4TH ST 6TH ST 2 637 30 R 71

PAGE ST 020 EAST FRONTAGE RD 2ND ST 2 270 36 R 95

PAGE ST 022 2ND ST RAILROAD TRACKS 2 345 16 R 95

PAGE ST 026 3RD ST 4TH ST 2 330 30 R 97

PALM CT 080 KELSEY ST DEAD END (KELSEY ST) 2 150 25 R 87

PANORAMIC WAY 082 CANYON RD 1ST TURN 2 670 17 R 97

PANORAMIC WAY 084 1ST TURN ARDEN RD 2 1215 15 R 97

PANORAMIC WAY 086 ARDEN RD BEG OF PCC (DWIGHT WAY) 2 342 15 R 97

PANORAMIC WAY 090 END OF PCC EAST CITY LIMIT 2 836 15 R 97
Page 18 of 26

Page 41 of 49

119



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 19 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

PANORAMIC WAY 088 BEG OF PCC (DWIGHT WAY) END OF PCC (#222) 2 517 15 R 98

PARDEE ST 030 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1330 30 R 20

PARK GATE 020 PARK HILLS RD SHASTA RD 2 920 40 R 86

PARK HILLS RD 023 MIDDLEFIELD RD PARK GATE 2 1305 22 R 67

PARK HILLS RD 025 PARK GATE SHASTA RD 2 920 22 R 70

PARK HILLS RD 020 WILDCAT CANYON RD MIDDLEFIELD RD 2 850 22 R 87

PARK ST 065 WARD ST BURNETTE ST 2 1363 36 R 20

PARK WAY 020 3RD ST 4TH ST 2 250 36 R 0

PARKER ST 078 HILLEGASS AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 760 36 R 8

PARKER ST 045 MABEL ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1320 36 R 20

PARKER ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE MATHEWS ST 2 560 36 R 21

PARKER ST 042 MATHEWS ST MABEL ST 2 560 36 R 21

PARKER ST 074 ELLSWORTH ST DANA ST 2 670 36 R 28

PARKER ST 075 DANA ST HILLEGASS AVE 2 1175 36 R 56

PARKER ST 035 7TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1350 36 R 71

PARKER ST 030 4TH ST 25' W/O 7TH ST 2 975 36 NCR 77

PARKER ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2560 36 R 78

PARKER ST 032 25' W/O 7TH ST 7TH ST 4 25 50 R 78

PARKER ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK ST 2 718 42 R 81

PARKER ST 060B 374' E/O MARTIN LUTHER KING 
JR W MILVIA WAY 2 291 42 R 85

PARKER ST 066 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON  ST 2 650 36 R 88

PARKER ST 072 FULTON ST ELLSWORTH ST 2 660 36 R 90

PARKER ST 060A MARTIN LUTHER KING 374' E/O MARTIN LUTHER KING 
JR 2 374 42 R 90

PARKER ST 085 PIEDMONT AVE WARRING ST 2 325 36 R 93

PARKER ST 080 COLLEGE AVE PIEDMONT AVE 2 665 36 R 94

PARKSIDE DR 080 ENCINA PL THE PLAZA DR 2 1700 28 R 85

PARNASSUS RD 030 DEL MAR AVE CAMPUS DR 2 1145 24 R 93

PERALTA AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT HOPKINS ST 2 1750 42 R 23

PERALTA AVE 010 COLUSA AVE SOLANO AVE 2 2250 26 R 77

PIEDMONT AVE 070 ASHBY AVE WEBSTER ST 2 660 34 R 32

PIEDMONT AVE 063 DERBY ST STUART ST 2 825 36 R 47

PIEDMONT AVE 065 STUART ST RUSSELL ST 2 455 36 R 60

PIEDMONT AVE 040 AT END OF GAYLEY RD BANCROFT WAY 2 723 46 C 69

PIEDMONT AVE 066 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 325 36 R 76

PIEDMONT AVE 060 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1392 46 C 82

PIEDMONT AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY PARKER ST 2 622 36 R 93

PIEDMONT AVE 062 PARKER ST DERBY ST 2 708 36 R 93
PIEDMONT 
CRESCENT 060 DWIGHT WAY WARRING ST 2 285 56 C 93

PINE AVE 070 ASHBY AVE WEBSTER ST 2 660 26 R 29

PINE AVE 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 325 32 R 45

POE ST 040 BONAR ST DEAD END (BONAR ST) 2 175 30 R 97

POPLAR ST 080 EUCLID AVE HILLDALE AVE 2 575 20 R 23

POPLAR ST 070 CRAGMONT AVE EUCLID AVE 2 545 20 R 26

POPPY LANE 070 HILLDALE AVE KEELER AVE 2 980 22 R 43

PORTLAND AVE 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (NEILSON) COLUSA AVE 2 1250 36 R 60

POSEN AVE 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (MONTEREY) COLUSA AVE 2 683 49 R 28
Page 19 of 26

Page 42 of 49

120



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 20 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

POTTER ST 030 BAY ST I-80 FREEWAY RAMP 2 700 23 A 90

POTTER ST 020 3RD ST (WESTEND) 9TH ST 2 1700 34 R 93

PRINCE ST 070 TELEGRAPH AVE DANA ST 2 406 36 R 40

PRINCE ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2220 36 R 45

PRINCE ST 075 DANA ST BATEMAN ST 2 771 24 R 46

PRINCE ST 045 ACTON ST STANTON ST 2 523 24 R 90

PRINCE ST 080 CLAREMONT AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 1510 36 R 93

PRINCE ST 065 TREMONT ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 601 36 R 95

PRINCE ST 067 SHATTUCK AVE TELEGRAPH AVE 2 1784 36 R 97

PROSPECT ST 056 HILLSIDE AVE DWIGHT WAY 2 530 36 R 92

PROSPECT ST 052 BANCROFT WAY HILLSIDE AVE 2 710 36 R 97

QUAIL AVE 085 CAMPUS DR QUEENS RD 2 325 23 R 54

QUAIL AVE 080 NORTHGATE AVE CAMPUS DR 2 340 21 R 82

QUARRY RD 030 DEAD END (LA LOMA AVE) LA LOMA AVE 2 340 12 R 39

QUEENS RD 030 SHASTA RD QUAIL AVE 2 640 22 R 38

QUEENS RD 031 QUAIL AVE FAIRLAWN DR 2 880 21 R 38

QUEENS RD 033 FAIRLAWN DR AVENIDA DR 2 975 21 R 51

REGAL RD 070 SPRUCE ST MARIN AVE 2 1050 24 R 21

REGAL RD 075 MARIN AVE EUCLID AVE 2 550 24 R 32

REGAL RD 076 EUCLID AVE CRAGMONT AVE 2 1325 22 R 34

REGENT ST 065 WILLARD PARK SCHOOL (WARD 
ST) ASHBY AVE 2 1440 36 R 32

REGENT ST 060 DWIGHT WAY DERBY ST 2 1345 36 R 36

REGENT ST 070 ASHBY AVE DEAD END 2 720 36 R 66

REGENT ST 075 DEAD END CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 370 36 R 69

RIDGE RD 070 SCENIC AVE EUCLID AVE 2 670 36 R 93

RIDGE RD 072 EUCLID AVE LA LOMA AVE 2 975 36 R 93

RIDGE RD 077 LA LOMA AVE HIGHLAND PL 2 340 36 R 93

ROANOKE RD 070 HILLCREST RD & THE UPLANDS SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 300 24 R 41

ROBLE CT 090 DEAD END (ROBLE RD) ROBLE RD 2 430 24 R 8

ROBLE RD 070 TUNNEL RD SOUTH CITY LIMIT (ROBLE CT) 2 920 24 R 95

ROCK LANE 010 POPLAR ST CRAGMONT AVE 2 800 22 R 20

ROOSEVELT AVE 050 ADDISON ST CHANNING WAY 2 1995 42 R 29

ROOSEVELT AVE 058 CHANNING WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 660 42 R 70

ROSE ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2559 36 C 21

ROSE ST 065 SHATTUCK AVE SPRUCE ST 2 945 36 C 87

ROSE ST 040 HOPKINS ST CHESTNUT ST 2 703 36 R 90

ROSE ST 070 SPRUCE ST ARCH ST 2 315 36 R 90

ROSE ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 675 40 C 90

ROSE ST 072 ARCH ST SCENIC AVE 2 455 24 R 91

ROSE ST 044 CHESTNUT ST ORDWAY 2 655 36 R 93

ROSE ST 045 ORDWAY ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1250 36 R 93

ROSE ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 40 C 93

ROSE ST 075 LE ROY AVE EAST END 2 750 18 R 100

ROSEMONT AVE 070 CRESTON RD VISTAMONT AVE 2 540 24 R 38

ROSLYN CT 080 THE SOUTH CROSSWAYS CHABOLYN TERRACE 2 150 20 R 90

RUGBY AVE 010 NORTH CITY LIMIT (VERMONT) VERMONT AVE 2 210 25 R 97
Page 20 of 26

Page 43 of 49

121



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 21 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

RUSSELL ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE PARK ST 2 1230 36 R 29

RUSSELL ST 045 PARK ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 1021 36 R 31

RUSSELL ST 063 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 855 36 R 32

RUSSELL ST 070 FULTON ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 1265 36 R 32

RUSSELL ST 088 CLAREMONT BLVD EAST CITY LIMIT (DOMINGO 
AVE) 2 135 36 R 35

RUSSELL ST 062 ADELINE ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 465 36 R 44

RUSSELL ST 080 COLLEGE AVE PIEDMONT AVE 2 585 36 R 59

RUSSELL ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 715 36 R 71

RUSSELL ST 075 TELEGRAPH AVE HILLEGASS AVE 2 1125 35 R 72

RUSSELL ST 085 PIEDMONT AVE CLAREMONT BLVD 2 1590 36 R 73

RUSSELL ST 076 HILLEGASS AVE BENVENUE AVE 2 360 35 R 76

RUSSELL ST 077 BENVENUE AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 360 35 R 93

RUSSELL ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2375 36 R 93

RUSSELL ST 061 MILVIA ST ADELINE ST 2 115 38 R 98

SACRAMENTO ST 035 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 68 A 50

SACRAMENTO ST 030 HOPKINS ST ROSE ST 2 789 36 A 60

SACRAMENTO ST 034 ROSE ST CEDAR ST 4 845 66 A 69

SACRAMENTO ST 050 UNIVERSITY AVE DWIGHT WAY 4 3001 56 A 76

SACRAMENTO ST 070 ASHBY AVE SOUTH CITY LIMIT (ALCATRAZ) 4 2164 64 A 89

SACRAMENTO ST 064 OREGON ST ASHBY AVE 4 1021 63 A 90

SACRAMENTO ST 040 VIRGINIA ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1587 80 A 93

SACRAMENTO ST (NB) 062 OREGON ST DWIGHT WAY 2 2310 33 A 87

SACRAMENTO ST (SB) 060 DWIGHT WAY OREGON ST 2 2310 32 A 78

SAN ANTONIO AVE 062 ARLINGTON AVE 300 FT +/- EAST OF AVIS RD 2 525 17 R 34

SAN ANTONIO AVE 060 SAN RAMON AVE & THE 
ALAMEDA ARLINGTON AVE 2 865 24 R 70

SAN BENITO RD 020 MARIN AVE SPRUCE ST 2 810 24 R 61

SAN DIEGO RD 010 SOUTHAMPTON AVE INDIAN ROCK AVE 2 1850 19 R 56

SAN FERNANDO AVE 010 ARLINGTON AVE YOSEMITE RD 2 1055 24 R 87

SAN JUAN AVE 060 SANTA CLARA AVE SAN FERNANDO AVE 2 900 24 R 91

SAN LORENZO AVE 052 PERALTA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 2145 26 R 56

SAN LORENZO AVE 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (NEILSON) PERALTA AVE 2 370 26 R 70

SAN LUIS RD 010 ARLINGTON AVE INDIAN ROCK AVE 2 3430 22 R 64

SAN MATEO RD 010 DEAD END (CUL-DE-SAC) INDIAN ROCK AVE 2 780 24 R 18

SAN MIGUEL AVE 010 THOUSAND OAKS BLVD SANTA ROSA AVE 2 470 22 R 88

SAN PEDRO AVE 050 COLUSA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 1050 26 R 81

SAN RAMON AVE 060 SAN ANTONIO AVE & THE 
ALAMEDA SAN FERNANDO AVE 2 1060 24 R 34

SANTA BARBARA RD 025 SPRUCE ST CRAGMONT AVE 2 605 24 R 20

SANTA BARBARA RD 010 ARLINGTON AVE FLORIDA AVE 2 1040 26 R 40

SANTA BARBARA RD 020 MARIN AVE SPRUCE ST 2 510 24 R 61

SANTA BARBARA RD 012 FLORIDA AVE MARIN AVE 2 3250 26 R 62

SANTA CLARA AVE 010 SAN RAMON AVE THOUSAND OAKS BLVD 2 870 24 R 91

SANTA FE AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 587 30 R 97

SANTA FE AVE 035 GILMAN ST CORNELL AVE & PAGE ST 2 1450 31 R 100

SANTA ROSA AVE 020 THOUSAND OAKS BLVD SAN LORENZO AVE 2 1280 24 R 86

SANTA ROSA AVE 015 MENLO PLACE THOUSAND OAKS BLVD 2 455 22 R 87

SCENIC AVE 040 CEDAR ST HEARST AVE 2 1600 36 R 16
Page 21 of 26

Page 44 of 49

122



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 22 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

SCENIC AVE 030 BAYVIEW PL/ ROSE ST VINE ST 2 1030 24 R 66

SCENIC AVE 035 VINE ST CEDAR ST 2 645 36 R 82

SEAWALL DR 010 NORTH END UNIVERSITY AVE 2 1350 28 R 22

SEAWALL DR 020 UNIVERSITY AVE SOUTH END 2 1100 31 R 23

SENIOR AVE 080 FAIRLAWN DR GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 700 24 R 31

SHASTA RD 072 TAMALPAIS RD KEITH AVE 2 565 20 R 51

SHASTA RD 070 TAMALPAIS RD AND ROSE ST TAMALPAIS RD 2 1540 22 R 51

SHASTA RD 073 KEITH AVE CRAGMONT AVE 2 1000 24 C 56

SHASTA RD 076 QUEENS RD GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 1130 25 C 75

SHASTA RD 074 CRAGMONT AVE KEELER AVE 2 680 25 C 87

SHASTA RD 075 KEELER AVE QUEENS RD 2 1315 24 C 90

SHASTA RD 077 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD PARK GATE 2 250 29 C 100

SHASTA RD 079 PARK GATE EAST CITY LIMIT (GOLF 
COURSE) 2 565 20 C 100

SHATTUCK AVE 038 VINE ST CEDAR ST 4 660 60 A 23

SHATTUCK AVE 040 CEDAR ST HEARST AVE 4 1670 60 A 23

SHATTUCK AVE 036 ROSE ST VINE ST 4 660 60 A 33

SHATTUCK AVE 010 INDIAN ROCK AVE MARIN AVE 2 615 24 R 35

SHATTUCK AVE 048 HEARST AVE UNIVERSITY AVE 4 620 60 A 35

SHATTUCK AVE 030 EUNICE ST ROSE ST 2 1335 40 R 48

SHATTUCK AVE 050 ALLSTON WAY DWIGHT WAY 4 1980 48 A 49

SHATTUCK AVE 070 ASHBY AVE CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 1210 46 C 54

SHATTUCK AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY WARD ST 4 1340 48 A 57

SHATTUCK AVE 066 WARD ST ASHBY AVE 2 1510 46 C 64

SHATTUCK AVE 025 LOS ANGELES AVE EUNICE ST 2 1590 30 R 77

SHATTUCK AVE 020 MARIN AVE LOS ANGELES AVE 2 950 24 R 80

SHATTUCK AVE 055 CENTER ST ALLSTON WAY 4 340 69 A 100

SHATTUCK AVE (SB) 057 UNIVERSITY AVE CENTER ST 3 660 52 A 100

SHATTUCK PL 030 HENRY ST & ROSE ST SHATTUCK AVE 4 525 61 A 24

SHORT ST 045 DELAWARE ST HEARST ST 2 345 36 R 23

SHORT ST 040 LINCOLN AVE VIRGINIA ST 2 360 30 R 87

SIERRA ST 020 MADERA ST SONOMA AVE 2 940 30 R 58
SOJOURNER TRUTH 
CT 065 WARD ST CUL DE SAC 2 440 30 R 67

SOLANO AVE 060 THE ALAMEDA CONTRA COSTA AVE 2 510 43 C 71

SOLANO AVE 055 COLUSA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 756 60 C 82

SOLANO AVE 050 TULARE AVE COLUSA AVE 2 762 57 C 83

SOMERSET PL 060 SOUTHAMPTON AVE DEAD END (JOHN HINKEL 
PARK) 2 425 22 R 84

SONOMA AVE 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (TULARE AVE) JOSEPHINE ST 2 1975 36 R 80
SOUTH HOSPITAL 
DRIV 075 COLBY ST REGENT ST 2 300 30 R 66

SOUTHAMPTON AVE 068 SAN LUIS RD SANTA BARBARA RD 2 400 24 R 76

SOUTHAMPTON AVE 060 ARLINGTON AVE SAN LUIS RD 2 2050 24 R 84

SPAULDING AVE 050 ADDISON ST DWIGHT WAY 2 2675 48 R 36

SPINNAKER WAY 010 BREAKWATER DR MARINA BLVD 2 1500 40 R 18

SPRING WAY 030 DEAD END SCENIC AVE 2 220 18 R 85

SPRUCE ST 025 ARCH ST EUNICE ST 2 980 37 C 37

SPRUCE ST 030 EUNICE ST ROSE ST 2 1365 36 C 66

SPRUCE ST 045 VIRGINIA ST HEARST AVE 2 1040 36 R 69
Page 22 of 26

Page 45 of 49

123



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 23 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

SPRUCE ST 036 VINE ST CEDAR ST 2 660 36 R 69

SPRUCE ST 033 ROSE ST VINE ST 2 665 36 R 71

SPRUCE ST 010 GRIZZLY PEAK AVE ALTA RD 2 800 36 C 75

SPRUCE ST 015 ALTA RD MARIN AVE 2 4375 36 C 79

SPRUCE ST 020 MARIN AVE ARCH ST 2 1738 36 C 85

SPRUCE ST 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 670 36 R 93

STANNAGE AVE 038 HOPKINS ST CEDAR ST 2 210 30 R 63

STANNAGE AVE 034 GILMAN ST HOPKINS ST 2 1685 30 R 82

STANNAGE AVE 040 CEDAR ST VIRGINIA ST 2 660 30 R 83

STANNAGE AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT GILMAN ST 2 700 30 R 85

STANTON ST 067 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 560 26 R 71

STANTON ST 070 ASHBY AVE PRINCE ST 2 706 26 R 73

STANTON ST 065 OREGON ST RUSSELL ST 2 428 30 R 74

STATION PL 010 CATALINA AVE SOUTH DEAD END (CATALINA 
AV 2 210 36 R 97

STERLING AVE 020 KEELER AVE SHASTA RD 2 2310 20 R 35

STEVENSON AVE 020 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD MILLER AVE 2 520 24 R 49

STODDARD WAY 020 DEAD END GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 260 20 R 24

STUART ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2405 36 R 20

STUART ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 660 42 R 28

STUART ST 078 HILLEGASS AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 715 36 R 30

STUART ST 070 FULTON ST HILLEGASS AVE 2 2450 36 R 37

STUART ST 065 ADELINE ST FULTON ST 2 995 36 R 43

STUART ST 080 COLLEGE AVE KELSEY ST & PALM CT 2 900 36 R 56

STUART ST 063 MILVIA ST ADELINE ST 2 385 42 R 56

SUMMER ST 070 SPRUCE ST GLEN AVE 2 660 25 R 18

SUMMIT LANE 030 SUMMIT RD NR GRIZZLY PEAK DEAD END 2 180 6 R 21

SUMMIT RD 038 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD END SOUTH OF GRIZZLY PEAK 
BL 2 740 26 R 13

SUMMIT RD 032 ATLAS PL GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD 2 2530 23 R 18

SUMMIT RD 030 AJAX LANE ATLAS PL 2 240 20 R 20

SUNSET LANE 075 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD WOODMONT RD 2 344 22 R 20

SUNSET LANE 070 WOODMONT RD WILDCAT CANYON RD 2 370 17 R 27

SUTTER ST 020 DEL NORTE ST EUNICE ST 4 1340 50 A 28

TACOMA AVE 055 COLUSA AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 1010 26 R 42

TACOMA AVE 050 SOLANO AVE COLUSA AVE 2 1360 26 R 73

TALBOT AVE 030 NORTH CITY LIMIT SANTA FE AVE 2 1350 30 R 85

TAMALPAIS RD 030 SHASTA RD ROSE ST 2 2075 22 R 43

TANGLEWOOD RD 060 BELROSE AVE EAST CITY LIMIT (CLAREMONT) 2 900 26 R 39

TELEGRAPH AVE 065 WARD ST ASHBY AVE 4 1580 74 A 25

TELEGRAPH AVE 060 DWIGHT WAY WARD ST 4 1725 68 A 26

TELEGRAPH AVE 050 DWIGHT WAY BANCROFT WAY 2 1320 31 C 38

TELEGRAPH AVE 070 ASHBY AVE CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 4 1255 68 A 39

TEVLIN ST 035 WATKINS ST END SOUTH OF GILMAN ST 2 425 25 R 3

TEVLIN ST 030 NORTH END WATKINS ST 2 300 21 R 6

THE ALAMEDA 028 HOPKINS ST YOLO AVE 2 210 66 A 71

THE ALAMEDA 015 CAPISTRANO AVE TACOMA AVE 2 245 36 R 75

THE ALAMEDA 012 THOUSAND OAKS BLVD CAPISTRANO AVE 2 1510 28 R 76
Page 23 of 26

Page 46 of 49

124



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 24 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

THE ALAMEDA 010 SAN ANTONIO AVE THOUSAND OAKS BLVD 2 1385 24 R 78

THE ALAMEDA 016 TACOMA AVE SOLANO AVE 2 1250 36 R 95

THE ALAMEDA 018 SOLANO AVE MARIN AVE 2 935 60 A 95

THE ALAMEDA 020 MARIN AVE HOPKINS ST 4 1370 61 A 95

THE CIRCLE 060 INTERSECTION MARIN AVE, ETC. INTERSECTION ARLINGTON 
AVE 2 246 50 A 75

THE CRESCENT 020 PARK HILLS RD (NORTH) PARK HILLS RD (SOUTH) 2 1020 23 R 88

THE CROSSWAYS 080 OVERLOOK RD MIDDLEFIELD RD 2 230 21 R 58

THE PLAZA DR 080 ENCINA PL PARKSIDE DR 2 1380 40 R 85

THE SHORT CUT 080 MIDDLEFIELD RD PARK HILLS RD 2 200 22 R 85

THE SPIRAL 080 DEAD END WILDCAT CANYON RD 2 305 25 R 93

THE UPLANDS 099 TUNNEL RD DEAD END 2 340 14 R 20

THE UPLANDS 090 CLAREMONT AVE ENCINA PL 2 320 56 R 39

THE UPLANDS 093 HILLCREST RD EL CAMINO REAL 2 495 28 R 39

THE UPLANDS 097 EL CAMINO REAL TUNNEL RD 2 1048 25 R 40

THE UPLANDS 091 ENCINA PL HILLCREST RD 2 1685 28 R 61
THOUSAND OAKS 
BLVD 050 WEST CITY LIMIT (NEILSON) COLUSA AVE 2 450 36 R 48
THOUSAND OAKS 
BLVD 055 VINCENTE AVE THE ALAMEDA 2 850 24 C 73
THOUSAND OAKS 
BLVD 053 COLUSA AVE VINCENTE AVE 2 380 24 C 76
THOUSAND OAKS 
BLVD 060 THE ALAMEDA ARLINGTON AVE 2 1605 26 C 79

TOMLEE DR 045 JUANITA WAY ACTON ST 2 330 25 R 19

TREMONT ST 070 EMERSON ST CITY LIMIT (WOOLSEY ST) 2 925 34 R 29

TULARE AVE 020 SOLANO AVE SONOMA AVE 2 1715 36 R 95

TWAIN AVE 070 KEELER AVE STERLING AVE 2 740 20 R 26

TYLER ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST KING ST 2 1333 36 R 29

UNIVERSITY AVE 015 MARINA BLVD WEST FRONTAGE RD 2 1600 66 C 8

UNIVERSITY AVE 010 SEAWALL DR MARINA BLVD 2 1950 40 C 31

UNIVERSITY AVE 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 4 715 63 A 36

UNIVERSITY AVE 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 4 630 63 A 37

UNIVERSITY AVE 025 3RD ST 5TH ST 4 400 115 A 52

UNIVERSITY AVE 028 5TH ST 6TH ST 4 185 84 A 52

UNIVERSITY AVE 040 SAN PABLO AVE SACRAMENTO ST 4 2940 69 A 54

UNIVERSITY AVE 064 SHATTUCK AVE SHATTUCK AVE 4 260 70 A 55

UNIVERSITY AVE 065 SHATTUCK AVE OXFORD ST 4 450 65 A 59

UNIVERSITY AVE 030 6TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 4 1638 72 A 66

UNIVERSITY AVE 052 SACRAMENTO ST MCGEE AVE 4 1325 73 A 72

UNIVERSITY AVE 055 MCGEE AVE MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 4 1329 63 A 72
UNIVERSITY AVE 
OVER 018 I-80 ON/OFF RAMPS 6TH ST 4 2100 52 A 46

VALLEJO ST 060 THE ALAMEDA SAN RAMON AVE 2 460 24 R 30

VALLEY ST 055 NORTH DEAD END (BANCROFT) DWIGHT WAY 2 1245 36 R 45

VASSAR AVE (NB) 010 NORTH CITY LIMIT (KENTUCKY) KENTUCKY AVE 2 375 19 R 78

VASSAR AVE (NB) 012 KENTUCKY AVE SPRUCE ST 2 1160 16 R 79

VASSAR AVE (SB) 011 KENTUCKY AVE NORTH CITY LIMIT (KENTUCKY) 2 375 17 R 78

VASSAR AVE (SB) 013 SPRUCE ST KENTUCKY AVE 2 1160 14 R 79

VERMONT AVE 015 MARYLAND AVE COLORADO AVE 2 750 25 R 27

VERMONT AVE 010 NORTH WEST DEAD END 
(RUGBY) MARYLAND AVE 2 770 23 R 97

VICENTE RD 075 EAST CITY LIMIT NR GRAND 
VIEW TUNNEL RD 2 1310 24 R 30

Page 24 of 26

Page 47 of 49

125



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 25 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

VICENTE RD 070 ALVARADO RD EAST CITY LIMIT NR GRAND 
VIEW 2 550 24 R 45

VINCENTE AVE 013 THOUSAND OAKS BLVD COLUSA AVE 2 1165 24 R 70

VINCENTE AVE 010 NORTH END (VINCENTE WALK) THOUSAND OAKS BLVD 2 1400 24 R 75

VINCENTE AVE 016 COLUSA AVE PERALTA AVE 2 1000 24 R 77

VINE ST 063 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 670 36 R 25

VINE ST 055 GRANT ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 665 36 R 29

VINE ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 665 36 R 32

VINE ST 052 EDITH ST GRANT ST 2 335 36 R 33

VINE ST 065 SHATTUCK AVE WALNUT ST 2 335 36 R 49

VINE ST 067 WALNUT ST SPRUCE ST 2 665 36 R 63

VINE ST 070 SPRUCE ST SCENIC AVE 2 635 36 R 68

VINE ST 050 MC GEE AVE EDITH ST 2 575 26 R 91

VINE ST 080 SCENIC AVE HAWTHORNE TERRACE 2 315 30 R 95

VIRGINIA GARDENS 040 NORTH DEAD END (CEDAR) VIRGINIA ST 2 470 20 R 90

VIRGINIA ST 030 6TH ST SAN PABLO AVE 2 1650 36 R 36

VIRGINIA ST 030 2ND ST 6TH ST 2 1325 36 R 39

VIRGINIA ST 076 EUCLID AVE LA LOMA AVE 2 1000 34 R 47

VIRGINIA ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MC GEE AVE 2 1270 36 C 54

VIRGINIA ST 055 MC GEE AVE GRANT ST 2 665 36 C 66

VIRGINIA ST 064 SHATTUCK AVE SPRUCE ST 2 1000 36 R 67

VIRGINIA ST 070 SPRUCE ST ARCH ST 2 450 36 R 68

VIRGINIA ST 072 ARCH ST EUCLID AVE 2 1060 36 R 68

VIRGINIA ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 680 36 R 71

VIRGINIA ST 047 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 710 51 R 76

VIRGINIA ST 057 GRANT ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 670 36 C 83

VIRGINIA ST 062 MILVIA ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 615 36 R 83

VIRGINIA ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE ACTON ST 2 2500 36 R 85

VIRGINIA ST 078 LA LOMA AVE DEAD END (AT LA VEREDA) 2 220 17 R 95

VIRGINIA ST 020 EAST FRONTAGE RD (STATE P/L) 2ND ST 2 350 37 R 98

VISALIA AVE 053 WEST CITY LIMIT COP W/O 
NEILSON COLUSA AVE 2 325 24 R 27

VISALIA AVE 055 COLUSA AVE VINCENTE AVE 2 890 24 R 48

VISTAMONT AVE 110 NORTH END WOODMONT AVE 2 415 22 R 14

VISTAMONT AVE 010 WOODMONT AVE WOODMONT AVE NR SUNSET 
LA 2 1340 22 R 42

WALKER ST 060 DERBY ST WARD ST 2 330 18 R 40

WALLACE ST 065 WARD ST RUSSELL ST 2 1220 35 R 18

WALNUT ST 049 BERKELEY WAY UNIVERSITY AVE 2 315 36 R 20

WALNUT ST 020 SHATTUCK AVE EUNICE ST 2 900 33 R 27

WALNUT ST 030 EUNICE ST CEDAR ST 2 2645 36 R 44

WALNUT ST 040 CEDAR ST HEARST AVE 2 1680 36 R 54

WARD ST 075 ELLSWORTH ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 880 36 R 14

WARD ST 046 ACTON ST SACRAMENTO ST 2 727 36 R 18

WARD ST 070 FULTON ST ELLSWORTH ST 2 660 36 R 21

WARD ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 2437 36 R 25

WARD ST 060 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY MILVIA ST 2 660 42 R 27

WARD ST 066 SHATTUCK AVE FULTON ST 2 780 36 R 30

WARD ST 063 MILVIA ST ADELINE ST 2 500 45 R 62
Page 25 of 26

Page 48 of 49

126



1/31/2022 City of Berkeley Roads page 26 of 26

Road Name Section
ID Beg Location End Location Lanes Length Width Funct.

Class PCI

WARD ST 040 SAN PABLO AVE ACTON ST 2 1658 36 R 100

WARRING ST 050 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1270 36 R 27

WARRING ST 060 DWIGHT WAY DERBY ST 2 1545 43 C 95

WATKINS ST 040 NEILSON ST TEVLIN ST 2 250 26 R 21

WEBSTER ST 078 HILLEGASS AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 600 36 R 59

WEBSTER ST 074 TELEGRAPH AVE COLBY ST 2 645 36 R 63

WEBSTER ST 076 REGENT ST DEAD END 2 202 20 R 85

WEBSTER ST 077 DEAD END HILLEGASS AVE 2 268 36 R 85

WEBSTER ST 080 COLLEGE AVE CLAREMONT AVE 2 1760 36 R 92

WEBSTER ST 072 DEAKIN ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 670 36 R 93

WEST BOLIVAR DR 050 GATE END NR ANTHONY ST 2 6515 22 R 83

WEST BOLIVAR DR 040 PARKER ST GATE 2 50 22 R 89

WEST FRONTAGE RD 040 GILMAN ST UNIVERSITY AVE 2 4400 30 C 55

WEST FRONTAGE RD 050 UNIVERSITY AVE OPP DWIGHT WAY 2 3170 26 C 59

WEST FRONTAGE RD 060 OPP DWIGHT WAY SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 4250 26 C 59

WEST PARNASSUS CT 080 PARNASSUS PATH PARNASSUS RD 2 230 22 R 93

WEST ST 053 ADDISON ST DEAD END 2 265 21 R 93

WEST ST 055 BANCROFT WAY DWIGHT WAY 2 1325 32 R 100

WHEELER ST 068 RUSSELL ST ASHBY AVE 2 530 36 R 30

WHEELER ST 070 ASHBY AVE WOOLSEY ST 2 1105 36 R 72

WHITAKER AVE 020 MILLER AVE STERLING AVE 2 550 18 R 35

WHITNEY ST 070 WOOLSEY ST SOUTH CITY LIMIT 2 130 36 R 75

WILDCAT CANYON RD 025 THE SPIRAL EAST CITY LIMIT(NR SHASTA 
RD) 2 3590 28 C 77

WILDCAT CANYON RD 020 SUNSET LN THE SPIRAL 2 2400 27 C 79

WILDCAT CANYON RD 010 GRIZZLY PEAK BLVD SUNSET LANE 2 3730 29 C 81

WILSON CIRCLE 080 OLYMPUS DR CUL-DE-SAC 2 180 23 R 40

WOODMONT AVE 012 WILDCAT CANYON & GRIZZLY 
PEAK ROSEMONT AVE 2 1175 20 R 24

WOODMONT AVE 020 SUNSET LANE DEAD END 2 175 12 R 43

WOODMONT AVE 014 ROSEMONT AVE SUNSET LANE 2 1700 20 R 55

WOODMONT CT 070 WOODMONT AVE (NORTH) WOODMONT AVE (SOUTH) 2 285 23 R 42

WOODSIDE RD 020 THE CRESCENT PARK HILLS RD 2 1450 24 R 41

WOOLSEY ST 078 HILLEGASS AVE COLLEGE AVE 2 600 37 R 18

WOOLSEY ST 080 COLLEGE ST CLAREMONT AVE 2 1250 36 R 20

WOOLSEY ST 050 SACRAMENTO ST KING ST 2 1275 36 R 50

WOOLSEY ST 065 TREMONT ST SHATTUCK AVE 2 579 42 R 59

WOOLSEY ST 066 SHATTUCK AVE WHEELER ST 2 680 42 R 63

WOOLSEY ST 067 WHEELER ST TELEGRAPH AVE 2 1036 36 R 63

WOOLSEY ST 055 KING ST MARTIN LUTHER KING JR WAY 2 905 36 R 79

WOOLSEY ST 072 TELEGRAPH AVE HILLEGASS AVE 2 1555 36 R 90

WOOLSEY ST 060 ADELINE ST TREMONT ST 2 600 42 R 90

YOLO AVE 060 THE ALAMEDA MILVIA ST 2 570 36 R 93

YOLO AVE 065 MILVIA AVE SUTTER ST 2 375 36 R 93

YOSEMITE RD 064 SAN FERNANDO AVE CONTRA COSTA AVE 2 400 26 R 37

YOSEMITE RD 066 CONTRA COSTA AVE ARLINGTON AVE 2 1090 24 R 48

YOSEMITE RD 062 THE ALAMEDA SAN FERNANDO AVE 2 870 26 R 91

Page 26 of 26

Page 49 of 49

127



128



No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx

Page 1 of 1

129

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx
arichardson
Typewritten Text
08



130



No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx

Page 1 of 1

131

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Budget___Finance.aspx
arichardson
Typewritten Text
09



132


	2022-03-10 Agenda - Budget
	2022-03-10 Item 01 Minutes
	2022-03-10 Item 02 Legislative Update
	2022-03-10 Item 03 Berkeley Police  Improvements
	2022-03-10 Item 04 Measure P
	2022-03-10 Item 05 Five Year CIP
	2022-03-10 Item 06 Marina Fund
	2022-03-10 Item 07 Street Maintenance
	2022-03-10 Item 08 Timing for AAO Process
	2022-03-10 Item 09 Council Fiscal Policies



